

Wetland Mitigation Options for Project Developments in Far Northern Ontario: An Annotated Bibliography

Daniel Campbell Birchbark Environmental Research

**Line Rochefort** Peatland Ecology Research Group Université Laval

March 26, 2025





This report is prepared for the Priority Species Unit of the Canadian Wildlife Service – Ontario Region, Environment and Climate Change Canada.

© 2025, Birchbark Environmental Research, Sudbury (ON) and the Peatland Ecology Research Group, Université Laval, Québec (QC).

Cover image photo credit: Nicole Ferguson.

For information on this report or the annotated bibliography, please contact: boreal.daniel.campbell@mail.com

# Table of Contents

1.	Intro	duction	1
2.	Арр	roach and Structure of the Annotated Bibliography	2
	2.1	Methodology for document inclusion	2
	2.2	Structure of the bibliography	5
	2.3	Searching the bibliography	5
3.	Rev	ew of Ecological Stressors	6
	3.1	Hydrological alteration	7
	3.2	Fertility change and contamination	8
	3.3	Vegetation or substrate disturbance	.10
	3.4	Landscape conversion and fragmentation	.10
	3.5	Mercury and methylmercury	.11
	3.6	Overgrazing	.11
	3.7	Invasive species	.12
	3.8	Other stressors	.12
4.	Miti	gation of Ecological Stressors	.13
	4.1	Impact avoidance	.13
	4.1.	1 Hydrological alteration	.13
	4.1.	2 Fertility change and contamination	.14
	4.1.	3 Vegetation or substrate disturbance	.14
	4.1.	Landscape conversion and fragmentation	.14
	4.1.	5 Mercury and methylmercury	.15
	4.1.	6 Overgrazing	.15
	4.1.	7 Invasive species	.15
	4.1.	3 Other stressors	.15
	4.2	Impact minimization	.16
	4.2.	1 Hydrological alteration	.16
	4.2.	2 Fertility change and contamination	.17
	4.2.	3 Vegetation or substrate disturbance	. 18
	4.2.	4 Landscape conversion and fragmentation	.18

### Annotated Bibliography of Wetland Mitigation Options in Far Northern Ontario

	4.2.	5 Methylmercury	19
	4.2.	6 Overgrazing	19
	4.2.	7 Other stressors	19
4	.3	On-site Restoration	19
	4.3.	1 Hydrological alteration	20
	4.3.	2 Fertility change and contamination	20
	4.3.	3 Vegetation or substrate disturbance	21
	4.3.	4 Landscape conversion and fragmentation	22
	4.3.	5 Methylmercury	22
	4.3.	6 Overgrazing	22
	4.3.	7 Invasive species	22
	4.3.	8 Other stressors	23
4	.4	Offsetting	23
4	.5	Compensation	24
5.	Mor	nitoring	25
5	.1	Hydrological alteration	25
5	.2	Fertility change and contamination	26
5	.3	Vegetation or substrate disturbance	27
5	.4	Landscape conversion and fragmentation	27
5	.5	Methylmercury	27
5	.6	Overgrazing	28
5	.7	Invasive species	28
5	.8	Other stressors	28
6.	Gap	es in Mitigation and Monitoring Knowledge	28
6	.1	Wetlands, migratory birds and species-at-risk	28
6	.2	Mitigation options for the Hudson Bay Lowland and Boreal Shield	28
6	.3	Mining innovations and wetland mitigation	29
7.	Inte	rim Best Mitigation Guidelines	30
7	.1	General	30
7	.2	Hydrological alteration	31
7	.3	Fertility change and contamination	32

### Annotated Bibliography of Wetland Mitigation Options in Far Northern Ontario

7.4	Vegetation or substrate disturbance	32
7.5	Landscape conversion and fragmentation	32
7.6	Melthylmercury	33
7.7	Invasive species	33
8. Lite	erature Cited	34
APPEND	DIX A: Subject Categories in the Annotated Bibliography	57
APPEND	DIX B: Breakdown of Mitigation Options by Ecosystem Stressor	64
APPEND	DIX C: Best Monitoring Approaches by Ecosystem Stressor	76

## 1. Introduction

This report presents and summarizes an annotated bibliography on the options to mitigate impacts on wetlands for proposed mining project developments in the Ring-of-Fire region in the far north of Ontario. The report and the bibliography were developed for the Priority Species Unit of the Ontario Region of the Canadian Wildlife Service (CWS-ON).

The Ring-of-Fire mineral exploration region is centered around McFaulds Lake (52.8° N, 86.1° W) and covers approximately 3,000 km<sup>2</sup> in the transition zone between the Boreal Shield and Hudson Bay Lowland. Rich mineral deposits have been discovered there of chromite, nickel, copper, platinum group elements, gold and zinc. The region is only connected via winter roads, so any proposed mining development would also include the construction of at least 300 km of all-season roads.

The Hudson Bay Lowland or Hudson Plains is a vast peatland expanse of bog and fen with areas of conifer swamp, as well as coastal marsh along the shores of Hudson Bay and James Bay (OMNRF, 2019; Tarnocai et al., 2011). Wetlands, most of them peatlands, cover almost 100% of the landscape. Uplands are scarce. The adjacent Boreal Shield or Ontario Shield has more upland and less wetland cover, but wetlands, again mostly peatlands, remain extensive and cover at least 50% of the landscape (OMNRF, 2019; Tarnocai et al., 2011).

The objectives of this report are to:

- provide the methods used to assemble the annotated bibliography and present its structure and best strategies for searching it;
- review the probable stressors that will impact wetlands in the Hudson Bay Lowland and the adjacent Boreal Shield and the probable origins of these stressors;
- present mitigation options for these principal stressors, following the mitigation hierarchy;
- review best monitoring methods to evaluate the success of mitigation measures; and
- point out major gaps in our knowledge on how to mitigate or monitor these stressors.

The explicit scope of the report and the annotated bibliography is focused on mitigation options for migratory birds and species-at-risk in wetlands in the Ring-of-Fire region. However, given that few documents cover migratory birds or species at risk in this region, this scope is widened to include mitigation options for wetlands, especially peatlands, without direct consideration of migratory birds or species-at-risk in Hudson Bay Lowland and the adjacent Boreal Shield. Any impacts to wetlands and peatlands will also affect the habitats for migratory birds and faunal and vegetation species-at-risk. The Cree word for this landscape of peatlands in the Hudson Bay Lowland and adjacent Boreal Shield is 'muskeg'. It is one of the few Cree words adopted in English. The Cree communities in the Hudson Bay Lowland refer to themselves as the Omushkego Cree, and they form the Mushkegowuk Council. The 'muskeg' root in their communities' and council's names reflects their ancient closeness to this landscape. We must acknowledge from the start that our effort to compile knowledge on mitigation options for wetlands in this region potentially impacted by resource developments lacks the input from the Omushkego Cree as well from the Cree and Ojibway communities of the Matawa First Nations, the Shibogama First Nations, the Windigo First Nations, Keewaytinook Okimakanak, Fort Severn, Peawanuck, and independent bands in the Far North of Ontario. Our intention is to start this bibliography as a living resource. We hope that we can eventually include the knowledge of First Nations.

# 2. Approach and Structure of the Annotated Bibliography

#### The annotated bibliography is found at:

#### https://www.zotero.org/groups/5814951/peatland\_mitigation\_bibliography.

The bibliography is large with roughly 1,200 documents to date. The bibliography is currently public, but with restricted access. Access can now be requested from the first author. Full access will open once the bibliography is fully vetted.

In this section, we document (i) the methods used to include documents in the bibliography, (ii) how we structured the bibliography and (iii) how to conduct efficient searches in the bibliography.

### 2.1 Methodology for document inclusion

We completed the majority of the bibliographic search using the internet and the Web of Science<sup>®</sup> bibliographic database. Table 1 shows the main search terms.

Since this annotated bibliography was prepared for the Ontario office of the Canadian Wildlife Service, we prioritized any documents on migratory birds and species-at-risk. For species-at-risk, we first identified all federal and provincial species-at-risk in Ontario (COSSARO, 2023; ECCC, 2022), and then, using the species range maps in the federal and provincial status reports, we determined those that have distributions overlapping the Hudson Bay Lowland or the adjacent Boreal Shield (Table 2). We then completed web searches for all COSEWIC (federal) and COSSARO (Ontario) documents and any other documents for these species.

Table 2. Principal search terms used to compile the bibliographic database.

Level	Search Terms
primary	('migratory birds' OR 'species-at-risk' OR individual species-at-risk)
primary	('peatland' OR 'bog' OR 'fen' OR 'string fen' OR 'mire' OR 'aapamire' OR 'sphagnum' OR 'pool'
primary	('wetland' OR 'marsh' OR 'saltmarsh' OR 'swamp') AND ('boreal' OR 'subarctic' OR 'arctic')
secondary	('mitigation' OR 'avoidance' OR 'minimization' OR 'restoration' OR 'rehabilitation' OR 'offsetting' OR 'compensation' OR 'treatment wetland' OR 'bioremediation' OR 'phytoremediation')
secondary	('mining' OR 'mineral processing' OR 'mineral exploration' OR 'tailings' OR 'mine wastes' OR 'road construction') AND 'environment'
secondary	(hydrological alteration OR drainage OR flooding OR drought)
secondary	('nutrient enrichment' OR 'contaminant' OR 'pollution' OR 'spill' OR 'fugitive dust' OR 'hydrocarbon' OR 'heavy metal' OR 'metalloid' OR 'antimony' OR 'arsenic' OR 'cadmium' OR 'chromium' OR 'cobalt' OR 'copper' OR 'lead' OR 'nickel' OR 'selenium' OR 'thallium' OR 'zinc')
secondary	('disturbance' OR 'substrate disturbance' OR 'vegetation disturbance' OR 'peat extraction' OR 'compaction' OR 'subsidence' OR 'rutting' OR 'trampling' OR 'erosion' OR 'deposition')
secondary	('ecosystem conversion' OR 'mine footprint' OR 'linear disturbance' OR 'linear feature' OR 'seismic line' OR 'road' OR 'transmission line' OR 'power line' OR 'pipeline')
secondary	('mercury' OR 'methylmercury')
secondary	('herbivory' OR 'overgrazing')
secondary	('invasive species' OR 'individual invasive species')
secondary	'noise pollution'
secondary	'bird collisions'
secondary	('Hudson Bay Lowland' OR 'Boreal Shield' OR 'Ring-of-Fire')
secondary	('federal policy' OR 'provincial policy')
secondary	('climate change OR 'soil warming' OR 'permafrost thaw')
secondary	('remote sensing' OR 'monitoring')

Table 2. Federal or provincial species-at-risk reported from the Hudson Bay Lowland or adjacent Boreal Shield in the Far North of Ontario.

Taxonomic group	Species-at-risk
vascular plants	black ash
arthropods	gypsy cuckoo bumble bee
	yellow-banded bumble bee
	Suckley's cuckoo bumble bee
ïsh	lake sturgeon
nammals	eastern red bat
	hoary bat
	silver-haired bat
	little brown myotis
	northern myotis
	tri-colored bat
	caribou boreal population
	caribou, eastern migratory
	population
	wolverine
	polar bear
pirds	Hudsonian godwit
	lesser yellowlegs
	red knot
	red-necked phalarope
	short-eared owl
	common nighthawk
	olive-sided flycatcher
	bank swallow
	barn swallow
	Canada warbler
	evening grosbeak
	rusty blackbird

We included most documents from a draft CWS-ON document on pathways of effects that evaluated ecological stressors on peatlands, monitoring approaches and mitigation measures. Ecological stressors in that document included peatland drainage, flooding, vegetation and peat disturbance, use of industrial equipment, and road or infrastructure placement. However, this list of stressors to the wetlands of the Hudson Bay Lowland and the adjacent Boreal Shield was incomplete (see section 3). We searched for other stressors, including fertility change and contamination, landscape conversion and fragmentation, overgrazing, invasive species and other stressors. Once we established a strong baseline of documents on key stressors, we searched for them again in combination for each level of the mitigation hierarchy, 'avoidance', 'minimization', 'restoration' or 'rehabilitation', 'offsetting' and 'compensation' as well as 'monitoring'.

We reviewed all articles listed by the Peatland Ecology Research Group (PERG), which has published extensively on mitigation to disturbance impacts to peatlands, especially those related to the peat industry in Canada. Students and members of the PERG were also asked to review the bibliography and submit relevant documents from the broader scientific literature.

We were obviously missing documents on the best environmental practices for mining, so we searched for 'mining' or 'mineral exploration' or 'mineral processing' without peatland or wetland search terms. This brought in a large body of literature on environmental mitigation of mining effects, including many mine process or tailings management documents. (Note that we consider open pit or in-situ oil sands extraction as mining in this bibliography.) We only chose a few well-cited review articles or best management practice guides to illustrate them. These will be important to suggest mining practices that avoid impacts to peatlands and other wetlands in the Hudson Bay Lowland.

Finally, because there are relatively few documents on the Hudson Bay Lowland and adjacent Boreal Shield of the Far North of Ontario, we searched for these terms along with 'peatland' or 'other wetland', without considering stressors or mitigation measures or monitoring. This brought in a series of documents that will be important for establishing baseline conditions to monitor impacts to peatlands in the Hudson Bay Lowland and the adjacent Boreal Shield.

When promising articles were found, we reviewed the list of papers citing them to find other relevant documents. Overall, we followed an inclusive strategy. If documents were deemed to touch the subject of impacts or mitigation measures or monitoring for peatlands or other northern wetlands, they were included in the bibliography. The resultant bibliography is large, but the mechanics of the bibliography should allow to find documents simply. Despite our best efforts and the resulting large size of the annotated bibliography, we expect that we missed important documents. The annotated bibliography could best be viewed as a living database, to be reviewed and updated periodically.

### 2.2 Structure of the bibliography

The annotated bibliography is constructed with open source Zotero<sup>®</sup> bibliographic software. For each document, web links are included, abstracts are given when available, and a short annotation of the document is given under the 'Notes' field. We also created subject categories for the annotated bibliography, which we include in the 'Tags' field of Zotero<sup>®</sup>. The general subject categories are classified using tags on:

- geographic region,
- ecosystem type,
- principal abiotic or biotic components,
- ecological stressors,
- origins of impacts,
- policies or statutes,
- mitigation hierarchy,
- detail on mitigation, and
- monitoring.

Each general subject category has hierarchical levels of subcategories (Appendix A).

Using this structure of tags, the annotated bibliography could eventually be developed into a web document with hierarchical drop-down menus, similar to the Mitigation Practices Database (MPD) Tool for Offshore Wind (https://briloon.shinyapps.io/MPDTool/).

### 2.3 Searching the bibliography

The Zotero<sup>®</sup> bibliography can be searched in two ways. First, the search window in the upper right corner of the screen can be used to search by author, title, tag, or any word. The advanced search option allows for affirmative or negative searches (i.e. title "contains" versus "does not contain" a word).

Second, the tags of subject categories (Appendix A) are listed in the lower left of the Zotero screen. Documents can be searched by selecting one or several tags. Selecting multiple tags allows for intersecting searches. For instance, selecting 'peatland' *and* 'drawdown' *and* 'on-site restoration' will list the documents pertaining to the restoration of peatlands that have suffered a water table drawdown. Consulting the subject categories and subcategories (Appendix A) will help suggest suitable searches.

A search for 'migratory birds' or 'species-at-risk' and each of the mitigation hierarchy categories will bring up all documents in the database related to mitigating impacts on

migratory birds or species-at-risk (Table 3). However, this search provides few documents, with only 26 documents covering mitigation options for migratory birds (4.9% of mitigation hierarchy documents in the database) and 37 documents (6.9% of mitigation documents) on mitigation options for species-at-risk.

When the search is expanded to cover peatlands or other wetlands, 401documents cover all levels of the mitigation hierarchy (75.1% of mitigation documents). Most relate to peatlands (72.4.1% of the mitigation documents), with few in other wetland types, mostly marsh or saltmarsh (8.8% of mitigation documents). This broader search strategy will also be important to determine the mitigation options for habitats for migratory birds or species-at-risk.

		additional search terms			
	+ 'migratory	+ 'species-at-	+ 'migratory birds' OR	+ 'peatland' OR	
Mitigation Hierarchy	birds'	risk'	'species-at-risk'	'other wetland'	Total
'impact avoidance'	4	3	6	27	55
'impact minimization'	19	20	28	110	194
'on-site restoration'	10	21	28	299	355
'offsetting'	1	1	1	19	39
'compensation'	0	0	0	4	9
Total	26	37	50	401	536

Table 3. Searches in the annotated bibliography for the different levels of the mitigation hierarchy with combinations of the tags 'migratory birds', 'species-at-risk', 'peatland' and 'other wetland'.

# 3. Review of Ecological Stressors

The annotated bibliography presents documents on measures to mitigate anthropogenic impacts that are associated with proposed road and mining development in the Ring-of-Fire region. However, road and mining developments, if they proceed, will occur alongside climate change impacts, which will also significantly affect ecosystems in the Far North of Ontario (X. Zhang et al., 2019). It will be difficult to separate impacts originating from mining and roads from those due to climate change.

This section briefly reviews the principal ecological stressors that peatlands and other wetlands will likely face in the Hudson Bay Lowland and the adjacent Boreal Shield from a combination of road and mining developments and climate change.

Seven principal stressors will affect peatlands and wetlands in the Hudson Bay Lowland and the adjacent Boreal Shield (Table 4). They are presented roughly in order of importance for wetlands.

#### Annotated Bibliography of Wetland Mitigation Options in Far Northern Ontario

Table 4. The number of documents in the annotated bibliography dealing with each principal category of stressors (total n = 1,211 documents in database to date).

Stressor	Number of documents
Hydrological alteration	332
Fertility change and contamination	325
Vegetation or substrate disturbance	382
Landscape conversion and fragmentation	140
Methylmercury	53
Overgrazing	42
Invasive species	27
Other stressors	17

### 3.1 Hydrological alteration

Keddy (2023a, 2023b) considered that flooding (or drainage) is the principal control on wetland vegetation and habitats. The annual flooding and drainage pattern of the water table is termed the hydropattern (Jackson et al., 2014; Nuttle, 1997). The hydropattern is the primary control on peatland ecosystems, including its vegetation, microflora and fauna. Peatlands, such as fens and bogs, generally have more stable hydropatterns with less water table fluctuations than swamps or marshes.

Hydrological alteration in the Ring of-Fire region, whether it is water table drawdown or flooding, may arise from (i) climate change as temperature warms, which can drop the peatland water table (Breeuwer et al., 2009; Fox & Lehikoinen, 2024; Laine et al., 1995; Macrae et al., 2013; Roulet et al., 1992); (ii) thawing of permafrost peatland, also affected by climate warming, which changes peatland topography, causing permafrost melt scars with increased flooding (Kuhry, 2008; Mack et al., 2023); (iii) increased (or decreased) fire frequency or severity, which shifts the albedo and evapotranspiration (McCarter et al., 2021; J. W. McLaughlin & Packalen, 2021; Thompson et al., 2014; Turetsky et al., 2015; Waddington et al., 2015); (iv) building of aggregate foundation roads, especially across areas of surface or groundwater flow without sufficient culverts or cross-drainage mitigation measures, which increases flooding up-gradient and drawdown down-gradient of the road (Bocking et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2015; Saraswati, Bhusal, et al., 2020; Volik et al., 2020; Willier, 2017); (v) creating seismic line linear disturbances, which can compact and depress the ground surface below the water table and increase flooding (Weiland et al., 2024; Williams et al., 2013); (vi) ditching along roads or for other drainage purposes, which draws down the water table (Koivunen et al., 2023; Prevost et al., 1997); (vii) drawdown from pumps for mine working, as well as flooding in areas receiving the mine dewatering (Balliston & Price, 2023; Gautrey et al., 2018; Kohv et al., 2023; Whittington &

Price, 2012, 2013); (viii) damming for hydroelectric power generation (Duchemin et al., 1995; Far North Science Advisory Panel, 2010; Rosenberg et al., 1997); amongst other possible causes.

Alterations to the hydropattern through climate or human-induced flooding or drawdown of the water table can have major impacts on peatland vegetation, microflora and fauna. Waddington *et al.* (2015) reviews the multiple feedbacks of hydrologic controls in peatlands, including on primary production and decomposition of peatland mosses, shrubs and trees. Hydrologic alteration will shift peatland plant communities (Breeuwer et al., 2009; Churchill et al., 2015; Maanavilja et al., 2014; Mälson et al., 2008; Miller et al., 2015; e.g., Weltzin et al., 2003). Drawdown eventually encourages shrubs and trees to dominate (D. R. Campbell et al., 2003; Farrick & Price, 2009; Howson et al., 2021; Laine et al., 1995), with consequent shifts in fauna (Lachance et al., 2005).

Hydrological alterations also change surface water habitats, which are biodiversity hotspots in peatlands for plants and fauna (Beadle et al., 2023; Fox & Lehikoinen, 2024). For instance, hydrologic alteration in northern Europe, apparently caused by climate change as well as by human drainage activities, has reduced the extent of aapamires (Jussila et al., 2024). Aapamires, also called string fens, have expanses of shallow water separated by raised ridges. Reduction in aapamire extent have been linked to lower populations of shorebird and wading birds in Europe (Fox & Lehikoinen, 2024; Fraixedas et al., 2017; R. Heikkinen et al., 2022).

Hydrological alterations, especially flooding, can also lead to the methylation of mercury (Kelly et al., 1997; St Louis et al., 2004), which biomagnifies up the food chain (see section 3.4).

Hydrological alterations will shift decomposition and greenhouse gas production (e.g. Strack et al., 2004, 2008; Strack & Waddington, 2007) and dissolved organic carbon export (DOC; e.g., Strack et al., 2008). These shifts in greenhouse gas production and dissolved organic carbon may not directly affect peatland fauna, but, given the extent of peatlands in the Hudson Bay Lowland, climate-induced water table drawdown may create a positive feedback loop with the release of more greenhouse gases, which will increase the severity of climate change and indirectly affect peatlands through further hydrologic alteration.

### 3.2 Fertility change and contamination

Keddy (2023a, 2023b) considers that fertility is the second most important control on wetland vegetation and habitats. He defined in terms of the availability of principal growthlimiting macronutrients, namely nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium and sulphur. For peatlands, where these nutrients are scarce, the fertility can also be defined in terms of the minerals calcium and magnesium, which, along with pH, distinguish bogs from fens (Sjörs, 1959, 1963; Wheeler & Proctor, 2000). Peatlands are nutrient-poor in comparison with swamps and marshes. Nutrient enrichment in peatlands occurs from excess atmospheric deposition of anthropogenic nitrogen in bogs (Bragazza et al., 2006; Ferguson et al., 1984; Press et al., 1986; Vitt et al., 2003), agricultural runoff in fens (Kieckbusch & Schrautzer, 2007), or tertiary treatment of wastewaters in peatlands (Kadlec, 2009; Karjalainen et al., 2016; Kujala et al., 2019; Lavallee & Campbell, 2019).

Nutrient enrichment, even through low but prolonged dosage, can shift peatland productivity and vegetation communities (Aerts et al., 1992; Bubier et al., 2007; Chapin et al., 2003; Ferguson et al., 1984; C. Gignac et al., 2022; Larmola et al., 2013; Lavallee & Campbell, 2019; M. Wang et al., 2016), and consequently impact fauna. Nutrient enrichment can also increase methylation of mercury to form methylmercury (McCarter et al., 2017, 2022; Roth et al., 2021).

Whereas nutrients determine the fertility in peatlands or other wetlands, contaminants, including fugitive dust, hydrocarbons, metals and metalloids, can have the opposite effect and reduce fertility for vegetation and fauna. Note that some contaminants, such as copper and nickel, have beneficial effects on plants at low dosages, but they become toxic at higher dosages (CCME, 1999b, 2015). Methylmercury is a special contaminant that will be considered separately below because it bioaccumulates.

Contaminants can affect primary productivity and can shift vegetation communities and habitat quality (Csavina et al., 2012; L. D. Gignac & Beckett, 1986; Munford et al., 2023; Närhi et al., 2012; Novakovskiy et al., 2021; Racine, 1994). Contaminants may also directly affect peatland or wetland fauna.

Contamination in peatlands or other wetlands may originate from local atmospheric deposition from mining or mineral processing operations (e.g., Bonham-Carter & Kettles, 2001; Cleaver et al., 2021; Shotyk et al., 2017), from distant atmospheric deposition (Meyer et al., 2015; Osborne et al., 2024), from mine waste drainage or mine waters, including from acid rock drainage (Besold et al., 2019; Lazareva et al., 2019; e.g., Sheoran & Sheoran, 2006), or from spills (Jorgenson & Joyce, 1994; Kovaleva et al., 2021). Given that the Ring-of-Fire deposits have massive sulphides (KWG Resources Inc., 2022; Mungall et al., 2010), acid rock drainage will be a major concern.

The large chromite deposits in the Ring-of-Fire are also a large concern because of the possible pollution by hexavalent chromium (Cr(VI)) (Beukes et al., 2017; du Preez et al., 2023; Schindler et al., 2018). Hexavalent chromium is toxic to vegetation and to fauna, as well as to humans (CCME, 1999a, 1999c)

Permafrost thaw in peatlands may also release contaminants (Galloway et al., 2020; Payandi-Rolland et al., 2021; Tarbier et al., 2021). Furthermore, fire in peatlands may resuspend contaminants (Kohlenberg et al., 2018; McCarter et al., 2023; Y. Zhang et al., 2022; Zolkos et al., 2024). Both are tied in with climate warming.

### 3.3 Vegetation or substrate disturbance

Keddy (2023a, 2023b) considers that disturbance is the third most important control on wetland vegetation and habitats. He defines disturbance as: "*a short-lived event that removes biomass and thereby causes a measurable change in the properties of an ecological community*". While this definition applies to disturbances to vegetation, it could be extended to disturbances to the peat substrate because the peat substrate is so fragile; changes to the substrate will also affect the vegetation.

Fire is an example of a common natural disturbance in peatlands, which temporarily removes the vegetation (Guêné-Nanchen et al., 2022; Shepherd et al., 2021). Fire may be natural or human-caused, but fire frequency is also increasing in the boreal region as a result of climate change (Gibson et al., 2018; J. McLaughlin & Webster, 2013; Nelson et al., 2021; Turetsky et al., 2015). Peat fires are difficult to put out because they smoulder and can reignite, further affecting the peat substrate and the vegetation (Lukenbach et al., 2015; Rein & Huang, 2021).

Humans also disturb vegetation in peatlands and the peat substrate through vegetation clearance, motor vehicle tracks and seismic line construction and peat subsidence (e.g., M. Bérubé & Lavoie, 2000; van Rensen et al., 2015; Williams-Mounsey et al., 2021).

Peat extraction is a well-researched type of severe disturbance for both the vegetation and the peat substrate (e.g., M. Bérubé & Lavoie, 2000; Gagnon et al., 2018; Girard et al., 2002; Poulin et al., 2005). We include peat extraction as a form of disturbance, even though it is a longer-term event and could also be considered as ecosystem conversion.

Overgrazing is also a disturbance under this definition, but it is considered separately below.

### 3.4 Landscape conversion and fragmentation

Human developments, such as mining, create a footprint of buildings, mine footings, tailings management areas, other mine wastes, ore stockpiles, roads, pipelines and other infrastructure. When they are constructed in peatlands, many require foundations, often achieved by the placement of geotextiles with gravel fill over top of peatlands (De Guzman & Alfaro, 2016, 2018; Mesri & Ajlouni, 2007). Some features, such as mine waste facilities are built directly over peatland. For other features, the underlying peat may be removed to assure stability of built structures or roads.

This mine footprint converts peatland to upland and removes peatland habitat for vegetation, and fauna. Mine camps in the Hudson Bay Lowland, such as Victor Mine or Detour Lake Mine, demonstrate how mining footprints replace peatlands with uplands (CEAA, 2011; De Beers Canada, 2004). Although these mine sites are reclaimed after mine

Annotated Bibliography of Wetland Mitigation Options in Far Northern Ontario

closure, these areas remain as upland habitats and peatlands are lost (e.g., De Beers Canada, 2004).

Besides simply converting habitat, linear disturbances, such as roads, winter roads, pipelines, seismic lines and power transmission lines also fragment the landscape and facilitate the mobility of fauna and flora. In northern Alberta, such linear features through peatlands increase the movement of predators such as wolves and bear, which increases pressure on prey species, including threatened boreal populations of woodland caribou (e.g., DeMars & Boutin, 2018; McKay et al., 2021; St-Pierre et al., 2022). Linear disturbances can also increase the spread of invasive plant species in peatlands (C. Dubé et al., 2011; Jodoin et al., 2008).

As pointed out above, linear disturbances such as roads can also impede water movement and cause hydrologic alterations (Miller et al., 2015; Saraswati, Petrone, et al., 2020; Volik et al., 2020). Furthermore, landscape conversion can lead to increased contact between peat and mineral soil and lead to increased mobilization of methylmercury (Mitchell et al., 2009).

### 3.5 Mercury and methylmercury

Mercury could just be considered as another contaminant, but it is distinct because (i) it enters peatlands at low concentration through atmospheric deposition as inorganic mercury from distant natural and anthropogenic sources (Osborne et al., 2024); (ii) methylation of inorganic mercury can occur to form toxic methylmercury (e.g., Mitchell et al., 2009); and (iii) methylmercury biomagnifies up the food chain through fauna (CCME, 2000; Driscoll et al., 2013). The impacts of methylmercury will consequently be greater on predatory fauna at higher trophic positions, such as piscivorous fish, polar bear or wolverine. It will also have greater effects on humans who eat this wildlife. Methylmercury is a toxin, and at higher concentrations it remains a key concern for local communities of people dependent on wildlife for food, as well as for regulators (CCME, 2000, 2003).

The methylation of mercury is stimulated by substrate disturbances (Mitchell et al., 2009, 2009), flooding (B. A. Branfireun et al., 2005; Kelly et al., 1997; St Louis et al., 2004), nutrient enrichment (McCarter et al., 2017; Roth et al., 2021), or soil warming/permafrost thaw (Gordon et al., 2016; Kohlenberg et al., 2018; Kolka et al., 2024; Zolkos et al., 2024). Sulphate stimulates methylmercury production (Mitchell et al., 2009), and increased sulphate associated with mining disturbances in the Hudson Bay Lowland also increase methylmercury (Twible, 2017).

## 3.6 Overgrazing

Keddy (2023a, 2023b) also recognizes herbivory as an important control on wetland vegetation. Herbivory could be simply considered as another natural disturbance because

the herbivores are removing biomass. However, some wetland herbivore populations have grown dramatically as a result of human actions, which has led to overgrazing in some wetlands. For instance, the principal agents of overgrazing in wetlands in the Hudson Bay Lowland are lesser snow geese, whose populations have increased multiple fold as a result of food subsidies in agricultural fields in central North America (R. L. Jefferies et al., 2003).

A great deal of research has taken place on the effects of overgrazing by lesser snow geese but also Canada geese on the saltmarsh, marsh and other wetlands in the coastal regions of the Hudson Bay Lowland. Similar research has taken place in peatlands in the high Arctic where greater show geese are the main grazers. Geese overgraze and can effectively convert marsh or saltmarsh to mudflats or low productivity habitats (G. Gauthier et al., 2004; e.g., Handa et al., 2002; R. Jefferies et al., 2006; R. Jefferies & Rockwell, 2002; Kotanen & Abraham, 2013; Nishizawa et al., 2021; Peterson et al., 2013). The overgrazed wetlands in turn affect habitat for other fauna (Flemming et al., 2019; Milakovic et al., 2001; Milakovic & Jefferies, 2003; Park, 2017; Rockwell et al., 2003).

Peatlands are less impacted by goose herbivory (G. Gauthier et al., 2004; Nishizawa et al., 2021; Speed et al., 2010). However, peatlands can also be overgrazed or trampled by ungulate herbivores where their populations are dense (Courchesne et al., 2018; T. Kolari et al., 2019; Mosbacher et al., 2019), with consequent effects on peatland flora and fauna.

Overgrazing can even interact with permafrost and slow down its development (Deschamps et al., 2023).

## 3.7 Invasive species

Invasive plant species can be an additional stressor to peatlands affecting overall habitat quality. They may accompany the above stressors. For instance, invasive species occur where linear disturbances occur through peatlands or other wetlands (Brisson et al., 2010; C. Dubé et al., 2011; Jodoin et al., 2008). Some invasive weed species even colonize wetlands in the Alberta oil sands region (Allen et al., 2021).

Riley (2003) lists and discusses the non-native species found in the Hudson Bay Lowland. However, there is little indication of the probable invasive species that could spread to the Ring-of-Fire region. *Phragmites* is a main invasive species of concern for wetlands. It is currently rare in the Hudson Bay Lowland (Riley, 2003), but it is found in the adjacent Boreal Shield to the south (Mal & Narine, 2004), so it could spread north with road construction and climate warming.

### 3.8 Other stressors

Other stressors from mining or road developments in the Ring-of-Fire that may impact migratory birds and species-at-risk in peatlands or wetlands include noise pollution that often, but not always, interfere with bird vocalizations (E. M. Bayne et al., 2008; Douse &

Artz, 2022; Habib et al., 2007; Sánchez et al., 2022, 2023; Shonfield & Bayne, 2017b) or other wildlife (OMECP, 2020), nighttime light pollution that cause bird collisions (Lao et al., 2020; Teck, 2017) and other factors causing bird collision (Baasch et al., 2022; Rioux et al., 2013).

# 4. Mitigation of Ecological Stressors

The mitigation hierarchy has four to five levels, set in a hierarchy, with lower levels being most desirable to conserve biodiversity (Arlidge et al., 2018; Forest Trends, 2018; Milner-Gulland et al., 2021). The fifth level of mitigation, compensation, is not included in some formulations of the mitigation hierarchy (Milner-Gulland et al., 2021, 2021), but it is considered here given the potential difficulty of even offsetting unavoidable potential impacts from mining and road development to the wetlands in the Hudson Bay Lowland and adjacent Boreal Shield.

## 4.1 Impact avoidance

Impact avoidance is defined as "measures taken to avoid creating impacts from the outset (including direct, indirect and cumulative impacts), such as careful spatial or temporal placement of elements of infrastructure, in order to completely avoid impacts on certain components of biodiversity" (Forest Trends, 2018).

A summary of documents that are related to impact avoidance of principal stressors is presented in Appendix B along with key documents. Given the overwhelming dominance of wetlands, mostly peatlands, in the landscape in the Ring-of-Fire region, it will be very difficult for mining or road developments to completely avoid impacts to these wetlands.

Best practices to avoid disturbances should be implemented at the planning stage of mine and road developments.

### 4.1.1 Hydrological alteration

Some documents point to the conservation and protection of peatlands in northern Canada, including within the Hudson Bay Lowland, as a means to avoid hydrological alterations, especially linked to climate change (Alexandrov et al., 2020; Drever et al., 2021; Helbig et al., 2020; Humpenöder et al., 2020; Strack et al., 2022). Conserving these peatlands would also avoid fertility change/contamination, vegetation and substrate disturbance, landscape conversion and fragmentation, methylmercury formation, some other stressors as well. It is however difficult to see ways to both conserve peatlands and allow mining development in the immediate Ring of Fire region. Conservation may also be seen as a strategy to offset impacts of mining and road disturbance (see section 4.4). Other documents present strategies for the construction of roads around peatlands to avoid hydrologic alterations (Gilmour et al., 2022; INAC, 2010; Partington et al., 2016). Again, given the predominance of wetlands in the landscape of the Ring-of-Fire, it will be very difficult to completely avoid hydrological alterations from roads.

#### 4.1.2 Fertility change and contamination

Several documents deal with avoiding contamination. Most relate specifically to the avoidance of mine-related pollution from acid rock drainage (Alam & Shang, 2012; Environment Canada, 2009; INAP, 2018; O'Kane Consultants Inc., 2004a, 2004b, 2004c, 2004d, 2004e, 2007; W. A. Price, 2009; Stratos Inc. & Brodie Consulting Ltd., 2011; Zinck & Griffith, 2013) or the avoidance of hexavalent chromium pollution (Beukes et al., 2017; Deepa et al., 2025; du Preez et al., 2023). Given their important impacts, all efforts should strive to avoid acid rock pollution or pollution by hexavalent chromium. Monitoring for acid rock drainage and hexavalent chromium will play a large role in avoiding their impacts.

Several documents also relate to avoiding air pollution impacts from fugitive dust emissions (Cecala et al., 2019; Environment Canada, 2009; OMECC, 2017). Again, monitoring for fugitive dust will be key.

Given the predominance of peatlands in the Ring-of-Fire landscape and the large deposits of critical metals there, absolute avoidance of the impacts of fertility change and contamination to these wetlands will be difficult and impact minimization may be the more realistic mitigation option.

#### 4.1.3 Vegetation or substrate disturbance

A few documents relate to the avoidance of road construction in peatlands, and consequent vegetation or substrate disturbance (INAC, 2010; Partington et al., 2016). But as already stated, the predominance of wetlands in the landscape makes avoidance of disturbances to vegetation or substrate in the Ring-of-Fire very difficult.

#### 4.1.4 Landscape conversion and fragmentation

Avoiding landscape conversion and fragmentation is considered as a mitigation measure for woodland caribou (OMECP, 2020; OMNR, 2016). Avoiding peatlands for road construction is also recommended to limit landscape fragmentation (INAC, 2010; Partington et al., 2016). However, avoidance of impacts will be difficult to apply given the predominance of peatlands in the landscape of the Ring-of-Fire.

Sound mining practices, including innovation, may effectively avoid or at least reduce landscape conversion to the surrounding environment including to wetlands (Environment Canada, 2009; Musetta-Lambert et al., 2019). For instance, the use of paste tailings instead of tailings ponds would reduce the footprint for tailings management (e.g., Franks et al., 2011; C. Wang et al., 2014). Infilling with tailings in underground mine workings will also reduce the surface disposal of tailings (C. Wang et al., 2014). Other mining innovations may exist that would allow to carefully plan and avoid mining-related impacts to wetlands and their fauna. Again however, given the overwhelming extent of wetlands in the landscape of the Ring-of-Fire, it is more realistic that mining innovation mitigation measures will only minimize impacts.

#### 4.1.5 Mercury and methylmercury

Several documents link methylmercury production to peatland disturbances (Braaten & de Wit, 2016; Mitchell et al., 2008, 2009), flooding (Kelly et al., 1997) or to mining-related disturbance (Twible, 2017). Avoiding substrate disturbance, nutrient enrichment and flooding as well limiting the creation of peatland upland interfaces and preventing sulphate pollution will avoid the risk of methylmercury production. However, complete avoidance will be difficult to achieve in the Ring-of-Fire region because of the predominance of wetlands in the landscape. Monitoring of methylmercury will play a large role in avoiding its impacts.

### 4.1.6 Overgrazing

The overpopulation of lesser snow geese and Canada geese is the main cause of overgrazing in the Hudson Bay Lowland. Increased hunting or population control is the primary means to avoid this stressor (Peterson et al., 2013). However, geese prefer the coastal marshes of Hudson and James Bay instead of peatlands, so overgrazing will most likely be avoided in the Ring-of Fire region because peatlands dominate there. Overgrazing could become a concern during mine reclamation of uplands when early successional vegetation is trying to take hold.

#### 4.1.7 Invasive species

Halloran et al. (2013) present the best management practices to avoid the spread of invasive flora and fauna on equipment before moving them between sites. Careful application of these guidelines and continued monitoring will help avoid the spread of invasive species into the Ring-of-Fire landscape.

#### 4.1.8 Other stressors

OMECP (2020) also presents guidelines to avoid noise disturbances to woodland caribou. Douse and Artz (2022) presents sound protocols on how to avoid disturbances to breeding birds during peatland restoration. Similar measures could be adapted to avoid or at least to minimize disturbance from mining activities during the bird breeding season (June-July).

Lao et al. (2020) presents general protocols to avoid or at least minimize collisions or other impacts on migratory birds. Such measures could be applied by mines or mineral processing facilities in the Ring-of-Fire region to avoid impacts to migratory birds.

### 4.2 Impact minimization

Impact Minimization is defined as "measures taken to reduce the duration, intensity and/or extent of impacts (including direct, indirect and cumulative impacts) that cannot be completely avoided, as far as is practically feasible" (Forest Trends, 2018).

A summary of documents on impact minimization is presented in Appendix B along with key documents. Given the predominance of peatlands in the landscape of the Ring-of-Fire region, road or mining impacts to these wetlands may not be easily avoided, but they may be minimized.

As with impact avoidance, best practices to minimize disturbances should be implemented at the planning stage of mine and road developments.

#### 4.2.1 Hydrological alteration

Osko et al. (2018) and Volik et al. (2020) present the best guidance on how to minimize hydrological impacts to wetlands and how to restore wetlands, which will be applicable to the Ring-of-Fire region. Thom et al. (2019) deal mostly with restoration of peatlands, but they also offers sound advice on minimizing disturbance to the hydrology of peatlands in general. Environment Canada (2009) presents general guidelines to minimize the disturbance to landscape hydrology as a result of mining, but not specifically for wetlands or peatlands.

Several documents point to the best practices for minimizing hydrological alterations in wetlands specifically as a result of the construction of roads (Ducks Unlimited Canada, 2014; INAC, 2010; Partington et al., 2016; Saraswati, Petrone, et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2013). A few from Scotland relate to minimizing impacts from roads or structures on blanket peatlands (Forestry Civil Engineering & Scottish Natural Heritage, 2010; Gilmour et al., 2022; Jorat et al., 2024). Because blanket peatlands do not occur in the Hudson Bay Lowland, these documents may not apply directly, but they still offer sound recommendations to minimize the hydrological impacts of roads on peatlands. Geotechnical studies show that placing roads direct over peat is possible (De Guzman & Alfaro, 2016, 2018; Long et al., 2023), but these studies do not indicate whether they interrupt groundwater flow and thereby cause drawdown or flooding. The careful placement of roads and avoiding wetlands where possible, along with placing multiple culverts or other measures to allow crossflow of groundwater and surface water will help to minimize hydrological alterations from roads in the Ring-of-Fire region.

Mining wastes and mine waters have been shown to capture greenhouse gas emissions (Baena-Moreno et al., 2023; Mervine et al., 2018), which would contribute to reducing global warming and also indirectly reduce hydrological alterations in peatlands. However, any potential gains from greenhouse gas capture from mining wastes would need to be

balanced with the greenhouse gas costs of mining activities to determine if mining wastes offer any positive effect against climate warming.

Kinas et al. (2024) present sound guidelines on how to avoid excessive flooding from beaver, especially on road networks.

#### 4.2.2 Fertility change and contamination

Minimizing changes to the fertility of receiving environments, especially contamination, are pervasive themes for mining and mineral processing (Environment Canada, 2009) and will be critical to apply in the Ring-of-Fire region.

Protocols exist to minimize the impacts of explosive residues (BCMECCS, 2018a; Chatterjee et al., 2017), which can lead to nutrient enrichment or contamination in the receiving peatland environments in the Ring-of Fire region.

Many best management practice guides aim to contain and minimize acid rock drainage pollution offsite (INAP, 2018; MEND, 2012; O'Kane Consultants Inc., 2004a, 2004b, 2004c, 2004d, 2004e, 2007; W. A. Price, 2009; Stratos Inc. & Brodie Consulting Ltd., 2011; Zinck & Griffith, 2013). Again, mitigating acid rock drainage impacts to peatlands will be a concern because of the predominance of peatlands in the landscape and the massive sulphides in several Ring-of-Fire deposits (KWG Resources Inc., 2022; Mungall et al., 2010). The desulphurization of tailings, as is done for reactive tailings in the nearby Musselwhite Mine (Alam & Shang, 2012), would also help minimize acid rock drainage.

Because hexavalent chromium (Cr(VI)) is a toxin and a large concern from chromite mining in the Ring-of-Fire , several documents review how Cr(VI)-related pollution could be minimized (Beukes et al., 2017; Deepa et al., 2025; du Preez et al., 2023).

Protocols are also available to minimize the impacts of pollution from fugitive dust (BCMEMLCI & BCMECCS, 2023; Cecala et al., 2019; Golder Associates, 2010; OMECC, 2017). Other guidelines are available to minimize water erosion and sedimentation offsite (BCME, 2015b, 2015a; Environmental Dynamics Inc, 2003; Garneau et al., 2019).

Protocols exist to minimize the effects of spills, usually of hydrocarbons (BCMECCS, 2018b; INAC, 2007). Several papers attempt to understand the movement of hydrocarbons through peatlands to minimize the spreading of contamination from spills (Gharedaghloo & Price, 2018, 2021; P. K. Gupta et al., 2023; Rezanezhad et al., 2012).

Several documents relate to the design and performance of treatment peatlands or northern treatment wetlands to minimize impacts to receiving environments. The receiving environments in the Ring-of-Fire region will generally be fen peatlands and watercourses. Documents exist on peatland tertiary treatment of excess nutrients from municipal wastewaters in (e.g., Kadlec, 2009; Kadlec & Wallace, 2009; Karjalainen et al., 2016; Kujala et al., 2019; McCarter et al., 2017), peatland treatment of excess nutrients from peat extraction sites (K. Heikkinen et al., 2018), or from mine sites (Bishay & Kadlec, 2005; Ronkanen & Kløve, 2009), wetland treatment of hydrocarbon polluted waters (Simair et al., 2021), floating wetland treatment of sulphate (V. Gupta et al., 2020) and peatland treatment of mine waters with metal or metalloid contamination, including arsenic, nickel and antimony (U. A. Khan et al., 2020; Palmer et al., 2015; Sheoran & Sheoran, 2006). Several documents also emphasize cold climate treatment wetland designs for year-round treatment (Eskelinen et al., 2015; Kujala et al., 2019, 2024; M. Wang et al., 2017).

A few documents also demonstrate the capture of metal ions by peat or sphagnum (e.g., Balan et al., 2009; B. Gupta et al., 2009). Several articles also show that it is possible to make biochar from peat and that it effectively removes heavy metals from solution (S.-J. Lee et al., 2015). The abundance of peat and sphagnum in the Ring-of-Fire landscape may allow for their incorporation into filters for mine water treatment systems to minimize impacts of mine waters to the surrounding environments.

#### 4.2.3 Vegetation or substrate disturbance.

Thom (2019) presents general practices on how to minimize disturbances to substrates and vegetation during the management of peatlands.

Best management practices exist to minimize substrate disturbances from heavy equipment in peatlands (APTHQ, 2024; C. Nugent et al., 2003; Sutherland, 2003). Several protocols also exist to identify, minimize and extinguish fires in peatlands, including smouldering peat fires (APTHQ, 2021; Deane et al., 2022; Hokanson et al., 2018).

#### 4.2.4 Landscape conversion and fragmentation

The application of sustainable mining practices could minimize the mining footprint and consequently limit ecosystem conversion (Environment Canada, 2009). For instance, the disposal of thickened or paste tailings (Franks et al., 2011; C. Wang et al., 2014), where excess water is removed from the tailings slurry, would eliminate the need for tailings ponds and dams, thereby minimizing the mine footprint and also eliminating the risk of tailings dam failure. Reusing tailings in underground mine workings as cemented paste tailings (Qi & Fourie, 2019) would further reduce the surface mine footprint and again minimize landscape conversion. A broader review of innovative mining practices would certainly point to other strategies to minimize the mine footprint and minimize ecosystem conversion and landscape fragmentation.

For linear features, Ryder et al. (2005) present best practices to minimize impacts from pipelines. Low impact seismic lines minimize impacts to peatlands and also improve recovery of vegetation (Filicetti et al., 2023; Franklin et al., 2021). These and other best practices (OMECP, 2020; OMNR, 2016) will minimize the impacts on woodland caribou.

#### 4.2.5 Methylmercury

No documents were found that explicitly deal with the minimization of methylmercury formation. However, conditions that enhance the methylation of mercury include peatland flooding (B. Branfireun & Roulet, 2002; Kelly et al., 1997; St Louis et al., 2004), nutrient or sulphate enrichment in peatlands (McCarter et al., 2017; Roth et al., 2021; Twible, 2017), and soil disturbance to peatlands especially at the mineral peat interface (Braaten & de Wit, 2016; Mitchell et al., 2008, 2009), so measures that limit these impacts should also limit methylmercury. Again, careful monitoring will help assess and minimize the production of methylmercury in the Ring-of-Fire region.

#### 4.2.6 Overgrazing

The only documents on minimizing overgrazing relate to the reduction of the populations of the primary herbivores responsible for the overgrazing. For the marshes along the Hudson and James Bay coast, this would involve reducing populations of lesser snow geese (Peterson et al., 2013). Given the preference of lesser snow geese for coastal marshes instead of peatlands, it is likely that overgrazing will need to be mitigated in the Ring-of-Fire region.

#### 4.2.7 Other stressors

OMECP (2020) again presents guidelines to minimize noise disturbances to woodland caribou, and Douse and Artz (2022) presents protocols on how to minimize disturbances to birds during work in peatlands with machinery during the breeding season.

OMNRF (2014), Lao et al. (2020) and Baasch et al. (2022) also present protocols to minimize collisions with migratory birds. Such measures could be applied by mines or mineral processing facilities in the Ring-of-Fire region.

### 4.3 On-site Restoration

On-site restoration is defined as "*measures taken to rehabilitate degraded ecosystems or restore cleared ecosystems following exposure to impacts that cannot be completely avoided and/or minimised*" (Forest Trends, 2018).

A summary of the documents that cover on-site restoration is presented in Appendix B along with key documents. The Ring-of-Fire region is almost pristine with minimal anthropogenic disturbance except from recent mineral exploration (P. Lee et al., 2010). Efforts should be made to avoid or minimize stressors and thereby limit the need for on-site restoration.

### 4.3.1 Hydrological alteration

Wetland and peatland restoration is a mature field, and, given the fundamental importance of their hydrology, there are many documents on how to restore hydrology of wetlands and peatlands.

Several documents provide general guidance on rewetting peatland hydrology (Joosten, 2021; NatureScot, 2024c; O'Kelly, 2008; Thom et al., 2019). Biebighauser (2015) also presents practical guidance on restoring water levels during wetland restoration, although with less guidance on peatland restoration.

Several documents also present detailed guidance for rewetting after peat extraction (Landry & Rochefort, 2012; J. Price et al., 1998, 2016; J. S. Price et al., 2003; Quinty et al., 2020b; Taylor et al., 2016). Rewetting also involves tree cutting to reduce evapotranspiration (S. Dubé et al., 1995; Gaffney et al., 2020; Howson et al., 2021; Ketcheson & Price, 2011; J. Price et al., 2016; J. S. Price et al., 2003). Mazerolle et al (2006), Desrochers and Rochefort (2021), Beadle (2023), Soumets et al. (2023) all demonstrate how rewetting improves populations of fauna in peatlands.

Not only are their good guidebooks on rewetting, several recent videos also effectively present best practices to restore the hydrology of peatlands (e.g., Cairngorms National Park Authority, 2022; NatureScot, 2024a, 2024b, 2024d, 2024e; Rochefort & Jutras, 2024, 2025).

Documents also demonstrate best management practices to restore the hydrology of seismic lines for bitumen *in situ* extraction or similar other disturbances where excess flooding now occurs (Alberta Environment and Parks, 2017; Bird & Xu, 2021b; Weiland et al., 2024).

#### 4.3.2 Fertility change and contamination

Nutrient-enriched fens can be restored through harvesting and removal of nutrient-rich biomass (Comber et al., 2023; Hinzke, Li, et al., 2021; Hinzke, Tanneberger, et al., 2021; Jabłońska et al., 2021; Kotowski et al., 2016). In contrast, several documents point to the nutrient-poor conditions of disturbed post-extraction peatlands and provide recommendations on proper phosphorus fertilization during restoration (Liu et al., 2024; Pouliot et al., 2015; Quinty et al., 2020c). These recommendations may be useful for restoring nutrient regimes in other disturbed peatlands.

A series of documents provide sound guidance on how to develop cover systems over acidgenerating mining wastes (MEND, 2012; O'Kane Consultants Inc., 2004a, 2004b, 2004c, 2004d, 2004e, 2007). While they are primarily meant to minimize contaminant impacts moving off site, they will also provide guidance to restore ecosystems on-site over mining wastes. Documents also review best methods to bio- or phytoremediate hydrocarbon spills on site (Jorgenson & Joyce, 1994; Koshlaf & Ball, 2017; Naeem & Qazi, 2020).

#### 4.3.3 Vegetation or substrate disturbance.

Many documents relate to restoration after vegetation or substrate disturbance. Thom (2019) and Nature Scott (2024c) are good general guides that present protocols on the restoration of disturbed peatland substrates or vegetation. Biebighauser (2015) provides also good general guidance for the restoration of wetland vegetation and substrates.

Detailed protocols exist to restore substrates and vegetation in bogs or poor fens following peat extraction using the moss layer transfer technique (MLTT; Allan et al., 2024; Quinty et al., 2019, 2020a, 2020b, 2020c; Rochefort et al., 2003). These will be useful for other peatland disturbances. A protocol manual also exists for tree planting in peatland with thin peat (Hugron et al., 2013). Protocols are also available to restore peat-extracted fens, but these are still in the developmental stage (GRET, 2016; A. Khan et al., 2025; Rochefort et al., 2016). Several documents present specific protocols for donor sites for sphagnum moss transfer material (Bird & Xu, 2021a; Guêné-Nanchen et al., 2019; Quinty et al., 2019). Peatlands restored using MLTT return to net carbon sequestering ecosystems (K. A. Nugent et al., 2018), lower methane emissions (K. Nugent et al., 2021) and have only very short impacts to carbon sequestration as a result of donor material collection (K. Murray et al., 2017).

The restoration of peatland pool environments is more challenging, but several documents aim specifically at pool restoration (Bourgeois et al., 2019; Laberge et al., 2015; Mazerolle et al., 2006; Poulin et al., 2011).

Multiple documents aim to restore vegetation and substrate disturbances along seismic lines (Alberta Environment and Parks, 2017; Filicetti et al., 2019; Finnegan et al., 2019; Kleinke et al., 2022; Pinzon et al., 2023; van Rensen et al., 2015; Yemshanov et al., 2023). Murray et al. (2021) describes the greenhouse gas emissions of these seismic line restorations.

Other documents aim to restore infrastructure pads in peatlands such as drill pads or other linear disturbances including winter roads, wood chip-base roads and aggregate-based roads (Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks, 2017, 2020; Bird et al., 2016, 2017; Bird & Xu, 2021c; D. Campbell & Corson, 2014; Caners & Lieffers, 2014; Corson & Campbell, 2013; M. Gauthier et al., 2018; Lemmer et al., 2020, 2023; MacKenzie & Renkema, 2013; Shunina et al., 2016; Sobze et al., 2013; St-Pierre et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2022).

Granath et al. (2016) presents peatland restoration using MLTT as means to restore peatlands after severe fire that has burned deep into peatlands.

#### 4.3.4 Landscape conversion and fragmentation

A series of documents presents the design and performance results of experimental fen creation in Alberta, including the hydrology, geochemistry, carbon dynamics and vegetation (Biagi et al., 2019, 2021; Borkenhagen & Cooper, 2019; Clark et al., 2019; Coulas et al., 2021; Davidson et al., 2021; Irvine et al., 2021; Khadka et al., 2016; K. R. Murray et al., 2017; Nwaishi, Petrone, Macrae, Price, Strack, & Andersen, 2016; Nwaishi, Petrone, Macrae, Price, Strack, Slawson, et al., 2016; Oswald & Carey, 2016; J. S. Price et al., 2010; Prystupa et al., 2023; Spennato et al., 2018). This approach may be useful for creating peatlands onsite following severe disturbance and ecosystem conversion in the Ring-of-Fire region. However, given the relative difficulty, high cost and high maintenance to create these peatlands, minimizing landscape conversion of peatlands should be favoured.

Other documents may also be useful to minimize landscape fragmentation as a result of ecosystem conversion (Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks, 2017; OMECP, 2020). Several of the documents under substrate or vegetation disturbance of seismic lines or other linear disturbances will also act to restore peatlands and reduce landscape fragmentation and conversion (e.g., Alberta Environment and Parks, 2017; Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks, 2020; Filicetti et al., 2019; Kleinke et al., 2022). Several documents deal more specifically with rehabilitating habitat fragmentation (Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks, 2020; Golder Associates, 2015; Hornseth et al., 2018; OMECP, 2020; St-Pierre et al., 2021; Yemshanov et al., 2023).

#### 4.3.5 Methylmercury

We could find no explicit protocols restore peatlands or other northern ecosystems affected by elevated methylmercury production. Again, monitoring will be an important strategy to identify problematic areas.

#### 4.3.6 Overgrazing

We found only one document that relates to the restoration of overgrazed wetland habitats by lesser snow geese (Handa & Jefferies, 2000). However, the authors point out the futility of restoring these habitats unless populations of geese can first be reduced.

#### 4.3.7 Invasive species

Sound protocols exist to restore peatlands or other wetlands invaded by *Phragmites* (Nichols, 2024), if it appears in the region as a result of mining and road disturbances. Lavoie (2019) presents good summaries of control methods for many other invasive species found in wetlands.

#### 4.3.8 Other stressors

No protocols provide precise guidance related to on-site restoration following noise pollution or bird collisions.

### 4.4 Offsetting

Offsetting is defined as "measures taken to compensate for any significant residual, adverse impacts that cannot be avoided, minimised and/or rehabilitated or restored, in order to achieve no net loss or preferably a net gain of biodiversity. Offsets can take the form of positive management interventions such as restoration of degraded habitat, arrested degradation or averted risk, protecting areas where there is imminent or projected loss of biodiversity" (Forest Trends, 2018). A summary of documents on offsetting is presented in Appendix B along with key documents. Offsetting is considered here across all stressors, without distinction of stressor type.

Several useful documents discuss biodiversity offsetting in general globally (BBOP, 2009; Gardner et al., 2013; ICMM & IUCN, 2012; Pope et al., 2021) or from the United States where offsetting is much more prevalent (Ecosystem Planning and Restoration, 2022; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2001). Although wetland mitigation is often the specific biodiversity component that is offset, peatlands such as fens and bogs are rarely considered because they are difficult to successfully create (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2001). However, the experimental peatland creation in Alberta demonstrates that offsetting by creating or restoring peatlands elsewhere is possible (see section 4.3.4 above).

In Canada, at the federal level, a draft policy for biodiversity compensation is available (ECCC, 2020), but Poulton and Ray (2023) point out that few examples of actual offsetting exist and monitoring is usually deficient, limiting any assessment of success. A review of federal fisheries habitat offsetting points to the low offsetting ratio in many projects and problems with compliance and monitoring of success (Harper & Quigley, 2005).

Ontario has considered implementing wetland offsetting (Bell & Hedges, 2016; Ontario Nature, 2022; D. Poulton, 2015; D. Poulton & Bell, 2017; Wetland Conservation Strategy Advisory Panel, 2018) and local governments in Ontario have actually applied wetland offsets (Hasenack et al., 2023). However, these have all been in highly developed southern Ontario, where many degraded wetland ecosystems occur.

The Hudson Bay Lowland and the adjacent Boreal Shield in the Far North of Ontario are part of one of the largest intact forest landscapes in Canada and globally (P. Lee et al., 2010). (They include all wetlands in the Hudson Bay Lowland within their 'intact forests'.) Few if any degraded wetlands occur in this region, except in the coastal environments as a result of goose overgrazing. Consequently, it will be difficult to offset by restoring degraded wetlands within the Hudson Bay Lowland or the adjacent Boreal Shield. Offsetting by restoring degraded wetlands or creating wetlands outside the Far North of Ontario would be possible, as for instance in the highly degraded environment of southern Ontario where an estimated 68% of wetlands have been lost (Penfound & Vaz, 2022). This remains a viable option, even though offsetting is generally meant to be applied within the same ecoregion that was impacted (Arlidge et al., 2018; Milner-Gulland et al., 2021). Out-of-region offsetting projects could focus on birds that breed in the Hudson Bay Lowland but migrate through southern Ontario, if suitable stopover habitat there is degraded and available for restoration.

From the definition of offsetting above, protecting areas is a form of offsetting if those areas are in imminent or projected danger of being lost. Many documents highlight the role of peatlands in the global carbon cycle and point to the value of conserving these peatland to minimize climate change (Alexandrov et al., 2020; Drever et al., 2021; L. I. Harris et al., 2022; Helbig et al., 2020; Humpenöder et al., 2020; Strack et al., 2022). It may be possible to protect wetlands in the broader Hudson Bay Lowland or Boreal Shield outside of the Ring-of-Fire region. However, these wetlands are not yet in imminent or projected danger of being lost, so it is difficult to use this concept of offsetting for this region. Conservation of the vast peatlands in the Hudson Bay Lowland and adjacent Boreal Shield should be better considered as a measure to avoid impacts.

Indigenous perspectives inform biodiversity offsetting in Ontario and Canada (Bois-Charlebois, 2018; McDermott & Bell, 2017). The importance of the land and the duty to consult is stressed. Habitat improvements for wildlife important to indigenous communities may be considered as offsetting. However, offsetting through wildlife improvements would need to exceed the scale and value of wetlands or peatlands lost.

### 4.5 Compensation

Compensation is defined as "measures to recompense, make good or pay damages for loss of biodiversity caused by a project that can fall short of achieving no net loss or a net gain. For instance, this may occur if: conservation actions have been planned to achieve no net loss; losses and gains of biodiversity have been quantified; no mechanism is in place for long term implementation; it may be impossible to offset the impacts; or compensation payments are used for training, capacity building, research or other outcomes that will not result in measurable conservation outcomes on the ground" (Forest Trends, 2018).

As pointed out above, compensation is often not considered as part of the mitigation hierarchy, because it will result in a net loss of biodiversity. However, given the difficulties in even offsetting some effects of proposed mining and road developments in the Ring-of-Fire region, consideration may have to be given to it. Again, the key documents on compensation are given in Appendix B. Impact benefit agreements (IBA) follow under the compensation definition in the mitigation hierarchy (Baird et al., 2023; e.g., Gunton et al., 2020). Funding for research on best mitigation solutions could be another form of compensation.

# 5. Monitoring

Monitoring is key because it allows proponents, regulators and local communities to gauge whether the mitigation hierarchy is being successfully implemented.

We include documents that describe useful approaches or techniques to monitor changes in the Ring-of-Fire region. We also include documents that provide baseline environmental conditions of the Hudson Bay Lowland and the adjacent Boreal Shield, for instance studies of recent ecological conditions and vegetation (Riley, 2003, 2011; Sjörs, 1959, 1963), past conditions as determined from paleoecological analyses (Davies et al., 2021; Hargan et al., 2020; Jeziorski et al., 2015; Packalen et al., 2016), and pre-development trace element concentrations in peatlands (Glooschenko & Capoblanco, 1982; McDonough et al., 2022; Su et al., 2021).

Several tools from the Alberta oil sands will be useful to monitor overall changes in the Ring-of-Fire region. The Before-After Dose Response (BADR) program is a strong model that uses multiple biomonitoring organisms (E. Bayne et al., 2022). More specific wetland biomonitoring tools from the Alberta oil sands could also be useful to monitor changes in wetlands in the Ring-of-Fire region (Ficken et al., 2022; Mahoney et al., 2023; Rooney & Bayley, 2011, 2012). These biomonitoring approaches could be modified to consider the predominance of wetlands and peatlands in the Ring-of-Fire landscape and the peculiarities of these mining and road disturbances. Although these biomonitoring techniques allow an assessment of anthropogenic change, they do not always allow for a diagnosis of the cause of these shifts. Other monitoring approaches will be required.

## 5.1 Hydrological alteration

Wetland hydrology monitoring programs in the Alberta oil sands region may be useful for the Ring-of-Fire region (Eaton & Charette, 2016; Mahoney et al., 2023). These are based on ground-based measurements. For instance, wells and piezometer nests provide point samples, but they will provide detail of hydrological alterations (e.g., McCarter & Price, 2013; Whittington & Price, 2013). Gutierrez-Pacheco et al. (2021) provides a protocol to estimate daily water levels from longer term well measurements.

Given the large area of the Ring-of-Fire and the predominance of wetlands and peatlands, remote sensing approaches will be important to assess shifts in the hydrology of these peatlands and act quickly to minimize them, restore them or offset or compensate for them. Satellite, LiDAR or drone remote sensing methods are used to monitor surface

hydrology, but also subsurface moisture conditions (Banskota et al., 2017; Bradley et al., 2022; Jussila et al., 2024; Lees et al., 2021; Meingast et al., 2014; Neta et al., 2011; Olthof & Fraser, 2024; Rahman et al., 2017). They are also useful to monitor post-restoration conditions of northern peatlands (Haghighi et al., 2018; Isoaho et al., 2024) or blanket bogs (Ball et al., 2023). Remote sensing with drones allow for broadscale monitoring of the hydrology of seismic lines (Lovitt et al., 2018). Satellite remote sensing allows for an assessment of wildfire risk (Millard et al., 2022). On the ground, Evans et al. (2021) proposes a camera trap method to remotely sense water table dynamics and hydrological condition. Ground truthing of hydrological remote sensing will be required.

Several documents use paleoecological approaches using peat cores to present a history of hydrologic alterations in the Hudson Bay Lowlands (Davies et al., 2021; Hargan et al., 2015, 2016, 2020; Holmquist et al., 2016; Jeziorski et al., 2015). These will be important to assess any current hydrological alterations in the Ring-of-Fire region.

Tanneberger et al. (2024) presents a method to monitor hydrological alteration using hydrological services, which may also be useful.

## 5.2 Fertility change and contamination

Monitoring for contamination is primary concern in mining and is intensely regulated. Many government documents dictate best management practices for mine monitoring (ECCC, 2015; e.g., Environment Canada, 2009, 2012; OMECP, 2018). Where acid mine drainage is a concern, monitoring is especially important and best management protocols are well laid out (INAP, 2018; e.g., O'Kane Consultants Inc., 2004d, 2007).

Fugitive dust is a common source of contamination from mining sites as well as from roads and documents compare and present best monitoring techniques (Cleaver et al., 2022; Opekunova et al., 2020). Shotyk et al. (2023) presents a protocol to monitor dusts dissolved in peatland pore waters, and Chen et al (2024) examine the bioaccessibility of trace metals deposited in this dust.

Multiple documents use biomonitoring methods, often with sphagnum moss, other bryophytes or lichens, to monitor trace metals nearby or farther away from contaminant sources (Anicic et al., 2009; Ares et al., 2015; Boquete et al., 2020; Gacnik et al., 2024; Kempter et al., 2017; Landis et al., 2019; Mullan-Boudreau et al., 2017; Salo et al., 2016; Stefanut et al., 2019; Szczepaniak et al., 2007). Given their prevalence in the Ring-of-Fire region, this biomonitoring approach should be useful.

The paleoecological documents mentioned above under hydrological alteration will also inform the fertility conditions in the Hudson Bay Lowland and the Ring-of-Fire region. Peat cores can also be used to monitor changes in longer term contamination (Mullan-Boudreau et al., 2017; Shotyk et al., 2017; Shotyk & Noernberg, 2020). Forward-thinking researchers also determined the background levels of contamination by trace metals in the Hudson Bay Lowland (Glooschenko & Capoblanco, 1982; Su et al., 2021). These will be useful baselines against which future changes in contamination can be evaluated.

## 5.3 Vegetation or substrate disturbance

Multiple documents present remote sensing protocols to characterize peatland vegetation that could be used to follow changes in peatland vegetation (Beyer et al., 2019; Bourgeau-Chavez et al., 2017; Carless et al., 2019; Chasmer et al., 2021; Ghazaryan et al., 2024; Haghighi et al., 2018; A. Harris et al., 2015; Isoaho et al., 2024; T. H. M. Kolari et al., 2022; Middleton et al., 2012; Minasny et al., 2024; Mohammad Mirmazloumi et al., 2021; Pang et al., 2023; Räsänen et al., 2019, 2020; Salko et al., 2023; Steenvoorden et al., 2024; Stuart et al., 2022). Specialized examples include remote sensing to characterize permafrost thaw (Pironkova, 2017), wildfire vulnerability in peatlands (Millard et al., 2022) or vegetation change following linear disturbances (Finnegan et al., 2019; Jones et al., 2022).

Remote sensing always needs ground-truthing, and Rochefort et al. (2013) compare protocols for sampling vegetation. Assessing vegetation change also relies on comparisons with reference conditions and indicators of success (V. Bérubé et al., 2017; Gonzalez & Rochefort, 2014).

### 5.4 Landscape conversion and fragmentation

Any remote sensing techniques will allow to monitor landscape conversion and fragmentation. Even simple analyses with Google Earth can help follow wetland conversion (e.g., Saint-Marc et al., 2024).

Best management practices also exist for monitoring ecosystem conversion or landscape fragmentation following the restoration of drill pads and power lines (Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks, 2017, 2020). Similar approaches could be applied to the Ring-of-Fire.

Camera trap techniques will also allow an assessment of the use of linear features by wildlife (Feldman et al., 2024; Sun et al., 2021).

### 5.5 Methylmercury

Monitoring will be key to avoid or minimize methylmercury production in wetlands in the Ring-of-Fire. Passive monitoring and biomonitoring approaches are used to monitor for total mercury (Bargagli, 2016; Gacnik et al., 2024; Shotyk & Cuss, 2019). Brazeau (2012) presents background data of total mercury for the Hudson Bay Lowland.

Best practices are available to biomonitor methylmercury concentrations in fauna in industrial regions (e.g., E. Bayne et al., 2022; De Beers Canada Victor Mine, 2024).

### 5.6 Overgrazing

Remote sensing was even used to monitor vegetation changes as a result of goose overgrazing along the coast of Hudson Bay (Gadallah, 2002; Jano et al., 1998). Barnas et al. (2019) compares field plots with drone flights to assess overgrazing.

### 5.7 Invasive species

Monitoring will again be important to avoid or minimize (control) their introductions in the Ring-of-Fire region. Best practice protocols are available to monitor invasive species (E. Bayne et al., 2022; Small et al., 2018).

### 5.8 Other stressors

Shonfield and Bayne (2017a) present best practices for using autonomous recording units to remotely monitor bird songs.

## 6. Gaps in Mitigation and Monitoring Knowledge

Despite the large size of the annotated bibliography, knowledge gaps are present. Here, we only provide a cursory review of major gaps we observed while preparing this annotated bibliography.

### 6.1 Wetlands, migratory birds and species-at-risk

The links between these wetlands in Hudson Bay Lowland or the adjacent Boreal Sheld and migratory birds or species at risk are tenuous. For many species, the distribution in this region and their habitat uses are poorly known. For instance, several species, such as at-risk bats or bumblebees have few sightings and mostly from human settlements in the region, so we have little idea of the importance of bogs, fens, string fens or other wetland types for these species in this region. Even the distribution of migratory birds is very patchy across this region, and few detailed data are available on their habitat use (Cadman et al., 2007; Robert et al., 2019). Data on species distribution and the use of different wetland and peatland habitats are required to understand how to best mitigate impacts from proposed development activities in the Ring-of-Fire region.

### 6.2 Mitigation options for the Hudson Bay Lowland and Boreal Shield

We could only find 45 documents out of 536 documents on 'mitigation hierarchy' to date (8.4% of mitigation documents) that dealt with mitigation options specifically in the Hudson Bay Lowland or the adjacent Boreal Shield. Most of these documents were federal

or provincial recovery strategies for species-at-risk; they are only linked with the Hudson Bay Lowland via their species range maps, which can be tenuous as mentioned above.

If we eliminated the 'migratory birds' and 'species-at-risk' from our search, we could only find 16 documents that discuss mitigation measures in peatlands or other wetlands in the Hudson Bay Lowland or the adjacent Boreal Shield. Given the overwhelming predominance of wetlands, especially peatlands, in the Ring-of-Fire region, this is clearly insufficient. It will be important to adapt and test mitigation techniques or develop new mitigation options specifically for the Ring-of-Fire region.

Best management practices could be developed based on studies elsewhere until regionspecific mitigation protocols are tested and established. Efforts would then be needed to ensure that mine and road planners and engineers are aware of, understand and apply these best practices.

### 6.3 Mining innovations and wetland mitigation

Mitigation mining or road construction impacts to wetlands and peatlands in the Ring-of-Fire region relies on two broad areas of knowledge: (i) wetland and peatland sciences, and (ii) mining or road engineering design. The cross-pollination of these fields of knowledge will lead to the best mitigation measures and the best approaches to monitor their success (Mitsch, 1993, 2014).

The annotated bibliography and this report provide great detail on mitigation measures in peatland and wetland science. However, they only slightly touch the mine or road engineering solutions that could help mitigate impacts to the wetlands in the Ring-of-Fire region. A separate review is needed on the sound road construction or mining mitigation options, and gaps in our knowledge, on how to avoid hydrological alteration to peatlands, minimize fertility changes or contamination in this landscape, minimize vegetation or substrate disturbance, avoid methylmercury production, and minimize noise and wildlife collisions.

For instance, we did include techniques such as paste tailings or cemented tailings for mine infill, which could reduce the mining footprint and thereby limit the ecosystem conversion of peatlands and other wetlands. But other innovations must exist or could be developed in the fields of low footprint mine design, sound road design to minimize hydrological alteration across roads, cold weather treatment wetland design, or advanced filtration techniques to treat mine drainage waters, to name but a few.

Mitsch (2014) pointed out the need for engineers and ecologists to work together and learn from one another to find appropriate solutions to large environmental problems in wetland science. Perhaps one way forward is to ensure that this annotated bibliography is shared with engineers working on the design of the Ring-of-Fire mines and roads. Another good step would be to organize workshops between wetland scientists and engineers to develop best practices on mine and road design applicable to the Ring-of-Fire region.

## 7. Interim Best Mitigation Guidelines

We have brought together over 1,200 documents, of which 536 (to date) discuss mitigation practices or mitigation research applicable to wetlands in the Ring-of-Fire region. They originate from disparate sources: environmental management of the Alberta oil sands; the Canadian peat extraction industry; blanket bog restoration in the UK; peatland restoration after agriculture or forest harvest across Europe; and mine water management in Scandinavia, to name a few. The next steps are to digest this material, synthesize it, propose best practices and identify detailed knowledge gaps on the mitigation of wetlands in the Ring-of-Fire region.

We do not attempt to provide this detailed synthesis here. More time and a broader suite of expertise are required. However, broad themes emerge that allow us to identify interim best mitigation guidelines to apply while considering developments in the Ring-of-Fire region. We present these interim mitigation guidelines below, giving general guidelines first, followed by guidelines for each stressor in the order presented above.

### 7.1 General

- 1. <u>Strictly apply the mitigation hierarchy:</u> The Hudson Bay Lowland and the adjacent Boreal Shield are sensitive environments of global importance. Where avoidance of impacts is possible, do so. If impacts cannot be avoided, minimizing them. Plan to restore on the same site only if minimization is not realistic. Consider offsetting elsewhere only if you cannot restore. As a last resort, compensate.
- 2. <u>Collaborate among disciplines:</u> The Hudson Bay Lowland and the adjacent Boreal Shield are novel environments in which to design roads and mines. Many standard engineering design practices will not be applicable, and innovation will be required. Understanding how to proceed will require collaboration between design engineers and environmental scientists and hydrologists, especially those with peatland expertise. Working together, interdisciplinary design teams will have greater ability to avoid or minimize impacts to these wetlands and to restore them if they are damaged.
- 3. <u>Minimize footprints:</u> Mine development footprints will remove wetlands in the Ring-of-Fire region, mostly peatland. Some wetlands may be restored following mine closure, but some will not. Minimizing the footprint of mine developments and associated infrastructure and roads will minimize the overall impacts on wetlands. For instance, favouring underground mines instead of open pits should reduce the mine footprint because open pits have larger surface footprints and also require surface disposal of

non-ore waste rock. The use of paste tailings and tailings infill in underground mines could also limit the surface area of tailings facilities.

4. <u>Biomonitoring program</u>: Devise and apply a strong biomonitoring program using most informative bioindicators prior to mining developments for early detection of environmental change (e.g., E. Bayne et al., 2022). Early detection will allow best adaptive mitigation.

### 7.2 Hydrological alteration

- 5. <u>Place mine or road footprints on uplands:</u> Placing mine or road footprints on uplands will avoid or minimize hydrological alterations to wetlands. However, given the scarcity of uplands in the Hudson Bay Lowland and their consequent value for biodiversity, weigh the ecological importance of these uplands and evaluate these impacts as well.
- 6. <u>Understand peatland flow paths:</u> Surface water and groundwater movement through peatland systems is complex, but water generally flows from bog systems to fen systems, including string fens, before they enter streams and larger water courses. Understand the flow paths and water volumes in these fens and water courses to determine the potential for any hydrologic alterations and find the best sites for mine footprints and linear disturbances.
- 7. <u>Minimize disturbance to flow paths:</u> Avoid placing mine footprints over water courses or in fens. Where roads are required to cross peatlands, preferentially rout them parallel to fen flow paths or watercourses and not across them (Volik et al., 2020).
- 8. <u>Ensure adequate crossflow:</u> Where roads are constructed in peatlands, install engineered products (e.g., corduroy, geogrid, geocell, culverts) to retain natural crossflow (MacKenzie & Renkema, 2013; Osko et al., 2018), thereby avoiding flooding on one side and water table drawdown on the other. Monitor wells to ensure that hydrological alterations do not occur.
- 9. <u>Mine dewatering:</u> Evaluate the susceptibility of surrounding peatlands to mine dewatering. Innovate techniques to minimize mine dewatering impacts to surface peatlands.
- 10. <u>Monitor hydrology:</u> Given the importance of hydrology and its alteration to wetlands and peatlands, it will be critical to set up a hydrological monitoring network to follow changes in wetland hydrology. This can be done through a network of hydrological and climatological stations (Eaton & Charette, 2016; Volik et al., 2020) to set a strong baseline and then continuous follow any shifts. Remote sensing of the hydrology will be important as well (e.g., Neta et al., 2011; Olthof & Fraser, 2024). Given expected change in peatland hydrology from climate change, ensure that any monitoring system

can adequately separate anthropogenic changes from climate-induced changes in hydrology.

## 7.3 Fertility change and contamination

- 11. <u>Avoid and monitor for acid rock drainage:</u> Test all mine rock and wastes for acid generating potential. If acid-generating, apply best practices to avoid acid generation (INAP, 2018; e.g., Zinck & Griffith, 2013). Consider desulphurizing tailings to reduce the risk of acid rock generation (e.g., Alam & Shang, 2012). Closely monitor drainage waters for acid rock generation and total metal release.
- 12. <u>Avoid and monitor for hexavalent chromium</u>: Evaluate current best practices to avoid all release of hexavalent chromium (Cr(VI)) (du Preez et al., 2023), and, if they are adequate to this region, apply them. If not, innovate to avoid Cr(VI) release. Monitor for Cr(VI).
- 13. <u>Minimize and monitor fugitive dust:</u> Apply best management guidelines (BCMEMLCI & BCMECCS, 2023; OMECC, 2017) to avoid or minimize fugitive dust emissions from mining operations, including from tailings facilities. Monitor fugitive dust emissions.
- 14. <u>Monitor and filter mine water discharges:</u> Monitor mine water discharge quality. If needed, incorporate treatment systems to remove sulphate and trace metals from mine water discharges, including treatment wetlands or filtration systems. Cold climate treatment peatlands in Scandinavia have a long track record (e.g., Kujala et al., 2019). Innovations using peat or peat-derived biochar may be designed to filter trace metals from mine waters (Balan et al., 2009; S.-J. Lee et al., 2015).

# 7.4 Vegetation or substrate disturbance

- 15. <u>Encourage winter construction work:</u> Working on frozen ground will minimize disturbances to the substrate. Ensure that the ground is well frozen before using heavy machinery. Passing with snowmobiles beforehand will compact the snow cover and force frost deeper in the soil (D. Campbell & Bergeron, 2012). Winter work will also reduce the impacts to fauna, especially migratory birds.
- 16. <u>Restore peatland disturbances:</u> Where disturbances to peatlands unavailable, apply best restoration practices, such as adapting the moss layer transfer technique because in moss dominated ecosystems, it is paramount to reintroduce moss material (Quinty et al., 2019, 2020a, 2020b, 2020c).

## 7.5 Landscape conversion and fragmentation

17. <u>Minimize then restore linear disturbances</u>: Where mine exploration creates seismicline-like disturbances, apply low impact practices for these features (Filicetti et al., 2023). Where linear disturbances such as seismic lines, roads or buried pipelines occur, use best practices to restore these sites back to peatland ecosystems with suitable microtopography (e.g., Alberta Environment and Parks, 2017).

18. <u>Minimize fragmentation and monitor wildlife use:</u> The mine footprints and the roads, pipelines, seismic lines and other linear disturbances will fragment the wetland and peatland landscape of the Ring-of-Fire region. In the Alberta oil sands, this fragmentation impacts boreal populations of caribou by allowing preferential corridors for predators. Minimize this fragmentation and monitor the preferential use of linear features by wildlife.

## 7.6 Melthylmercury

19. <u>Monitor for mercury and sulphate:</u> Monitor for mercury and methylmercury. Also monitor for sulphate since it is associated with methylmercury production. This should be especially the case where there are larger areas with substrate disturbances, flooding, or nutrient enrichment. Early detection will aid in mitigation.

## 7.7 Invasive species

20. <u>Avoid and monitor for invasive species</u>: Use Riley (2003) to determine native and nonnative species to the region. Apply available guidelines (Halloran et al., 2013) to avoid the spread of invasive species. Monitor the spread continuously and apply remedies promptly.

## 8. Literature Cited

- Aerts, R., Wallen, B., & Malmer, N. (1992). Growth-limiting nutrients in *Sphagnum*-dominated bogs subject to low and high atmospheric nitrogen supply. *Journal of Ecology*, 80(1), 131–140.
- Alam, R., & Shang, J. (2012). Effect of operating parameters on desulphurization of mine tailings by froth flotation. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 97, 122–130.
- Alberta Environment and Parks. (2017). Visual Guide for Implementing the Restoration and Establishment Framework in Woodland Caribou Habitat. Alberta Environment and Parks.
- Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks. (2017). *Reclamation Criteria for Wellsites and Associated Facilities for Peatlands*. Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks.
- Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks. (2020). *Reclamation Practices and Criteria for Powerlines*. Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks.
- Alexandrov, G., Brovkin, V., Kleinen, T., & Yu, Z. (2020). The capacity of northern peatlands for long-term carbon sequestration. *Biogeosciences*, *17*(1), 47–54.
- Allan, J., Guêné-Nanchen, M., Rochefort, L., Douglas, D., & Axmacher, J. (2024). Meta-analysis reveals that enhanced practices accelerate vegetation recovery during peatland restoration. *Restoration Ecology*, *32*(3).
- Allen, B. E., Azeria, E. T., & Bried, J. T. (2021). Linking functional diversity, trait composition, invasion, and environmental drivers in boreal wetland plant assemblages. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, *32*(5), n/a-n/a.
- Anicic, M., Tomasevic, M., Tasic, M., Rajsic, S., Popovic, A., Frontasyeva, M., Lierhagen, S., & Steinnes, E. (2009).
   Monitoring of trace element atmospheric deposition using dry and wet moss bags: accumulation capacity versus exposure time. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 171(1–3), 182–188.
- APTHQ. (2021). Fire Emergency Response Guide for Peatlands (Fields). Association de producteurs de tourbe horticole du Québec Québec Peat Moss Producers Association.
- APTHQ. (2024). Best Practices Guide for Extracting Mired Equipment in Peat Fields. Association de producteurs de tourbe horticole du Québec Québec Peat Moss Producers Association.
- Ares, A., Aboal, J., Carballeira, A., & Fernández, J. A. (2015). Do moss bags containing devitalized *Sphagnum denticulatum* reflect heavy metal concentrations in bulk deposition? *Ecological Indicators*, 50, 90–98.
- Arlidge, W. N. S., Bull, J. W., Addison, P. F. E., Burgass, M. J., Gianuca, D., Gorham, T. M., Jacob, C., Shumway, N., Sinclair, S. P., Watson, J. E. M., Wilcox, C., & Milner-Gulland, E. J. (2018). A global mitigation hierarchy for nature conservation. *BioScience*, 68(5), 336–347.
- Baasch, D. M., Hegg, A. M., Dwyer, J. F., Caven, A. J., Taddicken, W. E., Worley, C. A., Medaries, A. H., Wagner, C. G., Dunbar, P. G., & Mittman, N. D. (2022). Mitigating avian collisions with power lines through illumination with ultraviolet light. Avian Conservation and Ecology, 17(2).
- Baena-Moreno, F. M., Leventaki, E., Riddell, A., Wojtasz-Mucha, J., & Bernin, D. (2023). Effluents and residues from industrial sites for carbon dioxide capture: a review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, *21*(1), 319–337.
- Baird, K., Buse, C. G., Hanna, K., Krehbiel, R., & Ogen, K. (2023). *Impact Benefit Agreements: Key Insights from First Nations', Government and Industry Leaders*. First Nations Liquefied Natural Gas Alliance.
- Balan, C., Bilba, D., & Macoveanu, M. (2009). Sphagnum moss peat as a potential sorbent and reductant for chromium (VI) removal from aqueous solutions. *Cellulose Chemistry and Technology*, 43(1–3), 99–104.
- Ball, J., Gimona, A., Cowie, N., Hancock, M., Klein, D., Donaldson-Selby, G., & Artz, R. R. E. (2023). Assessing the potential of using Sentinel-1 and 2 or high-resolution aerial imagery data with machine learning and data science techniques to model peatland restoration progress - a northern Scotland case study. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 44(9), 2885–2911.
- Balliston, N. E., & Price, J. S. (2023). Aquifer depressurization and water table lowering induces landscape scale subsidence and hydrophysical change in peatlands of the Hudson Bay Lowlands. *Science of the Total Environment*, 855.

- Banskota, A., Falkowski, M. J., Smith, A. M. S., Kane, E. S., Meingast, K. M., Bourgeau-Chavez, L. L., Miller, M. E., & French, N. H. (2017). Continuous wavelet analysis for spectroscopic determination of subsurface moisture and watertable height in northern peatland ecosystems. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 55(3), 1526–1536.
- Bargagli, R. (2016). Moss and lichen biomonitoring of atmospheric mercury: a review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 572, 216–231.
- Barnas, A., Darby, B., Vandeberg, G., Rockwell, R., & Ellis-Felege, S. (2019). A comparison of drone imagery and groundbased methods for estimating the extent of habitat destruction by lesser snow geese (Anser caerulescens caerulescens) in La Perouse Bay. PLOS ONE, 14(8).
- Bayne, E., Dennett, J., Dooley, J., Kohler, M., Ball, J., Bidwell, M., Braid, A., Chetelat, J., Dillegeard, E., Farr, D., Fisher, J., Freemark, M., Foster, K., Godwin, C., Hebert, C., Huggard, D., McIssac, D., Narwani, T., Nielsen, S., ... Mundy, L. (2022). A Before-After Dose-Response (BADR) Terrestrial Biological Monitoring Framework for the Oil Sands. Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks, Resource Stewardship Division.
- Bayne, E. M., Habib, L., & Boutin, S. (2008). Impacts of chronic anthropogenic noise from energy-sector activity on abundance of songbirds in the boreal forest. *Conservation Biology*, *22*(5), 1186–1193.
- BBOP. (2009). Biodiversity Offset Design Handbook. Business and Biodiversity Offsets Programme.
- BCME. (2015a). Assessing the Design, Size, and Operation of Sediment Ponds Used in Mining, Version 1.0 (Environmental Management Act Technical Guidance 7, p. 23). British Columbia Ministry of Environment.
- BCME. (2015b). Developing a Mining Erosion and Sediment Control Plan. British Columbia Ministry of Environment.
- BCMECCS. (2018a). Guidance on Preparing Nitrogen Management Plans for Mines using Ammonium Nitrate Fuel Oil Products for Blasting. British Colombia Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy.
- BCMECCS. (2018b). *Preparing Spill Contingency Plans*. British Colombia Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy.
- BCMEMLCI, & BCMECCS. (2023). Developing a Fugitive Dust Management Plan for Mines in BC: Technical Guidance. British Colombia Ministry of Energy, Mines and Low Carbon Innovation and British Colombia Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy.
- Beadle, J., Holden, J., & Brown, L. (2023). Landscape-scale peatland rewetting benefits aquatic invertebrate communities. *Biological Conservation*, 283.
- Bell, A., & Hedges, S. (2016). Biodiversity Offsetting in Ontario: Issues, Accomplishments and Future Directions. Summary of Ontario Nature's 2014-2016 Project. Ontario Nature.
- Bérubé, M., & Lavoie, C. (2000). The natural revegetation of a vacuum-mined peatland: eight years of monitoring. *Canadian Field-Naturalist*, 114(2), 279–286.
- Bérubé, V., Rochefort, L., & Lavoie, C. (2017). Fen restoration: defining a reference ecosystem using paleoecological stratigraphy and present-day inventories. *Botany*, *95*(7), 731–750.
- Besold, J., Eberle, A., Noël, V., Kujala, K., Kumar, N., Scheinost, A. C., Pacheco, J. L., Fendorf, S., & Planer-Friedrich, B. (2019). Antimonite binding to natural organic matter: spectroscopic evidence from a mine water impacted peatland. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 53(18), 10792–10802.
- Beukes, J. P., du Preez, S. P., van Zyl, P. G., Paktunc, D., Fabritius, T., Paatalo, M., & Cramer, M. (2017). Review of Cr(VI) environmental practices in the chromite mining and smelting industry – Relevance to development of the Ring of Fire, Canada. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 165, 874–889.
- Beyer, F., Jurasinski, G., Couwenberg, J., & Grenzdörffer, G. (2019). Multisensor data to derive peatland vegetation communities using a fixed-wing unmanned aerial vehicle. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 40(24), 9103–9125.
- Biagi, K. M., Clark, M. G., & Carey, S. K. (2021). Hydrological functioning of a constructed peatland watershed in the Athabasca oil sands region: potential trajectories and lessons learned. *Ecological Engineering*, 166.

- Biagi, K. M., Oswald, C. J., Nicholls, E. M., & Carey, S. K. (2019). Increases in salinity following a shift in hydrologic regime in a constructed wetland watershed in a post-mining oil sands landscape. Science of the Total Environment, 653, 1445–1457.
- Biebighauser, T. R. (2015). Wetland Restoration and Construction: A Technical Guide. The Wetland Trust.
- Bird, M., & Xu, B. (2021a). Donor Moss Transfer: How and When to Use in Peatland Restoration (Peatland Restoration Technical Note #42). Centre for Boreal Research, NAIT.
- Bird, M., & Xu, B. (2021b). *Hydrology and Microtopography Importance for Wetland Reclamation* (Peatland Resttoration Technical Note #44). Centre for Boreal Research, NAIT.
- Bird, M., & Xu, B. (2021c). *Natural Ingression and Supplemental Planting for Revegetation of Reclaimed Wetlands* (Peatland Restoration TechnicalNote #45). Centre for Boreal Research, NAIT.
- Bird, M., Xu, B., Goehing, J., & Brown, C. (2016). *Wood Chip Overburden Reclamation in Peatland* (Peatland Restoration Technical Note #23). Centre for Boreal Research, NAIT.
- Bird, M., Xu, B., Sobze, J.-M., Schoonmaker, A., & Rochefort, L. (2017). *Wellsite Clay Pad Removal and Peat Inversion* (Peatland Restoration Technical Note #24). Centre for Boreal Research, NAIT.
- Bishay, F., & Kadlec, R. H. (2005). Wetland treatment at Musselwhite Mine, Ontario, Canada. In J. Vymazal (Ed.), *Natural and Constructed Wetlands: Nutrients, Metals and Management* (pp. 176–198). Backhuys Publishers,.
- Bocking, E., Cooper, D. J., & Price, J. (2017). Using tree ring analysis to determine impacts of a road on a boreal peatland. Forest Ecology and Management, 404, 24–30.
- Bois-Charlebois, M. (2018). Les défis de la compensation écologique des impacts sur les milieux humides dans le nord du Québec : étude de cas en territoire Cri [M.A., Université du Québec à Montréal and Université du Québec en Abitibi-Témiscamingue].
- Bonham-Carter, G., & Kettles, I. (2001). Estimating the size of a metal anomaly around a base-metal smelter in Quebec, Canada, using peatland data: A Monte Carlo error analysis. In D. Merriam & J. Davis (Eds.), *Geologic Modeling and Simulation: Sedimentary Systems* (WOS:000175891400016; pp. 303–326).
- Boquete, M., Ares, A., Fernández, J., & Aboal, J. (2020). Matching times: trying to improve the correlation between heavy metal levels in mosses and bulk deposition. *Science of the Total Environment*, *715*.
- Borkenhagen, A. K., & Cooper, D. J. (2019). Establishing vegetation on a constructed fen in a post-mined landscape in Alberta's oil sands region: A four-year evaluation after species introduction. *Ecological Engineering*, 130, 11–22.
- Bourgeau-Chavez, L. L., Endres, S., Powell, R., Battaglia, M. J., Benscoter, B., Turetsky, M., Kasischke, E. S., & Banda, E. (2017). Mapping boreal peatland ecosystem types from multitemporal radar and optical satellite imagery. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, *47*(4), 545–559.
- Bourgeois, B., Lemay, M., Landry, T., Rochefort, L., & Poulin, M. (2019). Seed storage behaviour of eight peatland pool specialists: Implications for restoration. *Aquatic Botany*, *152*, 59–63.
- Braaten, H. F. V., & de Wit, H. A. (2016). Effects of disturbance and vegetation type on total and methylmercury in boreal peatland and forest soils. *Environmental Pollution*, *218*, 140–149.
- Bradley, A., Andersen, R., Marshall, C., Sowter, A., & Large, D. (2022). Identification of typical ecohydrological behaviours using InSAR allows landscape-scale mapping of peatland condition. *Earth Surface Dynamics*, *10*(2), 261–277.
- Bragazza, L., Freeman, C., Jones, T., Rydin, H., Limpens, J., Fenner, N., Ellis, T., Gerdol, R., Hájek, M., Hájek, T., Lacumin, P., Kutnar, L., Tahvanainen, T., & Toberman, H. (2006). Atmospheric nitrogen deposition promotes carbon loss from peat bogs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(51), 19386–19389.
- Branfireun, B. A., Krabbenhoft, D. P., Hintelmann, H., Hunt, R. J., Hurley, J. P., & Rudd, J. W. M. (2005). Speciation and transport of newly deposited mercury in a boreal forest wetland: a stable mercury isotope approach. *Water Resources Research*, *41*(6), 1–11.
- Branfireun, B., & Roulet, N. (2002). Controls on the fate and transport of methylmercury in a boreal headwater catchment, northwestern Ontario, Canada. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 6(4), 783–794.

- Brazeau, M. (2012). Historical Deposition and Microbial Redox Cycling of Mercury in Lake Sediments from the Hudson Bay Lowlands, Ontario, Canada (PQDT:52037697) [M. Sc., University of Ottawa].
- Breeuwer, A., Robroek, B. J. M., Limpens, J., Heijmans, M., Schouten, M. G. C., & Berendse, F. (2009). Decreased summer water table depth affects peatland vegetation. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, *10*(4), 330–339.
- Brisson, J., de Blois, S., & Lavoie, C. (2010). Roadside as invasion pathway for common reed (*Phragmites australis*). Invasive Plant Science and Management, 3(4), 506–514.
- Bubier, J. L., Moore, T. R., & Bledzki, L. A. (2007). Effects of nutrient addition on vegetation and carbon cycling in an ombrotrophic bog. *Global Change Biology*, *13*(6), 1168–1186.
- Cadman, M. D., Sutherland, D. A., Beck, G. G., Lepage, D., & Couturier, A. R. (2007). *Atlas of Breeding Birds of Ontario* 2001-2005. Bird Studies Canada, Environment Canada, Ontario Field Ornithologists, Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources, and Ontario Nature.
- Cairngorms National Park Authority. (2022). *Wave Damming & Zippering Method Technique Guide*. NatureScot Peatland ACTION.
- Campbell, D., & Bergeron, J. (2012). Natural revegetation of winter roads on peatlands in the Hudson Bay Lowland, Canada. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 44(2), 155–163.
- Campbell, D., & Corson, A. (2014). Can mulch and fertilizer alone rehabilitate surface-disturbed subarctic peatlands? Ecological Restoration, 32(2), 153–159.
- Campbell, D. R., Rochefort, L., & Lavoie, C. (2003). Determining the immigration potential of plants colonizing disturbed environments: the case of milled peatlands in Québec. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *40*, 78–91.
- Caners, R. T., & Lieffers, V. J. (2014). Divergent pathways of successional recovery for *in situ* oil sands exploration drilling pads on wooded moderate-rich fens in Alberta, Canada. *Restoration Ecology*, *22*(5), 657–667.
- Carless, D., Luscombe, D. J., Gatis, N., Anderson, K., & Brazier, R. E. (2019). Mapping landscape-scale peatland degradation using airborne lidar and multispectral data. *Landscape Ecology*, *34*(6), 1329–1345.
- CCME. (1999a). Canadian Soil Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Environmental and Human Health: Chromium. Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment.
- CCME. (1999b). Canadian Soil Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Environmental and Human Health: Copper. Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment.
- CCME. (1999c). Canadian Water Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life: Chromium (Hexavalent Chromium, Trivalent Chromium). Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment.
- CCME. (2000). Canadian Tissue Residue Guidelines for the Protection of Wildlife Consumers of Aquatic Biota: Methylmercury. Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment.
- CCME. (2003). Canadian Water Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life: Mercury Inorganic Mercury and Methylmercury. Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment.
- CCME. (2015). Canadian Soil Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Environmental and Human Health: Nickel. Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment.
- CEAA. (2011). Comprehensive Study Report: Detour Lake Gold Mine. Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency.
- Cecala, A. B., O'Brien, A. D., Schall, J., Colinet, J. F., Franta, R. J., Schultz, M. J., Haas, E. J., Robinson, J. E., Patts, J., Holen, B. M., Stein, R., Weber, J., Strebel, M., Wilson, L., & Ellis, M. (2019). Dust Control Handbook for Industrial Minerals Mining and Processing, Second Edition. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Chapin, C. T., Bridgham, S. D., Pastor, J., & Updegraff, K. (2003). Nitrogen, phosphorus, and carbon mineralization in response to nutrient and lime additions in peatlands. *Soil Science*, *168*(6), 409–420.
- Chasmer, L., Lima, E. M., Mahoney, C., Hopkinson, C., Montgomery, J., & Cobbaert, D. (2021). Shrub changes with proximity to anthropogenic disturbance in boreal wetlands determined using bi-temporal airborne lidar in the Oil Sands Region, Alberta Canada. *Science of the Total Environment*, *780*, 146638.

- Chatterjee, S., Deb, U., Datta, S., Walther, C., & Gupta, D. K. (2017). Common explosives (TNT, RDX, HMX) and their fate in the environment: emphasizing bioremediation. *Chemosphere*, *184*(Complete), 438–451.
- Chen, N., Barraza, F., Belland, R. J., Javed, M. B., Grant-Weaver, I., Cuss, C. W., & Shotyk, W. (2024). Estimating the bioaccessibility of atmospheric trace elements within the Athabasca bituminous sands region using the acid soluble ash fraction of *Sphagnum* moss. *Environmental Science: Atmospheres*, *4*(3), 408–424.
- Churchill, A. C., Turetsky, M. R., McGuire, A. D., & Hollingsworth, T. N. (2015). Response of plant community structure and primary productivity to experimental drought and flooding in an Alaskan fen. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, *45*(2), 185–193.
- Clark, M., Humphreys, E., & Carey, S. (2019). The initial three years of carbon dioxide exchange between the atmosphere and a reclaimed oil sand wetland. *Ecological Engineering*, *135*, 116–126.
- Cleaver, A. E., Jamieson, H. E., Rickwood, C. J., & Huntsman, P. (2021). Tailings dust characterization and impacts on surface water chemistry at an abandoned Zn-Pb-Cu-Au-Ag deposit. *Applied Geochemistry*, *128*, 104927.
- Cleaver, A. E., White, H. P., Rickwood, C. J., Jamieson, H. E., & Huntsman, P. (2022). Field comparison of fugitive tailings dust sampling and monitoring methods. *Science of the Total Environment*, 823.
- Comber, S., Lunt, P., Taylor, M., Underwood, N., Crocker, R., & Schindler, R. (2023). Restoration management of phosphorus pollution on lowland fen peatlands: A data evidence review from the Somerset Levels and Moors. *Agricultural Water Management*, 287.
- Corson, A., & Campbell, D. (2013). Testing protocols to restore disturbed *Sphagnum*-dominated peatlands in the Hudson Bay Lowland, Canada. *Wetlands*, 33(2), 291–299.
- COSSARO. (2023). Species.
- Coulas, M., Parsons, C., Saraswati, S., & Strack, M. (2021). Organic matter decomposition at a constructed fen in the Athabasca Oil Sands region: effect of substrate type and environmental conditions. *Science of the Total Environment*, 776.
- Courchesne, M., Pellerin, S., Bachand, M., Côté, S., & Poulin, M. (2018). Chronic deer browsing leads to biotic homogenization of minerotrophic peatlands. *Botany*, 96(8), 499–509.
- Csavina, J., Field, J., Taylor, M. P., Gao, S., Landázuri, A., Betterton, E. A., & Sáez, A. E. (2012). A review on the importance of metals and metalloids in atmospheric dust and aerosol from mining operations. *Science of the Total Environment*, 433, 58–73.
- Davidson, S., Smith, M., Prystupa, E., Murray, K., Nwaishi, F., Petrone, R., & Strack, M. (2021). High sulfate concentrations maintain low methane emissions at a constructed fen over the first seven years of ecosystem development. *Science of the Total Environment*, 789.
- Davies, M. A., Blewett, J., Naafs, B. D. A., & Finkelstein, S. A. (2021). Ecohydrological controls on apparent rates of peat carbon accumulation in a boreal bog record from the Hudson Bay Lowlands, northern Ontario, Canada. *Quaternary Research*, 104, 14–27.
- De Beers Canada. (2004). Victor Diamond Project Comprehensive Study Report. De Beers Canada.
- De Beers Canada Victor Mine. (2024). Mercury Performance Monitoring 2023 Annual Report Per Environmental Compliance Approval #3960-7Q4K2G Conditions 7(5) And 7(6). De Beers Group of Companies.
- De Guzman, E. M. B., & Alfaro, M. C. (2016). Performance of road embankments on seasonally-frozen peat foundations with and without corduroy bases. *Journal of Performance of Constructed Facilities*, 30(6), 04016051.
- De Guzman, E. M. B., & Alfaro, M. C. (2018). Geotechnical properties of fibrous and amorphous peats for the construction of road embankments. *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*, *30*(7).
- Deane, P. J., Wilkinson, S. L., Verkaik, G. J., Moore, P. A., Schroeder, D., & Waddington, J. M. (2022). Peat surface compression reduces smouldering fire potential as a novel fuel treatment for boreal peatlands. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, *52*(3), 396–405.
- Deepa, A., Mastan, A., Buddolla, V., Kumar, Y. A., Lakshmi, B. A., & Kim, Y. J. (2025). Bioremediation approaches for chromium detoxification and transformation: advanced strategies and future perspectives. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, 196.

- DeMars, C. A., & Boutin, S. (2018). Nowhere to hide: effects of linear features on predator-prey dynamics in a large mammal system. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *87*(1), 274–284.
- Deschamps, L., Maire, V., Chen, L., Fortier, D., Gauthier, G., Morneault, A., Hardy-Lachance, E., Dalcher-Gosselin, I., Tanguay, F., Gignac, C., McKenzie, J., Rochefort, L., & Lévesque, E. (2023). Increased nutrient availability speeds up permafrost development, while goose grazing slows it down in a Canadian High Arctic wetland. *Journal of Ecology*, *111*(2), 449–463.
- Desrochers, A., & Rochefort, L. (2021). Avian recolonization of unrestored and restored bogs in Eastern Canada. *bioRxiv*, 2021.11.26.470119.
- Douse, A., & Artz, R. (2022). Peatland Restoration and Breeding Birds: Undertaking Work in the Bird Breeding Season.
- Drever, C., Cook-Patton, S., Akhter, F., Badiou, P., Chmura, G., Davidson, S., Desjardins, R., Dyk, A., Fargione, J., Fellows,
   M., Filewod, B., Hessing-Lewis, M., Jayasundara, S., Keeton, W., Kroeger, T., Lark, T., Le, E., Leavitt, S., Leclerc,
   M., ... Kurz, W. (2021). Natural climate solutions for Canada. Science Advances, 7(23).
- Driscoll, C. T., Mason, R. P., Chan, H. M., Jacob, D. J., & Pirrone, N. (2013). Mercury as a global pollutant: sources, pathways, and effects. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *47*(10), 4967–4983.
- du Preez, S. P., van Kaam, T. P. M., Ringdalen, E., Tangstad, M., Morita, K., Bessarabov, D. G., van Zyl, P. G., & Beukes, J. P. (2023). An overview of currently applied ferrochrome production processes and their waste management practices. *Minerals*, *13*(6).
- Dubé, C., Pellerin, S., & Poulin, M. (2011). Do power line rights-of-way facilitate the spread of non-peatland and invasive plants in bogs and fens? *Botany*, 89(2), 91–103.
- Dubé, S., Plamondon, A. P., & Rothwell, R. L. (1995). Watering up after clear-cutting on forested wetlands of the St. Lawrence Lowland. *Water Resources Research*, *31*(7), 1741–1750.
- Duchemin, E., Lucotte, M., Canuel, R., & Chamberland, A. (1995). Production of the greenhouse gases CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> by hydroelectric reservoirs of the boreal region. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 9(4), 529–540.
- Ducks Unlimited Canada. (2014). Forest Road Wetland Crossings: Learning from Field Trials in the Boreal Plains Ecozone of Manitoba and Saskatchewan, Canada. Ducks Unlimited Canada.
- Eaton, B., & Charette, T. (2016). Drivers, stressors, and indicators of wetland change in Alberta's Oil Sands Region potential for use in wetland monitoring. ABMI.
- ECCC. (2015). Third National Assessment of Environmental Effects Monitoring Information from Metal Mines Subject to the Metal Mining Effluent Regulations. Environment and Climate Change Canada.
- ECCC. (2020). Offsetting Policy for Biodiversity Draft. Environment and Climate Change Canada.
- ECCC. (2022). Species at Risk Act: COSEWIC assessments and status reports.
- Ecosystem Planning and Restoration. (2022). *Mitigation Bank Instrument Review Workbook*. United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- Environment Canada. (2009). Environmental Code of Practice for Metal Mines. Environment Canada.
- Environment Canada. (2012). *Metal Mining Technical Guidance for Environmental Effects Monitoring*. Environment Canada.
- Environmental Dynamics Inc. (2003). *Runoff, erosion and sediment control best management practices for Yukon placer mining operations*. Fisheries and Oceans Canada Habitat Management Sector.
- Eskelinen, R., Ronkanen, A. K., Marttila, H., & Kløve, B. (2015). Purification efficiency of a peatland-based treatment wetland during snowmelt and runoff events. *Ecological Engineering*, *84*, 169–179.
- Evans, C. D., Callaghan, N., Jaya, A., Grinham, A., Sjogersten, S., Page, S. E., Harrison, M. E., Kusin, K., Kho, L. K., Ledger, M., Evers, S., Mitchell, Z., Williamson, J., Radbourne, A. D., & Jovani-Sancho, A. J. (2021). A novel low-cost, highresolution camera system for measuring peat subsidence and water table dynamics. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 9.
- Far North Science Advisory Panel. (2010). Science for a Changing Far North. Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources.

- Farrick, K. K., & Price, J. S. (2009). Ericaceous shrubs on abandoned block-cut peatlands: implications for soil water availability and Sphagnum restoration. *Ecohydrology*, *2*(4), 530–540.
- Feldman, M., Mazerolle, M., Imbeau, L., & Fenton, N. (2024). Using camera traps to estimate habitat preferences and occupancy patterns of vertebrates in boreal wetlands. *Wetlands*, *44*(2).
- Ferguson, P., Robinson, R., Press, M., & Lee, J. (1984). Element concentrations in five *Sphagnum* species in relation to atmospheric pollution. *Journal of Bryology*, *13*, 107–114.
- Ficken, C. D., Connor, S. J., Rooney, R., & Cobbaert, D. (2022). Drivers, pressures, and state responses to inform long-term oil sands wetland monitoring program objectives. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 30(1), 47–66.
- Filicetti, A. T., Cody, M., & Nielsen, S. E. (2019). Caribou conservation: restoring trees on seismic lines in Alberta, Canada. Forests, 10(2).
- Filicetti, A. T., Tigner, J., Nielsen, S. E., Wolfenden, K., Taylor, M., & Bentham, P. (2023). Low-impact line construction retains and speeds recovery of trees on seismic lines in forested peatlands. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 53(11), 878–892.
- Finnegan, L., Pigeon, K. E., & MacNearney, D. (2019). Predicting patterns of vegetation recovery on seismic lines: Informing restoration based on understory species composition and growth. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 446, 175–192.
- Flemming, S., Nol, E., Kennedy, L., & Smith, P. (2019). Hyperabundant herbivores limit habitat availability and influence nest site selection of Arctic-breeding birds. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 56(4), 976–987.
- Forest Trends. (2018). Business and Offsetting Biodiversity Program: The Mitigation Hierarchy.
- Forestry Civil Engineering, & Scottish Natural Heritage. (2010). Floating Roads on Peat: A Report into Good Practice in Design, Construction and Use of Floating Roads on Peat with Particular Reference to Wind Farm Developments in Scotland.
- Fox, A., & Lehikoinen, A. (2024). Disappearing aapa mires and why we should care: unnoticed climate change exacerbates drainage effects on birds. *Ibis*.
- Fraixedas, S., Lindén, A., Meller, K., Lindstrom, Å., Keiss, O., Kålås, J., Husby, M., Leivits, A., Leivits, M., & Lehikoinen, A. (2017). Substantial decline of northern European peatland bird populations: consequences of drainage. *Biological Conservation*, 214, 223–232.
- Franklin, C. M. A., Filicetti, A. T., & Nielsen, S. E. (2021). Seismic line width and orientation influence microclimatic forest edge gradients and tree regeneration. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 492.
- Franks, D. M., Boger, D. V., Cote, C. M., & Mulligan, D. R. (2011). Sustainable development principles for the disposal of mining and mineral processing wastes. *Resources Policy*, *36*(2), 114–122.
- Gacnik, J., Zivkovic, I., Kotnik, J., Bozic, D., Tassone, A., Naccarato, A., Pirrone, N., Sprovieri, F., Steffen, A., & Horvat, M. (2024). Comparison of active measurements, lichen biomonitoring, and passive sampling for atmospheric mercury monitoring. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, *31*(24), 35800–35810.
- Gadallah, F. (2002). Historical vegetation reconstruction of a degraded sub-arctic coastal marsh using Landsat imagery and ancillary data. *Ecoscience*, *9*(2), 271–279.
- Gaffney, P., Hugron, S., Jutras, S., Marcoux, O., Raymond, S., & Rochefort, L. (2020). Ecohydrological change following rewetting of a deep-drained northern raised bog. *Ecohydrology*, *13*(5).
- Gagnon, F., Rochefort, L., & Lavoie, C. (2018). Spontaneous revegetation of a peatland in Manitoba after peat extraction: diversity of plant assemblages and restoration perspectives. *Botany*, 96(11), 779–791.
- Galloway, J., Galka, M., Swindles, G., Amesbury, M., Wolfe, S., Morse, P., Patterson, T., & Falck, H. (2020). Ecohydrological dynamics of a degrading subarctic peatland; implications for arsenic mobility. *Geophysical Research Abstracts*, 22.
- Gardner, T., Von Hase, A., Brownlie, S., Ekstrom, J., Pilgrim, J., Savy, C., Stephens, R., Treweek, J., Ussher, G., Ward, G., & Ten Kate, K. (2013). Biodiversity offsets and the challenge of achieving no net loss. *Conservation Biology*, *27*(6), 1254–1264.

- Garneau, C., Duchesne, S., & St-Hilaire, A. (2019). Comparison of modelling approaches to estimate trapping efficiency of sedimentation basins on peatlands used for peat extraction. *Ecological Engineering*, 133, 60–68.
- Gauthier, G., Bêty, J., Giroux, J.-F., & Rochefort, L. (2004). Trophic interactions in a high arctic snow goose colony. Integrative and Comparative Biology, 44(2), 119–129.
- Gauthier, M., Rochefort, L., Nadeau, L., Hugron, S., & Xu, B. (2018). Testing the moss layer transfer technique on mineral well pads constructed in peatlands. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, *26*(4), 475–487.
- Gautrey, S., Goodwill, J., & Van Zyl, D. (2018). A comparison of predicted groundwater impacts to observed effects at the Victor Diamond Mine, 11 years after the start of dewatering. *Proceedings of Mine Water Solutions 2018*.
- Gharedaghloo, B., & Price, J. S. (2018). Fate and transport of free-phase and dissolved-phase hydrocarbons in peat and peatlands: Developing a conceptual model. *Environmental Reviews*, *2*6(1), 55–68.
- Gharedaghloo, B., & Price, J. S. (2021). Assessing benzene and toluene adsorption with peat depth: Implications on their fate and transport. *Environmental Pollution*, 274.
- Ghazaryan, G., Krupp, L., Seyfried, S., Landgraf, N., & Nendel, C. (2024). Enhancing peatland monitoring through multisource remote sensing: optical and radar data applications. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 45(18), 6372–6394.
- Gibson, C., Chasmer, L., Thompson, D., Quinton, W., Flannigan, M., & Olefeldt, D. (2018). Wildfire as a major driver of recent permafrost thaw in boreal peatlands. *Nature Communications*, 9.
- Gignac, C., Rochefort, L., Gauthier, G., Lévesque, E., Maire, V., Deschamps, L., Pouliot, R., & Marchand-Roy, M. (2022). N/P addition is more likely than N addition alone to promote a transition from moss-dominated to graminoiddominated tundra in the high Arctic. *Atmosphere*, *13*(5).
- Gignac, L. D., & Beckett, P. J. (1986). The effect of smelting operations on peatlands near Sudbury, Ontario, Canada. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 64(6), 1138–1147.
- Gilmour, D., Jorat, E., Minto, A., & Tierney, I. (2022). Effectiveness of Construction Mitigation Measures to Avoid or Minimise Impact to Groundwater Dependent Wetlands and to Peat Hydrology.
- Girard, M., Lavoie, C., & Thériault, M. (2002). The regeneration of a highly disturbed ecosystem: a mined peatland in southern Quebec. *Ecosystems*, 5(3), 274–288.
- Glooschenko, W. A., & Capoblanco, J. A. (1982). Trace element content of northern Ontario peat. *Environmental Science* & Technology, 16(3), 187–188.
- Golder Associates. (2010). Literature Review of Current Fugitive Dust Control Practices within the Mining Industry.
- Golder Associates. (2015). Boreal Caribou Habitat Restoration Operational Toolkit for British Columbia.
- Gonzalez, E., & Rochefort, L. (2014). Drivers of success in 53 cutover bogs restored by a moss layer transfer technique. *Ecological Engineering*, 68, 279–290.
- Gordon, J., Quinton, W., Branfireun, B. A., & Olefeldt, D. (2016). Mercury and methylmercury biogeochemistry in a thawing permafrost wetland complex, Northwest Territories, Canada. *Hydrological Processes*, *30*(20), 3627–3638.
- Granath, G., Moore, P. A., Lukenbach, M. C., & Waddington, J. M. (2016). Mitigating wildfire carbon loss in managed northern peatlands through restoration. *Scientific Reports*, 6.
- GRET. (2016). *Restauration des tourbières minérotrophes: état des connaissances 2015*. Groupe de recherche en écologie des tourbières, Université Laval.
- Guêné-Nanchen, M., Hugron, S., & Rochefort, L. (2019). Harvesting surface vegetation does not impede self-recovery of *Sphagnum* peatlands. *Restoration Ecology*, *27*(1), 178–188.
- Guêné-Nanchen, M., LeBlanc, M., & Rochefort, L. (2022). Post-fire peatland vegetation recovery: a case study in open rich fens of the Canadian boreal forest. *Botany*, *100*(5), 435–447.
- Gunton, C., Batson, J., Gunton, T., Markey, S., & Dale, D. (2020). *Impact Benefit Agreement Guidebook*. Canadian International Resource and Development Institute and Simon Fraser University.

- Gupta, B., Curran, M., Hasan, S., & Ghosh, T. (2009). Adsorption characteristics of Cu and Ni on Irish peat moss. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 90(2), 954–960.
- Gupta, P. K., Gharedaghloo, B., & Price, J. S. (2023). Multiphase flow behavior of diesel in bog, fen, and swamp peats. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 255.
- Gupta, V., Courtemanche, J., Gunn, J., & Mykytczuk, N. (2020). Shallow floating treatment wetland capable of sulfate reduction in acid mine drainage impacted waters in a northern climate. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 263, 110351.
- Gutierrez-Pacheco, S., Lagacé, R., Hugron, S., Godbout, S., & Rochefort, L. (2021). Estimation of daily water table level with bimonthly measurements in restored ombrotrophic peatland. *Sustainability*, *13*(10).
- Habib, L., Bayne, E. M., & Boutin, S. (2007). Chronic industrial noise affects pairing success and age structure of ovenbirds Seiurus aurocapilla. Journal of Applied Ecology, 44(1), 176–184.
- Haghighi, A. T., Menberu, M. W., Darabi, H., Akanegbu, J., & Kløve, B. (2018). Use of remote sensing to analyse peatland changes after drainage for peat extraction. *Land Degradation & Development*, *2*9(10), 3479–3488.
- Halloran, J., Anderson, H., & Tassie, D. (2013). Clean Equipment Protocol for Industry: Inspecting and Cleaning Equipment for the Purposes of Invasive Species Prevention.
- Handa, I., Harmsen, R., & Jefferies, R. (2002). Patterns of vegetation change and the recovery potential of degraded areas in a coastal marsh system of the Hudson Bay lowlands. *Journal of Ecology*, 90(1), 86–99.
- Handa, I., & Jefferies, R. (2000). Assisted revegetation trials in degraded salt-marshes. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 37(6), 944–958.
- Hargan, K. E., Finkelstein, S. A., Ruhland, K. M., Packalen, M. S., Dalton, A. S., Paterson, A. M., Keller, W., & Smol, J. P. (2020). Post-glacial lake development and paleoclimate in the central Hudson Bay Lowlands inferred from sediment records. *Journal of Paleolimnology*, 64(1), 25–46.
- Hargan, K. E., Nelligan, C., Jeziorski, A., Ruhland, K. M., Paterson, A. M., Keller, W., & Smol, J. P. (2016). Tracking the longterm responses of diatoms and cladocerans to climate warming and human influences across lakes of the Ring of Fire in the Far North of Ontario, Canada. *Journal of Paleolimnology*, 56(2–3), 153–172.
- Hargan, K. E., Ruehland, K. M., Paterson, A. M., Finkelstein, S. A., Holmquist, J. R., MacDonald, G. M., Keller, W., & Smol, J.
   P. (2015). The influence of water-table depth and pH on the spatial distribution of diatom species in peatlands of the Boreal Shield and Hudson Plains, Canada. *Botany*, 93(2), 57–74.
- Harper, D., & Quigley, J. (2005). No net loss of fish habitat: a review and analysis of habitat compensation in Canada. *Environmental Management*, 36(3), 343–355.
- Harris, A., Charnock, R., & Lucas, R. M. (2015). Hyperspectral remote sensing of peatland floristic gradients. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, *162*, 99–111.
- Harris, L. I., Richardson, K., Bona, K. A., Davidson, S. J., Finkelstein, S. A., Garneau, M., McLaughlin, J., Nwaishi, F.,
  Olefeldt, D., Packalen, M., Roulet, N. T., Southee, F. M., Strack, M., Webster, K. L., Wilkinson, S. L., & Ray, J. C.
  (2022). The essential carbon service provided by northern peatlands. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 20(4), 222–230.
- Hasenack, S., Bell, A., & Wynia, M. (2023). Wetland Offsetting Policies for Local Planning Authorities: A Review of Wise Practices in Ontario. Ontario Nature.
- Heikkinen, K., Karppinen, A., Karjalainen, S. M., Postila, H., Hadzic, M., Tolkkinen, M., Marttila, H., Ihme, R., & Kløve, B. (2018). Long-term purification efficiency and factors affecting performance in peatland-based treatment wetlands: An analysis of 28 peat extraction sites in Finland. *Ecological Engineering*, *117*, 153–164.
- Heikkinen, R., Aapala, K., Leikola, N., & Aalto, J. (2022). Quantifying the climate exposure of priority habitat constrained to specific environmental conditions: boreal aapa mires. *Ecological Informatics*, *72*.
- Helbig, M., Waddington, J. M., Alekseychik, P., Amiro, B., Aurela, M., Barr, A. G., Black, T. A., Carey, S. K., Chen, J., Chi, J., Desai, A. R., Dunn, A., Euskirchen, E. S., Flanagan, L. B., Friborg, T., Garneau, M., Grelle, A., Harder, S., Heliasz, M., ... Schulze, C. (2020). The biophysical climate mitigation potential of boreal peatlands during the growing season. *Environmental Research Letters*, *15*(10), 104004.

- Hinzke, T., Li, G., Tanneberger, F., Seeber, E., Aggenbach, C., Lange, J., Kozub, Ł., Knorr, K.-H., Kreyling, J., & Kotowski, W. (2021). Potentially peat-forming biomass of fen sedges increases with increasing nutrient levels. *Functional Ecology*, 35.
- Hinzke, T., Tanneberger, F., Aggenbach, C., Dahlke, S., Knorr, K., Kotowski, W., Kozub, L., Lange, J., Li, G., Pronin, E., Seeber, E., Wichtmann, W., & Kreyling, J. (2021). Can nutrient uptake by *Carex* counteract eutrophication in fen peatlands? *Science of the Total Environment*, 785.
- Hokanson, K. J., Moore, P. A., Lukenbach, M. C., Devito, K. J., Kettridge, N., Petrone, R. M., Mendoza, C. A., & Waddington, J. M. (2018). A hydrogeological landscape framework to identify peatland wildfire smouldering hot spots. *Ecohydrology*, *11*(4).
- Holmquist, J. R., Booth, R. K., & MacDonald, G. M. (2016). Boreal peatland water table depth and carbon accumulation during the Holocene thermal maximum, Roman Warm Period, and Medieval Climate Anomaly. *Palaeogeography Palaeoclimatology Palaeoecology*, 444, 15–27.
- Hornseth, M. L., Pigeon, K. E., MacNearney, D., Larsen, T. A., Stenhouse, G., Cranston, J., & Finnegan, L. (2018). Motorized activity on legacy seismic lines: a predictive modeling approach to prioritize restoration efforts. *Environmental Management*, 62(3), 595–607.
- Howson, T., Chapman, P. J., Shah, N., Anderson, R., & Holden, J. (2021). The effect of forest-to-bog restoration on the hydrological functioning of raised and blanket bogs. *Ecohydrology*, *14*(7), e2334.
- Hugron, S., Bussières, J., & Rochefort, L. (2013). *Tree plantations within the context of ecological restoration of peatlands: a practical guide*. Peatland Ecology Research Group, Université Laval.
- Humpenöder, F., Karstens, K., Lotze-Campen, H., Leifeld, J., Menichetti, L., Barthelmes, A., & Popp, A. (2020). Peatland protection and restoration are key for climate change mitigation. *Environmental Research Letters*, *15*(10), 104093.
- ICMM, & IUCN. (2012). Independent Report on Biodiversity Offsets. International Council on Mining and Metals and International Union for Conservation of Nature.
- INAC. (2007). Guidelines for Spill Contingency Planning. Water Resources Division, Indian and Northern Affairs Canada.
- INAC. (2010). Northern Land Use Guidelines, Access: Roads and Trails. Indian and Northern Affairs Canada.
- INAP. (2018). Global Acid Rock Drainage Guide. The International Network for Acid Prevention.
- Irvine, S., Davidson, S., Price, J., & Strack, M. (2021). Dissolved organic carbon production and transport within a constructed fen watershed in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region, Alberta, Canada. *Journal of Hydrology*, 599.
- Isoaho, A., Elo, M., Marttila, H., Rana, P., Lensu, A., & Rasanen, A. (2024). Monitoring changes in boreal peatland vegetation after restoration with optical satellite imagery. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 177697–177697.
- Jabłońska, E., Winkowska, M., Wiśniewska, M., Geurts, J., Zak, D., & Kotowski, W. (2021). Impact of vegetation harvesting on nutrient removal and plant biomass quality in wetland buffer zones. *Hydrobiologia*, 848.
- Jackson, C. R., Thompson, J. A., & Kolka, R. K. (2014). Wetland soils, hydrology and geomorphology. In D. Batzer & R. Sharitz (Eds.), *Ecology of Freshwater and Estuarine Wetlands* (pp. 23–60). University of California Press.
- Jano, A., Jefferies, R., & Rockwell, R. (1998). The detection of vegetational change by multitemporal analysis of LANDSAT data: the effects of goose foraging. *Journal of Ecology*, 86(1), 93–99.
- Jefferies, R., Jano, A., & Abraham, K. (2006). A biotic agent promotes large-scale catastrophic change in the coastal marshes of Hudson Bay. *Journal of Ecology*, 94(1), 234–242.
- Jefferies, R. L., Rockwell, R. F., & Abraham, K. F. (2003). The embarrassment of riches: agricultural food subsidies, high goose numbers, and loss of Arctic wetlands: a continuing saga. *Environmental Reviews*, *11*(4), 193–232.
- Jefferies, R., & Rockwell, R. (2002). Foraging geese, vegetation loss and soil degradation in an Arctic salt marsh. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 5(1), 7–16.
- Jeziorski, A., Keller, B., Dyer, R. D., Paterson, A. M., & Smol, J. P. (2015). Differences among modern-day and historical cladoceran communities from the "Ring of Fire" lake region of northern Ontario: Identifying responses to climate warming. *Fundamental and Applied Limnology*, *186*(3), 203–216.

- Jodoin, Y., Lavoie, C., Villeneuve, P., Theriault, M., Beaulieu, J., & Belzile, F. (2008). Highways as corridors and habitats for the invasive common reed *Phragmites australis* in Quebec, Canada. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 45(2), 459–466.
- Jones, C. E., Van Dongen, A., Aubry, J., Schreiber, S. G., & Degenhardt, D. (2022). Use of mobile laser scanning (MLS) to monitor vegetation recovery on linear disturbances. *Forests*, *13*(11).
- Joosten, H. (2021). Practical Peatland Restoration. Ramsar Secretariat of Convention on Wetlands.
- Jorat, M. E., Minto, A., Tierney, I., & Gilmour, D. (2024). Future carbon-neutral societies: minimising construction impact on groundwater-dependent wetlands and peatlands. *Sustainability*, *16*(17).
- Jorgenson, M. T., & Joyce, M. R. (1994). Six strategies for rehabilitating land disturbed by oil development in arctic Alaska. *Arctic*, 47(4), 374–390.
- Jussila, T., Heikkinen, R., Anttila, S., Aapala, K., Kervinen, M., Aalto, J., & Vihervaara, P. (2024). Quantifying wetness variability in aapa mires with Sentinel-2: towards improved monitoring of an EU priority habitat. *Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation*, 10(2), 172–187.
- Kadlec, R. H. (2009). Wastewater treatment at the Houghton Lake wetland: hydrology and water quality. *Ecological Engineering*, *35*(9), 1287–1311.
- Kadlec, R. H., & Wallace, S. D. (2009). Treatment wetlands, second edition. CRC Press.
- Karjalainen, S. M., Ronkanen, A. K., Heikkinen, K., & Kløve, B. (2016). Long-term accumulation and retention of Al, Fe and P in peat soils of northern treatment wetlands. *Ecological Engineering*, 93, 91–103.
- Keddy, P. A. (2023a). Causal Factors for Wetland Management and Restoration: A Concise Guide. Springer International Publishing.
- Keddy, P. A. (2023b). Wetland Ecology: Principles and Conservation, 3rd Edition. Cambridge University Press.
- Kelly, C. A., Rudd, J. W. M., Bodaly, R. A., Roulet, N. P., StLouis, V. L., Heyes, A., Moore, T. R., Schiff, S., Aravena, R., Scott,
   K. J., Dyck, B., Harris, R., Warner, B., & Edwards, G. (1997). Increases in fluxes of greenhouse gases and methyl mercury following flooding of an experimental reservoir. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *31*(5), 1334–1344.
- Kempter, H., Krachler, M., Shotyk, W., & Zaccone, C. (2017). Validating modelled data on major and trace element deposition in southern Germany using Sphagnum moss. *Atmospheric Environment*, 167, 656–664.
- Ketcheson, S. J., & Price, J. S. (2011). The impact of peatland restoration on the site hydrology of an abandoned block-cut bog. *Wetlands*, *31*(6), 1263–1274.
- Khadka, B., Munir, T. M., & Strack, M. (2016). Dissolved organic carbon in a constructed and natural fens in the Athabasca oil sands region, Alberta, Canada. *Science of the Total Environment*, *557–558*, 579–589.
- Khan, A., Guêné-Nanchen, M., & Rochefort, L. (2025). Unfolding a peatland's story: assessing the restoration outcomes and driving factors from a disturbed minerotrophic peatland in Eastern Canada. *Ecological Engineering*, 212.
- Khan, U. A., Kujala, K., Planer-Friedrich, B., Räisänen, M. L., & Ronkanen, A. K. (2020). Long-term data reveals the importance of hydraulic load and inflow water quality for Sb removal in boreal treatment peatlands. *Ecological Engineering*, 148.
- Kieckbusch, J. J., & Schrautzer, J. (2007). Nitrogen and phosphorus dynamics of a re-wetted shallow-flooded peatland. Science of the Total Environment, 380(1–3), 3–12.
- Kinas, H., O'Shaughnessy, K., & McLeod, A. (2024). Alberta Beaver Beneficial Management Practices.
- Kleinke, K., Davidson, S., Schmidt, M., Xu, B., & Strack, M. (2022). How mounds are made matters: seismic line restoration techniques affect peat physical and chemical properties throughout the peat profile. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*.
- Kohlenberg, A. J., Turetsky, M. R., Thompson, D. K., Branfireun, B. A., & Mitchell, C. P. J. (2018). Controls on boreal peat combustion and resulting emissions of carbon and mercury. *Environmental Research Letters*, 13(3).
- Kohv, M., Paat, R., Lohmus, A., & Joeleht, A. (2023). Underground mining magnifies drought impacts in an adjacent protected raised bog. *Ecohydrology*, *16*(8).

- Koivunen, I., Muotka, T., Jokikokko, M., Virtanen, R., & Jyvasjarvi, J. (2023). Downstream impacts of peatland drainage on headwater stream biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 543.
- Kolari, T. H. M., Sallinen, A., Wolff, F., Kumpula, T., Tolonen, K., & Tahvanainen, T. (2022). Ongoing fen–bog transition in a boreal aapa mire inferred from repeated field sampling, aerial images, and Landsat data. *Ecosystems*, 25(5), 1166–1188.
- Kolari, T., Kumpula, T., Verdonen, M., Forbes, B., & Tahvanainen, T. (2019). Reindeer grazing controls willows but has only minor effects on plant communities in Fennoscandian oroarctic mires. Arctic Antarctic and Alpine Research, 51(1), 506–520.
- Kolka, R., Pierce, C., Garrioch, I., Behrens, K., & Toner, B. (2024). Review of the influence of climate change on the hydrologic cycling and gaseous fluxes of mercury in boreal peatlands: implications for restoration. *Water*, *16*(8).
- Koshlaf, E., & Ball, A. S. (2017). Soil bioremediation approaches for petroleum hydrocarbon polluted environments. *AIMS Microbiology*, 3(1), 25–49.
- Kotanen, P. M., & Abraham, K. F. (2013). Decadal changes in vegetation of a subarctic salt marsh used by lesser snow and Canada geese. *Plant Ecology*, *214*(3), 409–422.
- Kotowski, W., Ackerman, M., Grootjans, A. P., Klimkowska, A., Rößling, H., & Wheeler, B. (2016). Restoration of temperate fens: matching strategies with site potential. In *Peatland Restoration and Ecosystem Services: Science, Policy and Practice* (pp. 170–191).
- Kovaleva, E. I., Trofimov, S. Y., & Zhongqi, C. (2021). Impact of oil contamination on ecological functions of peat soils from West Siberia of Russia. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 50(1), 49–62.
- Kuhry, P. (2008). Palsa and peat plateau development in the Hudson Bay Lowlands, Canada: timing, pathways and causes. *Boreas*, 37, 316–327.
- Kujala, K., Karlsson, T., Nieminen, S., & Ronkanen, A. K. (2019). Design parameters for nitrogen removal by constructed wetlands treating mine waters and municipal wastewater under Nordic conditions. *Science of the Total Environment*, 662, 559–570.
- Kujala, K., Postila, H., Heiderscheidt, E., Maljanen, M., & Tiirola, M. (2024). Year-round activity of microbial communities in cold-climate peatlands treating mining-affected waters. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 189.
- KWG Resources Inc. (2022). Properties Overview.
- Laberge, V., Hugron, S., Rochefort, L., & Poulin, M. (2015). Influence of different bryophyte carpets on vascular plant establishment around pools in restored peatlands. *Land Degradation & Development*, *26*(8), 813–818.
- Lachance, D., Lavoie, C., & Desrochers, A. (2005). The impact of peatland afforestation on plant and bird diversity in southeastern Quebec. *Écoscience*, *12*(2), 161–171.
- Laine, J., Vasander, H., & Laiho, R. (1995). Long-term effects of water level drawdown on the vegetation of drained pine mires in southern Finland. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *32*(4), 785–802.
- Landis, M. S., Berryman, S. D., White, E. M., Graney, J. R., Edgerton, E. S., & Studabaker, W. B. (2019). Use of an epiphytic lichen and a novel geostatistical approach to evaluate spatial and temporal changes in atmospheric deposition in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region, Alberta, Canada. *Science of the Total Environment*, 692, 1005–1021.
- Landry, J., & Rochefort, L. (2012). *The drainage of peatlands: impacts and rewetting techniques*. Peatland Ecology Research Group, Université Laval.
- Lao, S., Robertson, B. A., Anderson, A. W., Blair, R. B., Eckles, J. W., Turner, R. J., & Loss, S. R. (2020). The influence of artificial light at night and polarized light on bird-building collisions. *Biological Conservation*, 241, 108358.
- Larmola, T., Bubier, J., Kobyljanec, C., Basiliko, N., Juutinen, S., Humphreys, E., Preston, M., & Moore, T. (2013). Vegetation feedbacks of nutrient addition lead to a weaker carbon sink in an ombrotrophic bog. *Global Change Biology*, *19*(12), 3729–3739.
- Lavallee, A., & Campbell, D. (2019). Effects of simulated treated domestic wastewater on *Sphagnum* productivity, decomposition and nutrient dynamics in a subarctic ladder fen. *Wetlands*, 39, 29–38.
- Lavoie, C. (2019). 50 plantes envahissantes: Protéger la nature et l'agriculture. Les publications du Québec.

- Lazareva, E., Myagkaya, I., Kirichenko, I., Gustaytis, M., & Zhmodik, S. (2019). Interaction of natural organic matter with acid mine drainage: in-situ accumulation of elements. *Science of the Total Environment*, 660, 468–483.
- Lee, P., Hanneman, M., Gysbers, J., Cheng, R., & Smith, W. (2010). *Atlas of Canada's Intact Forest Landscapes*. Global Forest Watch Canada.
- Lee, S.-J., Park, J. H., Ahn, Y.-T., & Chung, J. W. (2015). Comparison of heavy metal adsorption by peat moss and peat moss-derived biochar produced under different carbonization conditions. *Water Air and Soil Pollution*, 226(2).
- Lees, K. J., Artz, R. R. E., Chandler, D., Aspinall, T., Boulton, C. A., Buxton, J., Cowie, N. R., & Lenton, T. M. (2021). Using remote sensing to assess peatland resilience by estimating soil surface moisture and drought recovery. *Science of the Total Environment*, *761*.
- Lemmer, M., Rochefort, L., & Strack, M. (2020). Greenhouse gas emissions dynamics in restored fens after *in-situ* oil sands well pad disturbances of Canadian boreal peatlands. *Frontiers in Earth Science*, 8.
- Lemmer, M., Xu, B., Strack, M., & Rochefort, L. (2023). Reestablishment of peatland vegetation following surface leveling of decommissioned in situ oil mining infrastructures. *Restoration Ecology*, *31*(3).
- Liu, C., Guêné-Nanchen, M., & Rochefort, L. (2024). Improving restoration outcomes of boreal *Sphagnum*-dominated peatlands after peat-extraction: the key role of phosphorus fertilization. *Biological Conservation*, 298.
- Long, M., Paniagua, P., Grimstad, G., Sponas, E. B. A., Bjertness, E., & Ritter, S. (2023). Behaviour of 60-year-old trial embankments on peat. *Engineering Geology*, 323.
- Lovitt, J., Rahman, M. M., Saraswati, S., McDermid, G. J., Strack, M., & Xu, B. (2018). UAV remote sensing can reveal the effects of low-impact seismic lines on surface morphology, hydrology, and methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) release in a boreal treed bog. *Journal of Geophysical Research-Biogeosciences*, *123*(3), 1117–1129.
- Lukenbach, M. C., Hokanson, K. J., Moore, P. A., Devito, K. J., Kettridge, N., Thompson, D. K., Wotton, B. M., Petrone, R. M., & Waddington, J. M. (2015). Hydrological controls on deep burning in a northern forested peatland. *Hydrological Processes*, *29*(18), 4114–4124.
- Maanavilja, L., Aapala, K., Haapalehto, T., Kotiaho, J. S., & Tuittila, E.-S. (2014). Impact of drainage and hydrological restoration on vegetation structure in boreal spruce swamp forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 330, 115–125.
- Mack, M., Quinton, W., McLaughlin, J., & Hopkinson, C. (2023). Vulnerability assessment of peatland complexes in the Hudson Plains (Ontario, Canada) to permafrost-thaw-induced landcover and hydrological change using a multiscale approach. *Ecohydrology*, 16(6).
- MacKenzie, D., & Renkema, K. (2013). *In-Situ Oil Sands Extraction Reclamation and Restoration Practices and Opportunities Compilation*. COSIA and Naxos Environmental.
- Macrae, M. L., Devito, K. J., Strack, M., & Waddington, J. M. (2013). Effect of water table drawdown on peatland nutrient dynamics: implications for climate change. *Biogeochemistry*, *112*(1), 661–676.
- Mahoney, C., Montgomery, J., Connor, S., & Cobbaert, D. (2023). Oil sands wetland ecosystem monitoring program indicators in Alberta, Canada: transitioning from pilot to long-term monitoring. *Water*, *15*(10).
- Mal, T. K., & Narine, L. (2004). The biology of Canadian weeds. 129. *Phragmites australis* (Cav.) Trin. ex Steud. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, *84*(1), 365–396.
- Mälson, K., Backéus, I., & Rydin, H. (2008). Long-term effects of drainage and initial effects of hydrological restoration on rich fen vegetation. *Applied Vegetation Science*, *11*(1), 99–106.
- Mazerolle, M. J., Poulin, M., Lavoie, C., Rochefort, L., Desrochers, A., & Drolet, B. (2006). Animal and vegetation patterns in natural and man-made bog pools: Implications for restoration. *Freshwater Biology*, *51*, 333–350.
- McCarter, C. P. R., Branfireun, B. A., & Price, J. S. (2017). Nutrient and mercury transport in a sub-arctic ladder fen peatland subjected to simulated wastewater discharges. *Science of the Total Environment*, 609, 1349–1360.
- McCarter, C. P. R., Clay, G. D., Wilkinson, S. L., Page, S., Shuttleworth, E. L., Davidson, S. J., Taufik, M., Sigmund, G., & Waddington, J. M. (2023). Peat fires and the unknown risk of legacy metal and metalloid pollution. *Environmental Research Letters*, 18(7).

- McCarter, C. P. R., & Price, J. S. (2013). The hydrology of the Bois-des-Bel bog peatland restoration: 10 years postrestoration. *Ecological Engineering*, 55, 73–81.
- McCarter, C. P. R., Sebestyen, S. D., Wasik, J. K. C., Wasik, C., Engstrom, D. R., Kolka, R. K., Jeremiason, J. D., Swain, E. B., Monson, B. A., Branfireun, B. A., Balogh, S. J., Nater, E. A., Eggert, S. L., Ning, P., & Mitchell, C. P. J. (2022). Longterm experimental manipulation of atmospheric sulfate deposition to a peatland: response of methylmercury and related solute export in streamwater. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 56(24), 17615–17625.
- McCarter, C. P. R., Wilkinson, S. L., Moore, P. A., & Waddington, J. M. (2021). Ecohydrological trade-offs from multiple peatland disturbances: The interactive effects of drainage, harvesting, restoration and wildfire in a southern Ontario bog. *Journal of Hydrology*, 601.
- McDermott, L., & Bell, A. (2017). *Indigenous Perspectives on Conservation Offsetting: Five Case Studies from Ontario, Canada*. Ontario Nature, Plenty Canada and Trent University Indigenous Environmental Science/Studies.
- McDonough, A. M., Bird, A. W., Luciani, M. A., & Todd, A. K. (2022). Establishing trace element concentrations for lichens and bryophytes in the Ring of Fire region of the Hudson Bay Lowlands, Ontario, Canada. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 194(3).
- McKay, T. L., Pigeon, K. E., Larsen, T. A., & Finnegan, L. A. (2021). Close encounters of the fatal kind: Landscape features associated with central mountain caribou mortalities. *Ecology and Evolution*, *11*(5), 2234–2248.
- McLaughlin, J. W., & Packalen, M. S. (2021). Peat carbon vulnerability to projected climate warming in the Hudson Bay Lowlands, Canada: a decision support tool for land use planning in peatland dominated landscapes. *Frontiers in Earth Science*, 9.
- McLaughlin, J., & Webster, K. (2013). Effects of a Changing Climate on Peatlands in Permafrost Zones: A Literature Review and Application to Ontario's Far North. Great Lakes Forestry Centre, Canadian Forestry Service, Natural Resources Canada.
- Meingast, K. M., Falkowski, M. J., Kane, E. S., Potvin, L. R., Benscoter, B. W., Smith, A. M. S., Bourgeau-Chavez, L. L., & Miller, M. E. (2014). Spectral detection of near-surface moisture content and water-table position in northern peatland ecosystems. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 152, 536–546.
- MEND. (2012). Cold Regions Cover System Design Technical Guidance Document (MEND 1.61.5c). Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada and MEND.
- Mervine, E., Wilson, S., Power, I., Dipple, G., Turvey, C., Hamilton, J., Vanderzee, S., Raudsepp, M., Southam, C., Matter, J., Kelemen, P., Stiefenhofer, J., Miya, Z., & Southam, G. (2018). Potential for offsetting diamond mine carbon emissions through mineral carbonation of processed kimberlite: an assessment of De Beers mine sites in South Africa and Canada. *Mineralogy and Petrology*, *112*, 755–765.
- Mesri, G., & Ajlouni, M. (2007). Engineering properties of fibrous peats. *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental* Engineering, 133(7), 850–866.
- Meyer, C., Diaz-de-Quijano, M., Monna, F., Franchi, M., Toussaint, M.-L., Gilbert, D., & Bernard, N. (2015). Characterisation and distribution of deposited trace elements transported over long and intermediate distances in north-eastern France using *Sphagnum* peatlands as a sentinel ecosystem. *Atmospheric Environment*, 101, 286–293.
- Middleton, M., Närhi, P., Arkimaa, H., Hyvönen, E., Kuosmanen, V., Treitz, P., & Sutinen, R. (2012). Ordination and hyperspectral remote sensing approach to classify peatland biotopes along soil moisture and fertility gradients. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, *124*, 596–609.
- Milakovic, B., Carleton, T., & Jefferies, R. (2001). Changes in midge (Diptera: Chironomidae) populations of sub-arctic supratidal vernal ponds in response to goose foraging. *Ecoscience*, *8*(1), 58–67.
- Milakovic, B., & Jefferies, R. (2003). The effects of goose herbivory and loss of vegetation on ground beetle and spider assemblages in an Arctic supratidal marsh. *Ecoscience*, *10*(1), 57–65.
- Millard, K., Darling, S., Pelletier, N., & Schultz, S. (2022). Seasonally-decomposed Sentinel-1 backscatter time-series are useful indicators of peatland wildfire vulnerability. *Remote Sensing of Environment, 283*.

- Miller, C. A., Benscoter, B. W., & Turetsky, M. R. (2015). The effect of long-term drying associated with experimental drainage and road construction on vegetation composition and productivity in boreal fens. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 23(5), 845–854.
- Milner-Gulland, E. J., Addison, P., Arlidge, W. N. S., Baker, J., Booth, H., Brooks, T., Bull, J. W., Burgass, M. J., Ekstrom, J., zu Ermgassen, S. O. S. E., Fleming, L. V., Grub, H. M. J., von Hase, A., Hoffmann, M., Hutton, J., Juffe-Bignoli, D., ten Kate, K., Kiesecker, J., Kumpel, N. F., ... Watson, J. E. M. (2021). Four steps for the Earth: mainstreaming the post-2020 global biodiversity framework. One Earth, 4(1), 75–87.
- Minasny, B., Adetsu, D., Aitkenhead, M., Artz, R., Baggaley, N., Barthelmes, A., Beucher, A., Caron, J., Conchedda, G., Connolly, J., Deragon, R., Evans, C., Fadnes, K., Fiantis, D., Gagkas, Z., Gilet, L., Gimona, A., Glatzel, S., Greve, M., ... Zak, D. (2024). Mapping and monitoring peatland conditions from global to field scale. *Biogeochemistry*, 167(4), 383–425.
- Mitchell, C. P. J., Branfireun, B. A., & Kolka, R. K. (2008). Spatial characteristics of net methylmercury production hot spots in peatlands. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42(4), 1010–1016.
- Mitchell, C. P. J., Branfireun, B. A., & Kolka, R. K. (2009). Methylmercury dynamics at the upland-peatland interface: topographic and hydrogeochemical controls. *Water Resources Research*, *45*.
- Mitsch, W. (1993). Ecological engineering a cooperative role with the planetary life-support-system. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *27*(3), 438–445.
- Mitsch, W. (2014). When will ecologists learn engineering and engineers learn ecology? Ecological Engineering, 65, 9–14.
- Mohammad Mirmazloumi, S., Moghimi, A., Ranjgar, B., Mohseni, F., Ghorbanian, A., Ahmadi, S. A., Amani, M., & Brisco, B. (2021). Status and trends of wetland studies in Canada using remote sensing technology with a focus on wetland classification: a bibliographic analysis. *Remote Sensing*, *13*(20).
- Mosbacher, J., Michelsen, A., Stelvig, M., Hjermstad-Sollerud, H., & Schmidt, N. (2019). Muskoxen modify plant abundance, phenology, and nitrogen dynamics in a high Arctic fen. *Ecosystems*, *22*(5), 1095–1107.
- Mullan-Boudreau, G., Belland, R., Devito, K., Noernberg, T., Pelletier, R., & Shotyk, W. (2017). *Sphagnum* moss as an indicator of contemporary rates of atmospheric dust deposition in the Athabasca Bituminous Sands Region. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *51*(13), 7422–7431.
- Munford, K. E., Gilbert-Parkes, S., Mykytczuk, N. C. S., Basiliko, N., Yakimovich, K. M., Poulain, A., & Watmough, S. A. (2023). How arsenic contamination influences downslope wetland plant and microbial community structure and function. *Science of the Total Environment*, *876*.
- Mungall, J. E., Harvey, J. D., Balch, S. J., Azar, B., Atkinson, J., & Hamilton, M. A. (2010). Eagle's Nest a magmatic Ni-sulfide deposit in the James Bay Lowlands, Ontario, Canada. In *The Challenge of Finding New Mineral Resources: Global Metallogeny, Innovative Exploration, and New Discoveries*. Society of Economic Geologists.
- Murray, K., Bird, M., Strack, M., Cody, M., & Xu, B. (2021). Restoration approach influences carbon exchange at in-situ oil sands exploration sites in east-central Alberta. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, *2*9(2), 281–299.
- Murray, K., Borkenhagen, A., Cooper, D., & Strack, M. (2017). Growing season carbon gas exchange from peatlands used as a source of vegetation donor material for restoration. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, *25*(4), 501–515.
- Murray, K. R., Barlow, N., & Strack, M. (2017). Methane emissions dynamics from a constructed fen and reference sites in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region, Alberta. *Science of the Total Environment*, 583, 369–381.
- Musetta-Lambert, J. L., Enanga, E. M., Teichert, S., Creed, I. F., Kidd, K. A., Kreutzweiser, D. P., & Sibley, P. K. (2019). Industrial innovation and infrastructure as drivers of change in the Canadian boreal zone. *Environmental Reviews*, *27*(3), 275–294.
- Naeem, U., & Qazi, M. A. (2020). Leading edges in bioremediation technologies for removal of petroleum hydrocarbons. Environmental Science and Pollution Research International, 27(22), 27370–27382.
- Närhi, P., Räisänen, M. L., Sutinen, M.-L., & Sutinen, R. (2012). Effect of tailings on wetland vegetation in Rautuvaara, a former iron–copper mining area in northern Finland. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 116–117, 60–65.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2001). *Compensating for Wetland Losses Under the Clean Water Act*. The National Academies Press.

NatureScot. (2024a). Bunding. NatureScot Peatland ACTION.

NatureScot. (2024b). Ditch Blocking. NatureScot Peatland ACTION.

NatureScot. (2024c). Peatland ACTION - Technical Compendium.

NatureScot. (2024d). Reprofiling. NatureScot Peatland ACTION.

NatureScot. (2024e). Scrub Clearance. NatureScot Peatland ACTION.

- Nelson, K., Thompson, D., Hopkinson, C., Petrone, R., & Chasmer, L. (2021). Peatland-fire interactions: a review of wildland fire feedbacks and interactions in Canadian boreal peatlands. *Science of the Total Environment*, 769.
- Neta, T., Cheng, Q., Bello, R. L., & Hu, B. (2011). Development of new spectral reflectance indices for the detection of lichens and mosses moisture content in the Hudson Bay Lowlands, Canada. *Hydrological Processes*, 25(6), 933–944.
- Nichols, G. (2024). Invasive Phragmites (Phragmites australis) Best Management Practices in Ontario: Improving Species at Risk Habitat Through the Management of Invasive Phragmites. Ontario Invasive Plant Council.
- Nishizawa, K., Deschamps, L., Maire, V., Bêty, J., Lévesque, E., Kitagawa, R., Masumoto, S., Gosselin, I., Morneault, A., Rochefort, L., Gauthier, G., Tanabe, Y., Uchida, M., & Mori, A. (2021). Long-term consequences of goose exclusion on nutrient cycles and plant communities in the high-Arctic. *Polar Science*, *27*.
- Novakovskiy, A. B., Kanev, V. A., & Markarova, M. Y. (2021). Long-term dynamics of plant communities after biological remediation of oil-contaminated soils in far north. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 4888.
- Nugent, C., Kanali, C., Owende, P. M. O., Nieuwenhuis, M., & Ward, S. (2003). Characteristic site disturbance due to harvesting and extraction machinery traffic on sensitive forest sites with peat soils. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 180(1–3), 85–98.
- Nugent, K. A., Strachan, I. B., Strack, M., Roulet, N. T., & Rochefort, L. (2018). Multi-year net ecosystem carbon balance of a restored peatland reveals a return to carbon sink. *Global Change Biology*, *24*(12), 5751–5768.
- Nugent, K., Strachan, I., Strack, M., Roulet, N., Ström, L., & Chanton, J. (2021). Cutover peat limits methane production causing low emission at a restored peatland. *Journal of Geophysical Research-Biogeosciences*, *126*(12).
- Nuttle, W. K. (1997). Measurement of wetland hydroperiod using harmonic analysis. Wetlands, 17(1), 82–89.
- Nwaishi, F., Petrone, R., Macrae, M., Price, J., Strack, M., & Andersen, R. (2016). Preliminary assessment of greenhouse gas emissions from a constructed fen on post-mining landscape in the Athabasca oil sands region, Alberta, Canada. *Ecological Engineering*, 95, 119–128.
- Nwaishi, F., Petrone, R., Macrae, M., Price, J., Strack, M., Slawson, R., & Andersen, R. (2016). Above and below-ground nutrient cycling: a criteria for assessing the biogeochemical functioning of a constructed fen. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 98, 177–194.
- O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004a). Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Rock and Tailings Volume 1 – Summary (MEND 2.21.4a). CANMET- Mining and Mineral Sciences Laboratories, Natural Resources Canada.
- O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004b). Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Rock and Tailings Volume 2 – Theory and Background (MEND 2.21.4b). CANMET- Mining and Mineral Sciences Laboratories, Natural Resources Canada.
- O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004c). Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Rock and Tailings Volume 3 – Site Characterization and Numerical Analyses of Cover Performance (MEND 2.21.4c). CANMET- Mining and Mineral Sciences Laboratories, Natural Resources Canada.
- O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004d). Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Rock and Tailings Volume 4 – Field Performance Monitoring and Sustainable Performance of Cover Systems (MEND 2.21.4d). CANMET- Mining and Mineral Sciences Laboratories, Natural Resources Canada.
- O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004e). Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Rock and Tailings Volume 5 – Case Studies (MEND 2.21.4e). CANMET- Mining and Mineral Sciences Laboratories, Natural Resources Canada.

- O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2007). Macro-Scale Cover Design and Performance Monitoring Manual (MEND Report 2.21.5). CANMET- Mining and Mineral Sciences Laboratories, Natural Resources Canada.
- O'Kelly, B. C. (2008). On the geotechnical design and use of peat bunds in the conservation of bogs. *Proceedings of the First International Conference on Geotechnical Engineering*.
- Olthof, I., & Fraser, R. H. (2024). Mapping surface water dynamics (1985-2021) in the Hudson Bay Lowlands, Canada using sub-pixel Landsat analysis. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 300.
- OMECC. (2017). Management Approaches for Industrial Fugitive Dust Sources. Standards Development Branch, Ontario Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change.
- OMECP. (2018). Mining Sites Industry Standard. Ontario Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks.
- OMECP. (2020). Best Management Practices for Mineral Exploration and Development Activities and Woodland Caribou in Ontario. Ontario Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks.
- OMNR. (2016). Best Management Practices for Aggregate Activities and Forest-dwelling Woodland Caribou. Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources.
- OMNRF. (2014). Significant Wildlife Habitat Mitigation Support Tool. Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry.
- OMNRF. (2019). Ontario GeoHub: Wetlands [Map]. Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry.
- Ontario Nature. (2022). A Primer on Wetland Offsetting in Ontario: Practices, Policies and Resources.
- Opekunova, M., Opekunov, A., Elsukova, E., Kukushkin, S., & Janson, S. (2020). Comparative analysis of methods for air pollution assessing in the Arctic mining area. *Atmospheric Pollution Research*, *12*(1), 76–88.
- Osborne, C., Gilbert-Parkes, S., Spiers, G., Lamit, L. J., Lilleskov, E. A., Basiliko, N., Watmough, S., & Global Peatland Microbiome Project. (2024). Global patterns of metal and other element enrichment in bog and fen peatlands. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, *86*(2), 125–139.
- Osko, T., Gillies, C., & Pyper, M. (2018). COSIA In-Situ Oil Sands Shared Practices for Working in and Around Wetlands. Canada's Oil Sands Innovation Alliance.
- Oswald, C. J., & Carey, S. K. (2016). Total and methyl mercury concentrations in sediment and water of a constructed wetland in the Athabasca Oil Sands region. *Environmental Pollution*, *213*, 628–637.
- Packalen, M. S., Finkelstein, S. A., & McLaughlin, J. W. (2016). Climate and peat type in relation to spatial variation of the peatland carbon mass in the Hudson Bay Lowlands, Canada. *Journal of Geophysical Research-Biogeosciences*, *121*(4), 1104–1117.
- Palmer, K., Ronkanen, A.-K., & Kløve, B. (2015). Efficient removal of arsenic, antimony and nickel from mine wastewaters in northern treatment peatlands and potential risks in their long-term use. *Ecological Engineering*, *75*, 350–364.
- Pang, Y., Räsänen, A., Juselius-Rajamäki, T., Aurela, M., Juutinen, S., Väliranta, M., & Virtanen, T. (2023). Upscaling fieldmeasured seasonal ground vegetation patterns with Sentinel-2 images in boreal ecosystems. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 44(14), 4239–4261.
- Park, J. S. (2017). A race against time: habitat alteration by snow geese prunes the seasonal sequence of mosquito emergence in a subarctic brackish landscape. *Polar Biology*, *40*(3), 553–561.
- Partington, M., Gillies, C., Gingras, B., Smith, C. E., & Morissette, J. (2016). *Resource Roads and Wetlands: A Guide for Planning, Construction and Maintenance*. FPInnovations and Ducks Unlimited Canada.
- Payandi-Rolland, D., Shirokova, L. S., Labonne, F., Benezeth, P., & Pokrovsky, O. S. (2021). Impact of freeze-thaw cycles on organic carbon and metals in waters of permafrost peatlands. *Chemosphere*, *27*9.
- Penfound, E., & Vaz, E. (2022). Analysis of 200 years of change in Ontario wetland systems. *Applied Geography*, *138*, 102625.
- Peterson, S., Rockwell, R., Witte, C., & Koons, D. (2013). The legacy of destructive snow goose foraging on supratidal marsh habitat in the Hudson Bay Lowlands. *Arctic Antarctic and Alpine Research*, *45*(4), 575–583.
- Pinzon, J., Dabros, A., & Hoffman, P. (2023). Soil mounding as a restoration approach of seismic lines in boreal peatlands: implications on microtopography. *Restoration Ecology*, *31*(8).

- Pironkova, Z. (2017). Mapping palsa and peat plateau changes in the Hudson Bay Lowlands, Canada, using historical aerial photography and high-resolution satellite imagery. *Canadian Journal of Remote Sensing*, 43(5), 455–467.
- Pope, J., Morrison-Saunders, A., Bond, A., & Retief, F. (2021). When is an offset not an offset? A framework of necessary conditions for biodiversity offsets. *Environmental Management*, 67(2), 424–435.
- Poulin, M., Fontaine, N., & Rochefort, L. (2011). Restoration of pool margin communities in cutover peatlands. *Aquatic Botany*, 94(2), 107–111.
- Poulin, M., Rochefort, L., Quinty, F., & Lavoie, C. (2005). Spontaneous revegetation of mined peatlands in eastern Canada. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 83(5), 539–557.
- Pouliot, R., Hugron, S., Rochefort, L., Godbout, S., Palacios, J., Groeneveld, E., & Jarry, I. (2015). Manure derived biochar can successfully replace phosphate rock amendment in peatland restoration. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 157, 118–126.
- Poulton, D. (2015). Key Issues in Biodiversity Offset Law and Policy: A Comparison of Six Jurisdictions. Ontario Nature.
- Poulton, D., & Bell, A. (2017). Navigating the Swamp: Lessons on Wetland Offsetting for Ontario. Ontario Nature.
- Poulton, D. W., & Ray, J. C. (2023). *Knowledge, Perception and Application of the Mitigation Hierarchy Among Officials in Canadian Federal Regulatory and Resource Management Agencies*. Wildlife Conservation Society Canada and Impact Assessment Agency of Canada.
- Press, M., Woodin, S., & Lee, J. (1986). The potential importance of an increased atmospheric nitrogen supply to the growth of ombrotrophic sphagnum species. *New Phytologist*, *103*(1), 45–55.
- Prevost, M., Belleau, P., & Plamondon, A. P. (1997). Substrate conditions in a treed peatland: responses to drainage. *Ecoscience*, 4(4), 543–554.
- Price, J., Evans, C., Evans, M., Allott, T., & Shuttleworth, E. (2016). Peatland restoration and hydrology. In A. Bonn, T. Allott, M. Evans, H. Joosten, & R. Stoneman (Eds.), *Peatland Restoration and Ecosystem Services: Science, Policy and Practice* (pp. 77–94). Cambridge University Press.
- Price, J., Rochefort, L., & Quinty, F. (1998). Energy and moisture considerations on cutover peatlands: surface microtopography, mulch cover and *Sphagnum* regeneration. *Ecological Engineering*, *10*(4), 293–312.
- Price, J. S., Heathwaite, A. L., & Baird, A. J. (2003). Hydrological processes in abandoned and restored peatlands: An overview of management approaches. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 11(1–2), 65–83.
- Price, J. S., McLaren, R. G., & Rudolph, D. L. (2010). Landscape restoration after oil sands mining: conceptual design and hydrological modelling for fen reconstruction. *International Journal of Mining, Reclamation and Environment*, 24(2), 109–123.
- Price, W. A. (2009). CANMET Mining and Mineral Sciences Laboratories Prediction Manual for Drainage Chemistry from Sulphidic Geologic Materials (MEND). CANMET- Mining and Mineral Sciences Laboratories, Natural Resources Canada.
- Prystupa, E., Davidson, S., Price, J., & Strack, M. (2023). Response of dissolved organic carbon dynamics to salinity in a constructed fen peatland in the Athabasca oil sands region. *Hydrological Processes*, *37*(4).
- Qi, C., & Fourie, A. (2019). Cemented paste backfill for mineral tailings management: review and future perspectives. *Minerals Engineering*, 144, 106025.
- Quinty, F., LeBlanc, M.-C., & Rochefort, L. (2019). *Peatland Restoration Guide: Plant Material Collecting and Donor Site Management*. PERG, CSPMA and APTHQ.
- Quinty, F., LeBlanc, M.-C., & Rochefort, L. (2020a). *Peatland Restoration Guide: Planning Restoration Projects*. PERG, CSPMA and APTHQ.
- Quinty, F., LeBlanc, M.-C., & Rochefort, L. (2020b). *Peatland Restoration Guide: Site Preparation and Rewetting*. PERG, CSPMA and APTHQ.
- Quinty, F., LeBlanc, M.-C., & Rochefort, L. (2020c). *Peatland Restoration Guide: Spreading of Plant Material, Mulch and Fertilizer*. PERG, CSPMA and APTHQ.

- Racine, C. H. (1994). Long-term recovery of vegetation on two experimental crude-oil spills in interior Alaska black spruce taiga. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 72(8), 1171–1177.
- Rahman, M., McDermid, G., Strack, M., & Lovitt, J. (2017). A new method to map groundwater table in peatlands using unmanned aerial vehicles. *Remote Sensing*, 9(10).
- Räsänen, A., Aurela, M., Juutinen, S., Kumpula, T., Lohila, A., Penttilä, T., & Virtanen, T. (2020). Detecting northern peatland vegetation patterns at ultra-high spatial resolution. *Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation*, 6(4), 457–471.
- Räsänen, A., Juutinen, S., Tuittila, E.-S., Aurela, M., & Virtanen, T. (2019). Comparing ultra-high spatial resolution remotesensing methods in mapping peatland vegetation. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, *30*(5), 1016–1026.
- Rein, G., & Huang, X. (2021). Smouldering wildfires in peatlands, forests and the arctic: challenges and perspectives. *Current Opinion in Environmental Science & Health, 24*.
- Rezanezhad, F., Andersen, R., Pouliot, R., JS Price, Rochefort, L., & Graf, M. (2012). How fen vegetation structure affects the transport of oil sands process-affected waters. *Wetlands*, *32*(3), 557–570.
- Riley, J. L. (2003). Flora of the Hudson Bay Lowland and its Postglacial Origins. National Research Council of Canada.
- Riley, J. L. (2011). Wetlands of the Hudson Bay Lowland: an Ontario Overview. Nature Conservancy of Canada.
- Rioux, S., Savard, J.-P. L., & Gerick, A. A. (2013). Avian mortalities due to transmission line collisions: a review of current estimates and field methods with an emphasis on applications to the Canadian electric network. *Avian Conservation and Ecology*, 8(2).
- Robert, M., Hachey, M.-H., Lepage, D., & Couturier, A. R. (2019). Second Atlas of the Breeding Birds of Southern Québec. Regroupement QuébecOiseaux, Canadian Wildlife Service (Environment and Climate Change Canada) and Bird Studies Canada.
- Rochefort, L., Isselin-Nondedeu, F., Boudreau, S., & Poulin, M. (2013). Comparing survey methods for monitoring vegetation change through time in a restored peatland. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, *21*(1), 71–85.
- Rochefort, L., & Jutras, S. (2024). *Où bloquer les canaux de drainage en tourbière*. Society for Ecological Restoration -Eastern Canada.
- Rochefort, L., & Jutras, S. (2025). *Construction de barrages en tourbière*. Society for Ecological Restoration Eastern Canada.
- Rochefort, L., LeBlanc, M., Bérubé, V., Hugron, S., Boudreau, S., & Pouliot, R. (2016). Reintroduction of fen plant communities on a degraded minerotrophic peatland. *Botany*, 94(11), 1041–1051.
- Rochefort, L., Quinty, F., Campeau, S., Johnson, K., & Malterer, T. (2003). North American approach to the restoration of Sphagnum dominated peatlands. Wetlands Ecology and Management, 11(1), 3–20.
- Rockwell, R., Witte, C., Jefferies, R., & Weatherhead, P. (2003). Response of nesting savannah sparrows to 25 years of habitat change in a snow goose colony. *Ecoscience*, *10*(1), 33–37.
- Ronkanen, A.-K., & Kløve, B. (2009). Long-term phosphorus and nitrogen removal processes and preferential flow paths in northern constructed peatlands. *Ecological Engineering*, 35(5), 843–855.
- Rooney, R. C., & Bayley, S. E. (2011). Setting reclamation targets and evaluating progress: submersed aquatic vegetation in natural and post-oil sands mining wetlands in Alberta, Canada. *Ecological Engineering*, *37*(4), 569–579.
- Rooney, R. C., & Bayley, S. E. (2012). Development and testing of an index of biotic integrity based on submersed and floating vegetation and its application to assess reclamation wetlands in Alberta's oil sands area, Canada. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 184(2), 749–761.
- Rosenberg, D. M., Berkes, F., Bodaly, R. A., Hecky, R. E., Kelly, C. A., & Rudd, J. W. (1997). Large-scale impacts of hydroelectric development. *Environmental Reviews*, 5(1), 27–54.
- Roth, S., Poulin, B., Baumann, Z., Liu, X., Zhang, L., Krabbenhoft, D., Hines, M., Schaefer, J., & Barkay, T. (2021). Nutrient inputs stimulate mercury methylation by syntrophs in a subarctic peatland. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *12*.
- Roulet, N., Moore, T., Bubier, J., & Lafleur, P. (1992). Northern fens: methane flux and climatic change. *Tellus B: Chemical and Physical Meteorology*, 44(2), 100–105.

- Ryder, A., Taylor, D., Walters, F., & Domeney, R. (2005). Pipelines and Peat: A Review of Peat Formation, Pipeline Construction Techniques and Reinstatement Options. *Terrain and Geohazard Challenges Facing Onshore Oil and Gas Pipelines*, 582–601.
- Saint-Marc, C., Jutras, S., & Rochefort, L. (2024). Portrait des milieux humides altérés par les cannebergières du Centredu-Québec. *Le Naturaliste canadien*, *148*(1), 3–10. Érudit.
- Salko, S.-S., Juola, J., Burdun, I., Vasander, H., & Rautiainen, M. (2023). Intra- and interspecific variation in spectral properties of dominant *Sphagnum* moss species in boreal peatlands. *Ecology and Evolution*, *13*(6), e10197.
- Salo, H., Berisha, A., & Mäkinen, J. (2016). Seasonal comparison of moss bag technique against vertical snow samples for monitoring atmospheric pollution. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, *41*, 128–137.
- Sánchez, N., Bayne, E., & Hilje, B. (2023). Lincoln's sparrow (*Melospiza lincolnii*) increases singing rate in areas with chronic industrial noise. *IBIS*, 165(3), 944–958.
- Sánchez, N., Sandoval, L., Hedley, R., St Clair, C., & Bayne, E. (2022). Relative importance for Lincoln's sparrow (*Melospiza lincolnii*) occupancy of vegetation type versus noise caused by industrial development. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 10.
- Saraswati, S., Bhusal, Y., Trant, A. J., & Strack, M. (2020). Roads impact tree and shrub productivity in adjacent boreal peatlands. *Forests*, *11*(5).
- Saraswati, S., Petrone, R. M., Rahman, M. M., McDermid, G. J., Xu, B., & Strack, M. (2020). Hydrological effects of resource-access road crossings on boreal forested peatlands. *Journal of Hydrology*, *584*.
- Schindler, M., Lussier, A. J., Principe, E., & Mykytczuk, N. (2018). Dissolution mechanisms of chromitite: understanding the release and fate of chromium in the environment. *American Mineralogist*, *103*(2), 271–283.
- Sheoran, A. S., & Sheoran, V. (2006). Heavy metal removal mechanism of acid mine drainage in wetlands: a critical review. *Minerals Engineering*, 19(2), 105–116.
- Shepherd, H., Catford, J., Steele, M., Dumont, M., Mills, R., Hughes, P., & Robroek, B. (2021). Propagule availability drives post-wildfire recovery of peatland plant communities. *Applied Vegetation Science*, *24*(3).
- Shonfield, J., & Bayne, E. M. (2017a). Autonomous recording units in avian ecological research: current use and future applications. *Avian Conservation and Ecology*, *12*(1).
- Shonfield, J., & Bayne, E. M. (2017b). The effect of industrial noise on owl occupancy in the boreal forest at multiple spatial scales. *Avian Conservation and Ecology*, *12*(2).
- Shotyk, W., Appleby, P. G., Bicalho, B., Davies, L. J., Froese, D., Grant-Weaver, I., Magnan, G., Mullan-Boudreau, G., Noernberg, T., Pelletier, R., Shannon, B., van Bellen, S., & Zaccone, C. (2017). Peat bogs document decades of declining atmospheric contamination by trace metals in the Athabasca bituminous sands region. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *51*(11), 6237–6249.
- Shotyk, W., Barraza, F., Butt, S., Chen, N., Cuss, C. W., Devito, K., Frost, L., Grant-Weaver, I., Javed, M. B., Noernberg, T., & Oleksandrenko, A. (2023). Trace elements in peat bog porewaters: indicators of dissolution of atmospheric dusts and aerosols from anthropogenic and natural sources. *Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology*, 9(9), 2401–2416.
- Shotyk, W., & Cuss, C. (2019). Atmospheric Hg accumulation rates determined using Sphagnum moss from ombrotrophic (rain-fed) bogs in the Athabasca Bituminous Sands region of northern Alberta, Canada. *Ecological Indicators*, 107.
- Shotyk, W., & Noernberg, T. (2020). Sampling, handling, and preparation of peat cores from bogs: review of recent progress and perspectives for trace element research. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, *100*(4), 363–380.
- Shunina, A., Osko, T. J., Foote, L., & Bork, E. W. (2016). Comparison of site preparation and revegetation strategies within a *Sphagnum*-dominated peatland following removal of an oil well pad. *Ecological Restoration*, 34(3), 225–235.
- Simair, M. C., Parrott, J. L., le Roux, M., Gupta, V., Frank, R. A., Peru, K. M., Ajaero, C., McMartin, D. W., & Headley, J. V. (2021). Treatment of oil sands process affected waters by constructed wetlands: evaluation of designs and plant types. Science of the Total Environment, 772.
- Sjörs, H. (1959). Bogs and fens in the Hudson Bay Lowlands. Arctic, 12, 2–19.

- Sjörs, H. (1963). Bogs and fens on Attawapiskat River, northern Ontario. *National Museums of Canada Bulletin, Contributions to Botany, 186,* 45–133.
- Small, C., Degenhardt, D., Drozdowski, B., Thacker, S., Powter, C., Schoonmaker, A., & Schreiber, S. (2018). *Optimizing Weed Control for Progressive Reclamation: Literature Review*. Innotech Alberta.
- Sobze, J.-M., Gauthier, M.-E., Xu, B., & Schoonmaker, A. (2013). *Peatland Restoration Site Re-Vegetation* (Peatland Restoration Program Technical Note #12).
- Soomets, E., Lohmus, A., & Rannap, R. (2023). Restoring functional forested peatlands by combining ditch-blocking and partial cutting: an amphibian perspective. *Ecological Engineering*, 192.
- Speed, J., Cooper, E., Jónsdóttir, I., van der Wal, R., & Woodin, S. (2010). Plant community properties predict vegetation resilience to herbivore disturbance in the Arctic. *Journal of Ecology*, 98(5), 1002–1013.
- Spennato, H. M., Ketcheson, S. J., Mendoza, C. A., & Carey, S. K. (2018). Water table dynamics in a constructed wetland, Fort McMurray, Alberta. *Hydrological Processes*, *32*(26), 3824–3836.
- St Louis, V. L., Rudd, J. W. M., Kelly, C. A., Bodaly, R. A., Paterson, M. J., Beaty, K. G., Hesslein, R. H., Heyes, A., & Majewski, A. R. (2004). The rise and fall of mercury methylation in an experimental reservoir. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 38(5), 1348–1358.
- Steenvoorden, J., Leestemaker, N., Kooij, D., Crowley, W., Fernandez, F., Schouten, M., & Limpens, J. (2024). Towards standardised large-scale monitoring of peatland habitats through fine-scale drone-derived vegetation mapping. *Ecological Indicators*, 166.
- Stefanut, S., Ollerer, K., Manole, A., Ion, M., Constantin, M., Banciu, C., Maria, G., & Florescu, L. (2019). National environmental quality assessment and monitoring of atmospheric heavy metal pollution - A moss bag approach. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 248.
- St-Pierre, F., Drapeau, P., & St-Laurent, M. H. (2021). Drivers of vegetation regrowth on logging roads in the boreal forest: Implications for restoration of woodland caribou habitat. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 482.
- St-Pierre, F., Drapeau, P., & St-Laurent, M. H. (2022). Stairway to heaven or highway to hell? How characteristics of forest roads shape their use by large mammals in the boreal forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 510.
- Strack, M., Davidson, S. J., Hirano, T., & Dunn, C. (2022). The potential of peatlands as nature-based climate solutions. *Current Climate Change Reports*, 8(3), 71–82.
- Strack, M., & Waddington, J. M. (2007). Response of peatland carbon dioxide and methane fluxes to a water table drawdown experiment. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, *21*.
- Strack, M., Waddington, J. M., Bourbonniere, R. A., Buckton, E. L., Shaw, K., Whittington, P., & Price, J. S. (2008). Effect of water table drawdown on peatland dissolved organic carbon export and dynamics. *Hydrological Processes*, 22, 3373–3385.
- Strack, M., Waddington, J. M., & Tuittila, E.-S. (2004). Effect of water table drawdown on northern peatland methane dynamics: Implications for climate change. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, *18*(4).
- Stratos Inc., & Brodie Consulting Ltd. (2011). Climate Change and Acid Rock Drainage Risks for the Canadian Mining Sector (MEND Report 1.61.7). Mining Association of Canada and MEND.
- Stuart, M., Davies, M., Hobbs, M., McGonigle, A., & Willmott, J. (2022). Peatland plant spectral response as a proxy for peat health, analysis using low-cost hyperspectral imaging techniques. *Remote Sensing*, *14*(16).
- Su, Y. S., Sofowote, U., Munoz, A., Noble, M., Charron, C., Todd, A., Celo, V., Dabek-Zlotorzynska, E., Kryukova, A., & Switzer, T. (2021). Baseline air monitoring of fine particulate matter and trace elements in Ontario's Far North, Canada. Applied Sciences-Basel, 11(13).
- Sun, C., Beirne, C., Burgar, J., Howey, T., Fisher, J., & Burton, A. (2021). Simultaneous monitoring of vegetation dynamics and wildlife activity with camera traps to assess habitat change. *Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation*, 7(4), 666–684.
- Sutherland, B. J. (2003). Preventing Soil Compaction and Rutting in the Boreal Forest of Western Canada: A Practical Guide to Operating Timber-Harvesting Equipment. Forest Engineering Research Institute of Canada.

- Szczepaniak, K., Astel, A., Simeonov, V., Tsakovski, S., Biziuk, M., Bode, P., & Przyjazny, A. (2007). Comparison of dry and living Sphagnum palustre moss samples in determining their biocumulative capability as biomonitoring tools. Journal of Environmental Science and Health Part A-Toxic/Hazardous Substances & Environmental Engineering, 42(8), 1101–1115.
- Tanneberger, F., Berghöfer, A., Brust, K., Hammerich, J., Holsten, B., Joosten, H., Michaelis, D., Moritz, F., Reichelt, F., Schäfer, A., Scheid, A., Trepel, M., Wahren, A., & Couwenberg, J. (2024). Quantifying ecosystem services of rewetted peatlands – the MoorFutures methodologies. *Ecological Indicators*, 163, 112048.
- Tarbier, B., Hugelius, G., Sannel, A., Baptista-Salazar, C., & Jonsson, S. (2021). Permafrost thaw increases methylmercury formation in subarctic Fennoscandia. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 55(10), 6710–6717.
- Tarnocai, C., Kettles, I. M., & Lacelle, B. (2011). *Peatlands of Canada*. Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 6561, Natural Resources Canada.
- Taylor, N., Price, J., & Strack, M. (2016). Hydrological controls on productivity of regenerating *Sphagnum* in a cutover peatland. *Ecohydrology*, 9(6), 1017–1027.
- Teck. (2017). Waterfowl Protection Plan Frontier Oil Sands Mine Project. Teck Ressources Limited.
- Thom, T., Hanlon, A., Lindsay, R., Richards, J., Stoneman, R., & Brooks, S. (2019). *Conserving Bogs: The Management Handbook*. Yorkshire Peat Partnership and IUCN UK Peatland Programme.
- Thompson, D. K., Benscoter, B. W., & Waddington, J. M. (2014). Water balance of a burned and unburned forested boreal peatland. *Hydrological Processes*, *28*(24), 5954–5964.
- Turetsky, M. R., Benscoter, B., Page, S., Rein, G., van der Werf, G. R., & Watts, A. (2015). Global vulnerability of peatlands to fire and carbon loss. *Nature Geoscience*, 8(1), 11–14.
- Twible, L. E. (2017). *Linking Mining Wastewater Discharge to Methylmercury Production in a Sub-Arctic Peatland* [M.Sc., University of Western Ontario].
- van Rensen, C. K., Nielsen, S. E., White, B., Vinge, T., & Lieffers, V. J. (2015). Natural regeneration of forest vegetation on legacy seismic lines in boreal habitats in Alberta's oil sands region. *Biological Conservation*, 184, 127–135.
- Vitt, D. H., Wieder, K., Halsey, L. A., & Turetsky, M. (2003). Response of *Sphagnum fuscum* to nitrogen deposition: a case study of ombrogenous peatlands in Alberta, Canada. *The Bryologist*, *106*(2), 235–245.
- Volik, O., Elmes, M., Petrone, R., Kessel, E., Green, A., Cobbaert, D., & Price, J. (2020). Wetlands in the Athabasca oil sands region: the nexus between wetland hydrological function and resource extraction. *Environmental Reviews*, 28(3), 246–261.
- Waddington, J. M., Morris, P. J., Kettridge, N., Granath, G., Thompson, D. K., & Moore, P. A. (2015). Hydrological feedbacks in northern peatlands. *Ecohydrology*, 8(1), 113–127.
- Wang, C., Harbottle, D., Liu, Q., & Xu, Z. (2014). Current state of fine mineral tailings treatment: a critical review on theory and practice. *Minerals Engineering*, 58, 113–131.
- Wang, M., Larmola, T., Murphy, M. T., Moore, T. R., & Bubier, J. L. (2016). Stoichiometric response of shrubs and mosses to long-term nutrient (N, P and K) addition in an ombrotrophic peatland. *Plant and Soil*, 400(1–2), 403–416.
- Wang, M., Zhang, D. Q., Dong, J. W., & Tan, S. K. (2017). Constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment in cold climate: a review. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 57, 293–311.
- Weiland, L., Ketcheson, S., Strack, M., & Mcdermid, G. (2024). The influence of seismic lines on local hydrology and snow accumulation in the boreal region of northern Alberta. *Hydrological Processes*, *38*(12).
- Weltzin, J. F., Bridgham, S. D., Pastor, J., Chen, J. Q., & Harth, C. (2003). Potential effects of warming and drying on peatland plant community composition. *Global Change Biology*, 9(2), 141–151.
- Wetland Conservation Strategy Advisory Panel. (2018). Considerations for the Development of a Wetland Offsetting Policy for Ontario.
- Wheeler, B. D., & Proctor, M. C. F. (2000). Ecological gradients, subdivisions and terminology of north-west European mires. *Journal of Ecology*, 88(2), 187–203.

- Whittington, P., & Price, J. (2012). Effect of mine dewatering on peatlands of the James Bay Lowland: the role of bioherms. *Hydrological Processes*, *26*(12), 1818–1826.
- Whittington, P., & Price, J. S. (2013). Effect of mine dewatering on the peatlands of the James Bay Lowland; the role of marine sediments on mitigating peatland drainage. *Hydrological Processes*, *27*(13), 1845–1853.
- Williams, T. J., Quinton, W. L., & Baltzer, J. L. (2013). Linear disturbances on discontinuous permafrost: implications for thaw-induced changes to land cover and drainage patterns. *Environmental Research Letters*, 8(2).
- Williams-Mounsey, J., Grayson, R., Crowle, A., & Holden, J. (2021). A review of the effects of vehicular access roads on peatland ecohydrological processes. *Earth-Science Reviews*, *214*.
- Willier, C. N. (2017). Changes in peatland plant community composition and stand structure due to road induced flooding and desiccation [M.Sc., University of Alberta].
- Xu, B., Rochefort, L., Bird, M., Khadka, B., & Strack, M. (2022). Restoration of boreal peatland impacted by an in-situ oil sands well-pad 1: Vegetation response. *Restoration Ecology*, *30*(3).
- Yemshanov, D., Simpson, M., Liu, N., Petty, A., Koch, F. H., Neilson, E., Chand, C., Duffy, G., Hoyles, V., & Mallon, C. (2023). Restoration of linear disturbances from oil-and-gas exploration in boreal landscapes: how can network models help? *Journal of Environmental Management*, 348.
- Zhang, X., Flato, G., Kirchmeier-Young M., Vincent, L., Wan, H., Wang, X., Rong, R., Fyfe, J., Li, G., & Kharin, V. V. (2019). Temperature and precipitation across Canada. In E. Bush & D. S. Lemmen (Eds.), *Canada's Changing Climate Report* (p. Chapter 4). Government of Canada.
- Zhang, Y., Pelletier, R., Noernberg, T., Donner, M. W., Grant-Weaver, I., Martin, J. W., & Shotyk, W. (2022). Impact of the 2016 Fort McMurray wildfires on atmospheric deposition of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and trace elements to surrounding ombrotrophic bogs. *Environment International*, 158, 106910.
- Zinck, J., & Griffith, W. (2013). *Review of Mine Drainage Treatment and Sludge Management Operations*. CANMET- Mining and Mineral Sciences Laboratories, Natural Resources Canada.
- Zolkos, S., Geyman, B., Potter, S., Moubarak, M., Rogers, B., Baillargeon, N., Dey, S., Ludwig, S., Melton, S., Navarro-Pérez, E., Mcelvein, A., Balcom, P., Natali, S., Sistla, S., & Sunderland, E. (2024). Substantial mercury releases and local deposition from permafrost peatland wildfires in southwestern Alaska. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 58(46), 20654–20664.

APPENDIX A: Subject Categories in the Annotated Bibliography

HEADING	2° FILTER	3° FILTER	4°FILTER
Geographic Region	Canada	Ontario	
		Hudson Bay Lowland	
		Boreal Shield	
Ecosystem Type	peatland	bog	
		fen	
		string fen	
		swamp	
	other wetland	marsh	
		saltmarsh	
		pools/ponds	
	_coastal ecosystem		
	upland		
	ecotone		
	watercourse		
	water body		

Appendix A. Hierarchical list of subject categories used in the annotated bibliography.

### Appendix A (cont.)

HEADING	2º FILTER	3° FILTER	4° FILTER
Abiotic/Biotic Component	ecoregions		
	physiography	landform	
		microtopography	
	climate	precipitation	
		microclimate	
		soil temperature	
		cold climate	
		energy balance	
	hydrology	evapotranspiration	
		soil moisture	
		groundwater	
		spring thaw	
		snowpack	
		surface water/runoff	
		water table	
	substrate	peat	
		sediment	
		permafrost	
	biogeochemistry	nutrients	_
		water quality	
		рH	
		electrical conductivity	
		salinity	
		sulphur compounds	
	carbon cycle	greenhouse gases	
		biochar	
		decomposition	
		dissolved organic carbon	
		primary productivity	
		carbon sequestration	
		carbon storage	
	food web		
	microbial activity		
	vegetation	functional group	
		vascular plants	woody plants
			graminoids
			black ash
		bryophytes	sphagnum
	lichens		
	fauna	arthropods	gypsy cuckoo bumble bee
			yellow-banded bumble bee
			Suckley's cuckoo bumble bee
		fish	lake sturgeon
		amphibians	
		reptiles	
		birds	migratory birds
			shorebird
			snow geese
			Hudsonian godwit
			0

HEADING	2° FILTER	3° FILTER	4° FILTER
Abiotic/Biotic Component	Fauna (cont.)	birds (cont.)	lesser yellowlegs
			red knot
			red-necked phalarope
			short-eared owl
			common nighthawk
			olive-sided flycatcher
			bank swallow
			barn swallow
			Canada warbler
			evening grosbeak
			rusty blackbird
		mammals	bats
			beaver
			moose
			coyote
			timber wolf
			eastern red bat
			hoary bat
			silver-haired bat
			little brown myotis
			northern myotis
			tri-colored bat
			caribou
			caribou boreal population
			caribou, eastern migratory
			population
			wolverine
			polar bear
	human society	social license	
		indigenous perspective	traditional use
			wild foods

### Appendix A (cont.)

Appendix A	(cont.)
------------	---------

HEADING	2° FILTER	3° FILTER	4° FILTER
Origin of Impacts	climate change		
	aggregate extraction		
	agriculture		
	cities/towns/villages		
	cumulative effects		
	peat/moss extraction		
	ditching		
	fire		
	forest harvest		
	cities/towns/villages		
	industrial equipment		
	infrastructure		
	linear disturbance	roads	
		winter roads	
		seismic lines	
		pipelines	
		transmission lines	_
	mine exploration		
	mining	mine footprint	
		aggregate pads	
		drill pads	
		tailings	
		mine wastes	_
	mineral processing		
	motor vehicles		_
	pollution	air pollution	
		acid rock drainage	
		explosives	
		landfill	
		spills	
		wastewater	
		water pollution	
	power generation		

HEADING	2° FILTER	3° FILTER	4° FILTER
Stressor	hydrological alteration	drawdown	
		drought	
		flooding	
	landscape conversion and		
	fragmentation	ecosystem conversion	
		linear feature	
	fertility change /	e en la companya de l	
	contamination	fugitive dust	_
		herbicide	
		hydrocarbons	
		metal/metalloid	antimony
			arsenic
			chromium
			cobalt
			copper
			lead
			mercury
			nickel
			selenium
			thallium
			zinc
		nutrient enrichment	
		suspended solids	
	substrate disturbance	subsidence	
		compaction	
		geotechnical properties	
		soil warming	
		permafrost thaw	
		smouldering	
		erosion	water erosion
			wind erosion
	vegetation disturbance	_	
	herbivory	_	
	predation	_	
	invasive species		
	other stressors	noise	
		wildlife collisions	

### Appendix A (cont.)

### Appendix A (cont.)

HEADING	2° FILTER	3° FILTER	4° FILTER
Policy/Statute	federal policy/statute	migratory birds policy	
		species-at-risk	status report
			recovery strategy
			management plan
			conservation agreement
		wetland policy	
	provincial policy/statute	migratory birds policy	
		species-at-risk	status report
			recovery strategy
			conservation agreement
		wetland policy	
	. <u></u>	mapping	
	policy discussion paper		
Mitigation Hierarchy	impact avoidance		
	impact minimization		
	on-site restoration		
	offsetting		
	compensation		
			-
Mitigation Detail	mine planning	tailings management	
		sedimentation pond	
		mine reclamation	-
	remediation	bio/phytoremediation	
		nutrient removal	
		treatment wetland	-
	hydrologic management	peat dams	
		rewetting	
		culverts	-
	substrate rehabilitation	passivo rostaration	-
	revegetation	passive restoration	
		active restoration	
	best management practice	donor site	-
	2000 managoment practice		
Monitoring	remote sensing	unmanned aerial vehicle	
		Lidar	
		satellite imagery	
		camera traps	
		automated acoustic survey	-
	peat/sediment cores		
	vegetation sampling		
	reference conditions		
	biomonitoring		
	dendrochronology		

APPENDIX B: Breakdown of Mitigation Options by Ecosystem Stressor

Mitigation		Number of		
hierarchy	Stressor	documents	Component	Key references
Impact Avoidance	Hydrological	12	Conservation	Alexandrov, et al. (2020) The capacity of northern peatlands for long-term carbon sequestration.
	Alteration			Drever, et al. (2021) Natural climate solutions for Canada.
				Helbig, et al. (2020) The biophysical climate mitigation potential of boreal peatlands during the growing season.
				Humpenöder, et al. (2020) Peatland protection and restoration are key for climate change mitigation.
				Strack, et al. (2022) The potential of peatlands as nature-based climate solutions.
			Roads	Gilmour, et al. (2022) Effectiveness of Construction Mitigation Measures to Avoid or Minimise Impact to Groundwat
				INAC (2010) Northern Land Use Guidelines, Access: Roads and Trails.
				Partington, et al. (2016) Resource Roads and Wetlands: A Guide for Planning, Construction and Maintenance.
Impact avoidance	Fertility Change	24	Acid rock	Alam & Shang (2012) Effect of operating parameters on desulphurization of mine tailings by froth flotation.
	and		drainage	Environment Canada (2009) Environmental Code of Practice for Metal Mines.
	Contamination			INAP (2018) Global Acid Rock Drainage Guide.
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004a) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Ro
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004b) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Ro
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004c) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Ro
				Numerical Analyses of Cover Performance.
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004d) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Ro
				Monitoring and Sustainable Performance of Cover Systems.
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004e) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Ro
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2007) Macro-Scale Cover Design and Performance Monitoring Manual. CANMET- Mining a
				Pouw, et al. (2014) Study to Identify BATEA for the Management and Control of Effluent Quality from Mines.
				Price WA (2009) CANMET Mining and Mineral Sciences Laboratories Prediction Manual for Drainage Chemistry from
				Stratos Inc. & Brodie Consulting Ltd. (2011) Climate Change and Acid Rock Drainage – Risks for the Canadian Minin
				Zinck & Griffith (2013) Review of Mine Drainage Treatment and Sludge Management Operations.
			Chromium	Deepa, et al. (2025) Bioremediation approaches for chromium detoxification and transformation: advanced strateg
				Beukes, et al. (2017) Review of Cr(VI) environmental practices in the chromite mining and smelting industry – Releva
				du Preez, et al. (2023) An overview of currently applied ferrochrome production processes and their waste manager
			Fugitive dust	Cecala, et al. (2019) Dust Control Handbook for Industrial Minerals Mining and Processing.
				OMOECC (2017) Management Approaches for Industrial Fugitive Dust Sources.
Impact avoidance	Substrate and	8	Roads	INAC (2010) Northern Land Use Guidelines, Access: Roads and Trails.
	vegetation disturbance			Partington, et al. (2016) Resource Roads and Wetlands: A Guide for Planning, Construction and Maintenance.
Impact avoidance	Landscape	14	Woodland	INAC (2010) Northern Land Use Guidelines, Access: Roads and Trails.
	conversion and		caribou	OMECP (2020) Best Management Practices for Mineral Exploration and Development Activities and Woodland Caril
	fragmentation			OMNR (2016) Best Management Practices for Aggregate Activities and Forest-dwelling Woodland Caribou.
				Partington, et al. (2016) Resource Roads and Wetlands: A Guide for Planning, Construction and Maintenance.

Appendix A. Breakdown of mitigation options by ecosystem stressor, with the number of documents in the database and key references (total n = 1,211 documents).

### vater Dependent Wetlands and to Peat Hydrology.

- Rock and Tailings Volume 1 Summary. Rock and Tailings Volume 2 – Theory and Background. Rock and Tailings Volume 3 – Site Characterization and
- Rock and Tailings Volume 4 Field Performance
- Rock and Tailings Volume 5 Case Studies. ng and Mineral Sciences Laboratories,
- om Sulphidic Geologic Materials. ning Sector.
- tegies and future perspectives. levance to development of the Ring of Fire, Canada. gement practices.

aribou in Ontario.

Mitigation		Number of		
hierarchy	Stressor	documents	Component	Key references
Impact avoidance	Landscape		Mining	Environment Canada (2009) Environmental Code of Practice for Metal Mines.
	conversion and		innovation	Franks, et al. (2011) Sustainable development principles for the disposal of mining and mineral processing wastes.
	fragmentation			Musetta-Lambert, et al. (2019) Industrial innovation and infrastructure as drivers of change in the Canadian boreal zone.
	(continued)			Qi & Fourie (2019) Cemented paste backfill for mineral tailings management: review and future perspectives.
				Wang et al. (2014) Current state of fine mineral tailings treatment: a critical review on theory and practice.
Impact avoidance	Mercury/	5	Substrate	Braaten, et al. (2016) Effects of disturbance and vegetation type on total and methylmercury in boreal peatland and forest
r	methylmercury		disturbance	Mitchell, et al. (2008) Spatial characteristics of net methylmercury production hot spots in peatlands.
				Mitchell, et al. (2009) Methylmercury dynamics at the upland-peatland interface: topographic and hydrogeochemical con
			Flooding	Kelly, et al. (1997) Increases in fluxes of greenhouse gases and methyl mercury following flooding of an experimental rese
			Nutrient/	Twible LE (2017) Linking Mining Wastewater Discharge to Methylmercury Production in a Sub-Arctic Peatland.
			sulphate	
			enrichment	
Impact avoidance	Overgrazing	1		Peterson et al. (2013) The legacy of destructive snow goose foraging on supratidal marsh habitat in the Hudson Bay Lowla
Impact avoidance	Invasive species	1		Halloran, et al. (2013) Clean Equipment Protocol for Industry: Inspecting and Cleaning Equipment for the Purposes of Inva
Impact avoidance	Other stressors	3	Noise	Douse & Artz (2022) Peatland Restoration and Breeding Birds: Undertaking Work in the Bird Breeding Season.
Impact avoidance	Other Stressors	3	NUISE	
			Oalliaiana	OMECP (2020) Best Management Practices for Mineral Exploration and Development Activities and Woodland Caribou in
			Collisions	ECCC (2023) Guidelines to Avoid Harm to Migratory Birds.

### Appendix B (cont.)

nd forest soils.

ical controls. ntal reservoir.

ay Lowlands.

es of Invasive Species Prevention.

ribou in Ontario.

Appendix B

(cont.)				
Mitigation		Number of		
hierarchy	Stressor	documents	Component	Key references
Impact	Hydrological	27	General	Thom et al. (2019) Conserving Bogs: The Management Handbook.
minimization	alteration			Environment Canada (2009) Environmental Code of Practice for Metal Mines.
				Osko, et al. (2018) COSIA In-Situ Oil Sands Shared Practices for Working in and Around Wetlands.
				Volik, et al. (2020) Wetlands in the Athabasca oil sands region: the nexus between wetland hydrological function a
			Roads	Ducks Unlimited Canada (2014) Forest Road Wetland Crossings: Learning from Field Trials in the Boreal Plains Ec Canada.
				De Guzman, et al. (2016) Performance of road embankments on seasonally-frozen peat foundations with and with
				De Guzman, et al. (2018) Geotechnical properties of fibrous and amorphous peats for the construction of road em
				Forestry Civil Engineering & Scottish Natural Heritage (2010) Floating Roads on Peat: A Report into Good Practice
				Floating Roads on Peat with Particular Reference to Wind Farm Developments in Scotland.
				Gilmour et al. (2022) Effectiveness of Construction Mitigation Measures to Avoid or Minimise Impact to Groundwa
				Hydrology.
				INAC (2010) Northern Land Use Guidelines, Access: Roads and Trails.
				Jorat, et al (2024) Future carbon-neutral societies: minimising construction impact on groundwater-dependent we
			Long et al. (2023) Behaviour of 60-year-old trial embankments on peat.	
			Partington et al. (2016) Resource Roads and Wetlands: A Guide for Planning, Construction and Maintenance.	
			Saraswati et al. (2020) Hydrological effects of resource-access road crossings on boreal forested peatlands.	
			Williams et al. (2013) Linear disturbances on discontinuous permafrost: implications for thaw-induced changes to	
		Climate change	Baena-Moreno, et al. (2023) Effluents and residues from industrial sites for carbon dioxide capture: a review.	
			mitigation	Mervine, et al. (2018) Potential for offsetting diamond mine carbon emissions through mineral carbonation of pro
				Beers mine sites in South Africa and Canada.
		Beaver	Kinas, et al. (2024) Alberta Beaver Beneficial Management Practices.	
Impact minimization	Fertility change/ contamination	105	General	Environment Canada (2009) Environmental Code of Practice for Metal Mines.
			Explosive	BCMECC (2018) Guidance on Preparing Nitrogen Management Plans for Mines using Ammonium Nitrate Fuel Oil I
			residues	Chatterjee, et al. (2017) Common explosives (TNT, RDX, HMX) and their fate in the environment: emphasizing bior
			Acid rock	Alam & Shang (2012) Effect of operating parameters on desulphurization of mine tailings by froth flotation.
			drainage	INAP (2018) Global Acid Rock Drainage Guide.
				MEND (2012) Cold Regions Cover System Design Technical Guidance Document.
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004a) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste F
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004b) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste F
				Background.
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004c) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste F
				Characterization and Numerical Analyses of Cover Performance.
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004d) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste F
				Performance Monitoring and Sustainable Performance of Cover Systems
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004e) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste F
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2007) Macro-Scale Cover Design and Performance Monitoring Manual.
				Pouw, et al. (2014) Study to Identify BATEA for the Management and Control of Effluent Quality from Mines.

on and resource extraction. Ecozone of Manitoba and Saskatchewan,

without corduroy bases. embankments. ce in Design, Construction and Use of

water Dependent Wetlands and to Peat

wetlands and peatlands.

to land cover and drainage patterns.

rocessed kimberlite: an assessment of De

Dil Products for Blasting. Dioremediation.

e Rock and Tailings Vol. 1 – Summary. e Rock and Tailings Vol. 2 – Theory and

e Rock and Tailings Vol. 3 – Site

e Rock and Tailings Vol. 4 – Field

e Rock and Tailings Vol. 5 – Case Studies.

Appendix B (cont.)

(cont.)				
Mitigation		Number of		
hierarchy	Stressor	documents	Component	Key references
Impact	Fertility change/		Acid rock	Price WA (2009) CANMET Mining and Mineral Sciences Laboratories Prediction Manual for Drainage Chemistry from
minimization	contamination		drainage	Stratos Inc. & Brodie Consulting Ltd. (2011) Climate Change and Acid Rock Drainage – Risks for the Canadian Mining
	(continued)		(continued)	Zinck & Griffith (2013) Review of Mine Drainage Treatment and Sludge Management Operations.
			Chromium	Beukes, et al. (2017) Review of Cr(VI) environmental practices in the chromite mining and smelting industry – Releva
				Canada.
				Deepa, et al. (2025) Bioremediation approaches for chromium detoxification and transformation: advanced strategi
				du Preez, et al. (2023) An overview of currently applied ferrochrome production processes and their waste managem
			Fugitive dust	BCMEMLCI & BCMECCS (2023) Developing a Fugitive Dust Management Plan for Mines in BC: Technical Guidance.
				Cecala, et al. (2019) Dust Control Handbook for Industrial Minerals Mining and Processing, Second Edition.
				Golder Associates (2010) Literature Review of Current Fugitive Dust Control Practices within the Mining Industry.
				OMECC (2017) Management Approaches for Industrial Fugitive Dust Sources.
			Erosion/	BCME (2015a) Assessing the Design, Size, and Operation of Sediment Ponds Used in Mining, Version 1.0
			sedimentation	BCME (2015b) Developing a Mining Erosion and Sediment Control Plan.
				Environmental Dynamics Inc (2003) Runoff, erosion and sediment control best management practices for Yukon pla
			Hydrocarbons	BCMECCS (2018) Preparing Spill Contingency Plans. British Colombia Ministry of Environment and Climate Change
				Gharedaghloo & Price (2018) Fate and transport of free-phase and dissolved-phase hydrocarbons in peat and peatla
				Gharedaghloo & Price (2021) Assessing benzene and toluene adsorption with peat depth: Implications on their fate a
				Gupta, et al. (2023) Multiphase flow behavior of diesel in bog, fen, and swamp peats.
				INAC (2007) Guidelines for Spill Contingency Planning.
				Rezanezhad, et al. (2012) How fen vegetation structure affects the transport of oil sands process-affected waters.
			Treatment	Bishay & Kadlec (2005) Wetland treatment at Musselwhite Mine, Ontario, Canada.
			wetlands	Eskelinen, et al. (2015) Purification efficiency of a peatland-based treatment wetland during snowmelt and runoff ev
				Gupta, et al. (2020) Shallow floating treatment wetland capable of sulfate reduction in acid mine drainage impacted
				Heikkinen, et al. (2018) Long-term purification efficiency and factors affecting performance in peatland-based treatr extraction sites in Finland.
				Kadlec RH (2009) Wastewater treatment at the Houghton Lake wetland: hydrology and water quality. Kadlec & Walla edition.
				Karjalainen, et al. (2016) Long-term accumulation and retention of Al, Fe and P in peat soils of northern treatment we
				Khan, et al. (2020) Long-term data reveals the importance of hydraulic load and inflow water quality for Sb removal ir
				Kujala, et al. (2019) Design parameters for nitrogen removal by constructed wetlands treating mine waters and muni conditions.
				Kujala, et al. (2024) Year-round activity of microbial communities in cold-climate peatlands treating mining-affected
				McCarter, et al. (2017) Nutrient and mercury transport in a sub-arctic ladder fen peatland subjected to simulated wa
				Palmer, et al. (2015) Efficient removal of arsenic, antimony and nickel from mine wastewaters in northern treatment long-term use.
				Ronkanen & Kløve (2009) Long-term phosphorus and nitrogen removal processes and preferential flow paths in north
				Sheoran & Sheoran (2006) Heavy metal removal mechanism of acid mine drainage in wetlands: a critical review.
				Simair, et al. (2021) Treatment of oil sands process affected waters by constructed wetlands: evaluation of designs a Wang, et al. (2017) Constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment in cold climate: a review.

from Sulphidic Geologic Materials. Mining Sector.

elevance to development of the Ring of Fire,

rategies and future perspectives. nagement practices. nce.

on placer mining operations.

ange Strategy peatlands: Developing a conceptual model. r fate and transport.

off events. acted waters in a northern climate. treatment wetlands: an analysis of 28 peat

Wallace (2009) Treatment wetlands, second

ent wetlands. oval in boreal treatment peatlands. I municipal wastewater under Nordic

ected waters. ed wastewater discharges. ment peatlands and potential risks in their

n northern constructed peatlands.

igns and plant types.

Appendix	В
(cont)	

(cont.)				
Mitigation		Number of		
hierarchy	Stressor	documents	Component	Key references
Impact	Fertility change/		Peat-based	Balan, et al. (2009) Sphagnum moss peat as a potential sorbent and reductant for chromium (VI) removal from aqu
minimization	contamination		filtration	Gupta, et al. (2009) Adsorption characteristics of Cu and Ni on Irish peat moss.
	(continued)		systems	Lee, et al. (2015) Comparison of heavy metal adsorption by peat moss and peat moss-derived biochar produced ur
Impact minimization	Vegetation or substrate disturbance	33	General	Thom, et al. (2019) Conserving Bogs: The Management Handbook.
			Heavy	APTHQ (2024) Best Practices Guide for Extracting Mired Equipment in Peat Fields.
			equipment	Nugent, et al. (2003) Characteristic site disturbance due to harvesting and extraction machinery traffic on sensitive Sutherland (2003) Preventing Soil Compaction and Rutting in the Boreal Forest of Western Canada: A Practical Guid Equipment.
			Fire suppression	APTHQ (2021) Fire Emergency Response Guide for Peatlands (Fields).
				Deane, et al. (2022) Peat surface compression reduces smouldering fire potential as a novel fuel treatment for bore
				Hokanson, et al. (2018) A hydrogeological landscape framework to identify peatland wildfire smouldering hot spots
Impact	Landscape	31	Mining	Environment Canada (2009) Environmental Code of Practice for Metal Mines.
minimization	conversion and		innovation	Franks, et al. (2011) Sustainable development principles for the disposal of mining and mineral processing wastes.
	fragmentation			Qi & Fourie (2019) Cemented paste backfill for mineral tailings management: review and future perspectives.
				Wang et al. (2014) Current state of fine mineral tailings treatment: a critical review on theory and practice.
			Linear	Filicetti, et al. (2023) Low-impact line construction retains and speeds recovery of trees on seismic lines in forested
			disturbances	Franklin et al. (2021) Seismic line width and orientation influence microclimatic forest edge gradients and tree rege
				Ryder, et al. (2005) Pipelines and Peat: A Review of Peat Formation, Pipeline Construction Techniques and Reinstat
			Woodland	OMECP (2020) Best Management Practices for Mineral Exploration and Development Activities and Woodland Caril
			caribou	OMNR (2016) Best Management Practices for Aggregate Activities and Forest-dwelling Woodland Caribou.
Impact	Mercury/	8	Flooding	Branfireun & Roulet (2002) Controls on the fate and transport of methylmercury in a boreal headwater catchment, r
minimization	methylmercury			Kelly, et al. (1997) Increases in fluxes of greenhouse gases and methyl mercury following flooding of an experimenta
				St Louis, et al. (2004) The rise and fall of mercury methylation in an experimental reservoir.
			Substrate	Braaten, et al. (2016) Effects of disturbance and vegetation type on total and methylmercury in boreal peatland and
			disturbance	Mitchell, et al. (2008) Spatial characteristics of net methylmercury production hot spots in peatlands.
				Mitchell, et al. (2009) Methylmercury dynamics at the upland-peatland interface: topographic and hydrogeochemic
			Nutrient/	McCarter, et al. (2017) Nutrient and mercury transport in a sub-arctic ladder fen peatland subjected to simulated w
			sulphate enrichment	Twible LE (2017) Linking Mining Wastewater Discharge to Methylmercury Production in a Sub-Arctic Peatland.
Impact minimization	Overgrazing	2		Peterson, et al. (2013) The legacy of destructive snow goose foraging on supratidal marsh habitat in the Hudson Bay
Impact minimization	Invasive species	3		Halloran, et al. (2013) Clean Equipment Protocol for Industry: Inspecting and Cleaning Equipment for the Purposes Nichols G (2024) Invasive Phragmites ( <i>Phragmites australis</i> ) Best Management Practices in Ontario: Improving Spec Invasive Phragmites.

#### queous solutions.

under different carbonization conditions.

ive forest sites with peat soils. Guide to Operating Timber-Harvesting

oreal peatlands. ots.

ted peatlands. generation. tatement Options. aribou in Ontario.

t, northwestern Ontario, Canada. ntal reservoir.

and forest soils.

nical controls.

d wastewater discharges.

Bay Lowlands.

es of Invasive Species Prevention. pecies at Risk Habitat through the Management of Annotated Bibliography of Wetland Mitigation Options in Far Northern Ontario

Appendix B (cont.)				
Mitigation		Number of		
hierarchy	Stressor	documents	Component	Key references
Impact	Other stressors	8	Noise	Douse & Artz (2022) Peatland Restoration and Breeding Birds: Undertaking Work in the Bird Breeding Season.
minimization				OMECP (2020) Best Management Practices for Mineral Exploration and Development Activities and Woodland Caribo
			Bird collisions	Baasch, et al. (2022) Mitigating avian collisions with power lines through illumination with ultraviolet light.
				Lao, et al. (2020) The influence of artificial light at night and polarized light on bird-building collisions.
				OMNRF (2014) Significant Wildlife Habitat Mitigation Support

ribou in Ontario.

Appendix B

(cont.)

Mitigation		Number of		
hierarchy	Stressor	documents	Component	Key references
On-site restoration	Hydrological	162	Peatland	Biebighauser (2015) Wetland Restoration and Construction: A Technical Guide.
	alteration		drainage	Joosten (2021) Practical Peatland Restoration.
				Large, et al. (2007) Using long-term monitoring of fen hydrology and vegetation to underpin wetland restoration strat
				Maanavilja, et al. (2015) Rewetting of drained boreal spruce swamp forests results in rapid recovery of Sphagnum pr
				NatureScot (2024c) Peatland ACTION - Technical Compendium.
				O'Kelly, (2008) On the geotechnical design and use of peat bunds in the conservation of bogs.
				Schwieger, et al. (2021) Wetter is better: rewetting of minerotrophic peatlands increases plant production and move
				Thom, et al. (2019) Conserving Bogs: The Management Handbook.
				Van Dijk, et al (2007) The contribution of rewetting to vegetation restoration of degraded peat meadows.
			Post peat	Landry & Rochefort (2012) The drainage of peatlands: impacts and rewetting techniques.
			extraction	Ketcheson & Price (2011) The impact of peatland restoration on the site hydrology of an abandoned block-cut bog.
				Price, et al. (1998) Energy and moisture considerations on cutover peatlands: surface microtopography, mulch cove
				Price, et al. (2003) Hydrological processes in abandoned and restored peatlands: An overview of management appr
				Price, et al. (2016) Peatland restoration and hydrology. Taylor, et al. (2016) Hydrological controls on productivity of r
				Quinty, et al. (2020) Peatland Restoration Guide: Site Preparation and Rewetting.
				Taylor, et al. (2016) Hydrological controls on productivity of regenerating Sphagnum in a cutover peatland.
			Tree cutting	Dubé, et al. (1995) Watering up after clear-cutting on forested wetlands of the St. Lawrence Lowland.
				Gaffney, et al. (2020) Ecohydrological change following rewetting of a deep-drained northern raised bog.
				Howson, et al. (2021) The effect of forest-to-bog restoration on the hydrological functioning of raised and blanket bo
				Price, et al. (2016) Peatland restoration and hydrology.
			Pools	Beadle, et al. (2023) Landscape-scale peatland rewetting benefits aquatic invertebrate communities.
				Desrochers & Rochefort (2021) Avian recolonization of unrestored and restored bogs in Eastern Canada.
				Mazerolle, et al. (2006) Animal and vegetation patterns in natural and man-made bog pools: implications for restora
				Soomets, et al. (2023) Restoring functional forested peatlands by combining ditch-blocking and partial cutting: an a
			Videos	Cairngorms National Park Authority (2022) Wave Damming & Zippering Method - Technique Guide.
				NatureScot (2024a) Bunding.
				NatureScot (2024c) Ditch Blocking.
				NatureScot (2024d) Reprofiling.
				NatureScot (2024e) Scrub Clearance.
				Rochefort & Jutras (2025) Construction de barrages en tourbière.
				Rochefort & Jutras (2024) Où bloquer les canaux de drainage en tourbière.
			Seismic lines	Alberta Environment and Parks (2017) Visual Guide for Implementing the Restoration and Establishment Framework
				Biagi, et al. (2021) Hydrological functioning of a constructed peatland watershed in the Athabasca oil sands region:
				Bird & Xu (2021) Hydrology and Microtopography Importance for Wetland Reclamation.
				Weiland, et al. (2024) The influence of seismic lines on local hydrology and snow accumulation in the boreal region
On-site restoration	Fertility change/	45	Nutrient	Comber, et al. (2023) Restoration management of phosphorus pollution on lowland fen peatlands: A data evidence
	contamination		enrichment	Hinzke, et al. (2021) Potentially peat-forming biomass of fen sedges increases with increasing nutrient levels.
				Hinzke, et al. (2021) Can nutrient uptake by <i>Carex</i> counteract eutrophication in fen peatlands?
				Jabłońska, et al. (2021) Impact of vegetation harvesting on nutrient removal and plant biomass quality in wetland bu
				Kotowski, et al. (2016) Restoration of temperate fens: matching strategies with site potential.

rategies. production.

oves them towards carbon sinks in a dry year.

- over and *Sphagnum* regeneration.
- proaches.
- of regenerating Sphagnum in a cutover peatland.

bogs.

oration. n amphibian perspective.

vork in Woodland Caribou Habitat. on: potential trajectories and lessons learned.

#### on of northern Alberta.

ce review from the Somerset Levels and Moors.

buffer zones.

Appendix B (cont.)

Mitigation		Number of		
hierarchy	Stressor	documents	Component	Key references
On-site restoration	Fertility change/		Post peat	Liu, et al. (2024) Improving restoration outcomes of boreal Sphagnum-dominated peatlands after peat-extraction: the
	contamination		extraction	Pouliot, et al. (2015) Manure derived biochar can successfully replace phosphate rock amendment in peatland rest
	(continued)		fertilization	Quinty et al. (2020d) Peatland Restoration Guide: Spreading of Plant Material, Mulch and Fertilizer. PERG, CSPMA and
			Mine waste	MEND (2012) Cold Regions Cover System Design Technical Guidance Document.
			cover systems	O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004a) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Roc
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004b) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Roc
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004c) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Roo
				Numerical Analyses of Cover Performance.
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004d) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Ro
				Monitoring and Sustainable Performance of Cover Systems.
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004e) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Roo
				O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2007) Macro-Scale Cover Design and Performance Monitoring Manual.
			Hydrocarbon	Koshlaf & Ball (2017) Soil bioremediation approaches for petroleum hydrocarbon polluted environments.
			bioremediation	Naeem & Qazi (2020) Leading edges in bioremediation technologies for removal of petroleum hydrocarbons.
On-site restoration	Vegetation or	182	General	Biebighauser (2015) Wetland Restoration and Construction: A Technical Guide.
	substrate			Thom, et al. (2019) Conserving Bogs: The Management Handbook.
	disturbance			NatureScot (2024b) Peatland ACTION - Technical Compendium.
			Post peat	Allan, et al. (2024) Meta-analysis reveals that enhanced practices accelerate vegetation recovery during peatland re
			extraction	GRET (2016) Restauration des tourbières minérotrophes: état des connaissances 2015.
				Hugron, et al. (2013) Tree plantations within the context of ecological restoration of peatlands: a practical guide.
				Khan et al. (2025) Unfolding a peatland's story: assessing the restoration outcomes and driving factors from a distur
				Nugent, et al. (2018) Multi-year net ecosystem carbon balance of a restored peatland reveals a return to carbon sink
				Nugent, et al. (2021) Cutover peat limits methane production causing low emission at a restored peatland.
				Quinty, et al. (2019) Peatland Restoration Guide: Plant Material Collecting and Donor Site Management.
				Quinty, et al. (2020) Peatland Restoration Guide: Planning Restoration Projects.
				Quinty, et al. (2020) Peatland Restoration Guide: Site Preparation and Rewetting.
				Quinty, et al. (2020) Peatland Restoration Guide Spreading: Plant Material, Mulch and Fertilizer.
				Rochefort, et al. (2003) North American approach to the restoration of Sphagnum dominated peatlands.
				Rochefort, et al. (2016) Reintroduction of fen plant communities on a degraded minerotrophic peatland.
			Donor material	Bird & Xu (2021) Donor Moss Transfer: How and When to Use in Peatland Restoration.
				Guêné-Nanchen, et al. (2019) Harvesting surface vegetation does not impede self-recovery of Sphagnum peatlands
				Murray, et al. (2017) Growing season carbon gas exchange from peatlands used as a source of vegetation donor ma
				Quinty, et al. (2019) Peatland Restoration Guide: Plant Material Collecting and Donor Site Management.
			Pool vegetation	Bourgeois, et al. (2019) Seed storage behaviour of eight peatland pool specialists: Implications for restoration.
				Laberge, et al. (2015) Influence of different bryophyte carpets on vascular plant establishment around pools in resto
				Mazerolle, et al. (2006) Animal and vegetation patterns in natural and man-made bog pools: implications for restora
				Poulin, et al. (2011) Restoration of pool margin communities in cutover peatlands.
			Seismic lines	Alberta Environment and Parks (2017) Visual Guide for Implementing the Restoration and Establishment Framework
				Filicetti, et al. (2019) Caribou conservation: restoring trees on seismic lines in Alberta, Canada.

n: the key role of phosphorus fertilization. Estoration. A and APTHQ, Québec

Rock and Tailings Volume 1 – Summary. Rock and Tailings Volume 2 – Theory and Background. Rock and Tailings Volume 3 – Site Characterization and

Rock and Tailings Volume 4 – Field Performance

Rock and Tailings Volume 5 – Case Studies.

restoration.

turbed minerotrophic peatland in Eastern Canada. ink.

ds. naterial for restoration.

stored peatlands. pration.

ork in Woodland Caribou Habitat.

Appendix B	(cont.)
------------	---------

Mitigation		Number of		
hierarchy	Stressor	documents	Component	Key references
On-site restoration	Vegetation or substrate disturbance		Seismic lines (continued)	Finnegan, et al. (2019) Predicting patterns of vegetation recovery on seismic lines: Informing restoration based on u Kleinke, et al. (2022) How mounds are made matters: seismic line restoration techniques affect peat physical and c Pinzon, et al. (2023) Soil mounding as a restoration approach of seismic lines in boreal peatlands: implications on n
	(continued)		Roads/ drill	van Rensen, et al. (2015) Natural regeneration of forest vegetation on legacy seismic lines in boreal habitats in Albert Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks (2017) Reclamation Criteria for Wellsites and Associated Facilities for Pe
			pads	Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks (2020) Reclamation Practices and Criteria for Powerlines. Bird, et al. (2016) Wood Chip Overburden Reclamation in Peatland.
				<ul> <li>Bird &amp; Xu (2021) Natural Ingression and Supplemental Planting for Revegetation of Reclaimed Wetlands.</li> <li>Campbell &amp; Corson (2014) Can mulch and fertilizer alone rehabilitate surface-disturbed subarctic peatlands?</li> <li>Caners &amp; Lieffers (2014) Divergent pathways of successional recovery for <i>in situ</i> oil sands exploration drilling pads of Corson &amp; Campbell (2013) Testing protocols to restore disturbed <i>Sphagnum</i>-dominated peatlands in the Hudson B Gauthier, et al. (2018) Testing the moss layer transfer technique on mineral well pads constructed in peatlands.</li> <li>Lemmer, et al. (2020) Greenhouse gas emissions dynamics in restored fens after <i>in-situ</i> oil sands well pad disturbat Lemmer, et al. (2023) Reestablishment of peatland vegetation following surface leveling of decommissioned in situ Lieffers, et al. (2017) Re-establishment of hummock topography promotes tree regeneration on highly disturbed mode MacKenzie &amp; Renkema (2013) In-Situ Oil Sands Extraction Reclamation and Restoration Practices and Opportunitie Murray, et al. (2016) Comparison of site preparation and revegetation strategies within a <i>Sphagnum</i>-dominated peer Sobze, et al. (2013) Peatland Restoration – Site Re-Vegetation.</li> <li>St-Pierre, et al. (2021) Drivers of vegetation regrowth on logging roads in the boreal forest: Implications for restoration Vul et al. (2021) Restoration and percention.</li> </ul>
			Fire	Xu, et al. M (2022) Restoration of boreal peatland impacted by an in-situ oil sands well-pad 1: Vegetation response. Granath, et al. (2016) Mitigating wildfire carbon loss in managed northern peatlands through restoration.
On-site restoration	Landscape conversion and fragmentation	62	Constructed peatlands for mine reclamation	Biagi, et al. (2021) Hydrological functioning of a constructed peatland watershed in the Athabasca oil sands region: Biagi, et al. (2019) Increases in salinity following a shift in hydrologic regime in a constructed wetland watershed in a Borkenhagen & Cooper (2019) Establishing vegetation on a constructed fen in a post-mined landscape in Alberta's o introduction.
				Clark, et al. (2019) The initial three years of carbon dioxide exchange between the atmosphere and a reclaimed oil s Coulas, et al. (2021) Organic matter decomposition at a constructed fen in the Athabasca Oil Sands region: effect o Davidson, et l. (2021) High sulfate concentrations maintain low methane emissions at a constructed fen over the fir Irvine, et al. (2021) Dissolved organic carbon production and transport within a constructed fen watershed in the Ath Ketcheson, et al. (2017) The hydrological functioning of a constructed fen wetland watershed.
				Khadka, et al. (2016) Dissolved organic carbon in a constructed and natural fens in the Athabasca oil sands region, Murray, et al. (2017) Methane emissions dynamics from a constructed fen and reference sites in the Athabasca Oil Nwaishi, et al. (2016) Preliminary assessment of greenhouse gas emissions from a constructed fen on post-mining Canada.
				Nwaishi, et al. (2016) Above and below-ground nutrient cycling: a criteria for assessing the biogeochemical functior Oswald & Carey (2016) Total and methyl mercury concentrations in sediment and water of a constructed wetland ir Pouliot, et al. (2013) Fen mosses can tolerate some saline conditions found in oil sands process water.

understory species composition and growth.
I chemical properties throughout the peat profile.
microtopography.
erta's oil sands region.

Peatlands.

s on wooded moderate-rich fens in Alberta, Canada. Bay Lowland, Canada.

bances of Canadian boreal peatlands.

itu oil mining infrastructures.

moderate-rich fens.

ties Compilation.

st-central Alberta.

peatland following removal of an oil well pad.

ation of woodland caribou habitat. e.

n: potential trajectories and lessons learned. in a post-mining oil sands landscape. 's oil sands region: A four-year evaluation after species

l sand wetland.

t of substrate type and environmental conditions.

first seven years of ecosystem development.

Athabasca Oil Sands Region, Alberta, Canada.

n, Alberta, Canada. Dil Sands Region, Alberta. ng landscape in the Athabasca oil sands region, Alberta,

ioning of a constructed fen. I in the Athabasca Oil Sands region.

r fen reconstruction.

Appendix B	(cont.)
------------	---------

Mitigation		Number of		
hierarchy	Stressor	documents	Component	Key references
On-site restoration	Landscape		Constructed	Prystupa, et al. (2023) Response of dissolved organic carbon dynamics to salinity in a constructed fen peatland in th
	conversion and		peatlands for	Spennato HM, Ketcheson SJ, Mendoza CA, Carey SK (2018) Water table dynamics in a constructed wetland, Fort Mo
	fragmentation		mine	constructed wetland, Fort McMurray, Alberta. Hydrological Processes 32:3824–3836
	(continued)		reclamation	
			(continued)	
			Ecosystem	Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks (2017) Reclamation Criteria for Wellsites and Associated Facilities for Pe
			conversion	OMECP (2020) Best Management Practices for Mineral Exploration and Development Activities and Woodland Carib
				OMNR (2016) Best Management Practices for Aggregate Activities and Forest-dwelling Woodland Caribou.
			Linear features	Alberta Environment and Parks (2017) Visual Guide for Implementing the Restoration and Establishment Frameworl
				Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks (2020) Reclamation Practices and Criteria for Powerlines.
				Golder Associates (2015) Boreal Caribou Habitat Restoration Operational Toolkit for British Columbia.
				Hornseth, et al. (2018) Motorized activity on legacy seismic lines: a predictive modeling approach to prioritize restor
				OMECP (2020) Best Management Practices for Mineral Exploration and Development Activities and Woodland Carib
				St-Pierre, et al. (2021) Drivers of vegetation regrowth on logging roads in the boreal forest: Implications for restoration
				Yemshanov, et al. (2023) Restoration of linear disturbances from oil-and-gas exploration in boreal landscapes: how
On-site restoration	Mercury/	0		No explicit options for on-site restoration.
	Methylmercury			
On-site restoration	Overgrazing	4		Handa & Jefferies (2000) Assisted revegetation trials in degraded salt-marshes.
On-site restoration	Invasive species	10		Lavoie (2019) 50 plantes envahissantes: Protéger la nature et l'agriculture.
				Nichols (2024) Invasive Phragmites (Phragmites australis) Best Management Practices in Ontario: Improving Specie
				Phragmites.
On-site restoration	Other stressors	3		No options for on-site restoration.

the Athabasca oil sands region.
AcMurray, Alberta. Water table dynamics in a

Peatlands. aribou in Ontario.

ork in Woodland Caribou Habitat

storation efforts. aribou in Ontario. ation of woodland caribou habitat. ow can network models help?

cies at Risk Habitat Through the Management of Invasive

Appendix B (cont.)

Mitigation		Number of		
hierarchy	Stressor	documents	Component	Key references
Offsetting	Any stressor(s)	39	General	BBOP (2009) Biodiversity Offset Design Handbook.
				Ecosystem Planning and Restoration (2022) Mitigation Bank Instrument Review Workbook.
				Gardner et al. (2013) Biodiversity offsets and the challenge of achieving no net loss.
				ICMM, IUCN (2012) Independent Report on Biodiversity Offsets.
				National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (2001) Compensating for Wetland Losses Under the C
				Pope, et al. (2021) When is an offset not an offset? A framework of necessary conditions for biodiversity offsets.
			Canada	ECCC (2020) Offsetting Policy for Biodiversity - Draft.
				Poulton & Ray (2023) Knowledge, Perception and Application of the Mitigation Hierarchy Among Officials in Canadi
				Agencies.
				Harper & Quigley (2005) No net loss of fish habitat: a review and analysis of habitat compensation in Canada.
			Ontario	Bell & Hedges (2016) Biodiversity Offsetting in Ontario: Issues, Accomplishments and Future Directions.
				Hasenack, et al. (2023) Wetland Offsetting Policies for Local Planning Authorities: A Review of Wise Practices in On
				Ontario Nature (2022) A Primer on Wetland Offsetting in Ontario: Practices, Policies and Resources.
				Penfound & Vaz (2022) Analysis of 200 years of change in Ontario wetland systems.
				Poulton D (2015) Key Issues in Biodiversity Offset Law and Policy: A Comparison of Six Jurisdictions. Ontario Nature
				Poulton D, Bell A (2017) Navigating the Swamp: Lessons on Wetland Offsetting for Ontario.
			Conservation	Alexandrov, et al. (2020) The capacity of northern peatlands for long-term carbon sequestration.
				Drever, et al. (2021) Natural climate solutions for Canada.
				Helbig, et al. (2020) The biophysical climate mitigation potential of boreal peatlands during the growing season.
				Humpenöder, et al. (2020) Peatland protection and restoration are key for climate change mitigation.
				Lee, et al. (2010) Atlas of Canada's Intact Forest Landscapes.
				Strack, et al. (2022) The potential of peatlands as nature-based climate solutions.
			Indigenous	Bois-Charlebois M (2018) Les défis de la compensation écologique des impacts sur les milieux humides dans le no
			perspectives	McDermott & Bell (2017) Indigenous Perspectives on Conservation Offsetting: Five Case Studies from Ontario, Can
Compensation	Any stressor(s)	9	General	Baird, et al. (2023) Impact Benefit Agreements: Key Insights from First Nations', Government and Industry Leaders.
				Gunton, et al. (2020) Impact Benefit Agreement Guidebook.

## e Clean Water Act.

# adian Federal Regulatory and Resource Management

Ontario.

ure

nord du Québec : étude de cas en territoire Cri. canada.

ſS.

APPENDIX C: Best Monitoring Approaches by Ecosystem Stressor

All stressors	193	Baseline conditions Biomonitoring	Jeziorski, et al. (2015) Differences among modern-day and historical cladoceran communities from the 'Ring of Fire' lake region of no McDonough, et al. (2022) Establishing trace element concentrations for lichens and bryophytes in the Ring of Fire region of the Hudso
			<ul> <li>Hargan, et al. (2020) Post-glacial lake development and paleoclimate in the central Hudson Bay Lowlands inferred from sediment receptions of et al. (2015) Differences among modern-day and historical cladoceran communities from the 'Ring of Fire' lake region of non-McDonough, et al. (2022) Establishing trace element concentrations for lichens and bryophytes in the Ring of Fire region of the Hudson Packalen, et al. (2016) Climate and peat type in relation to spatial variation of the peatland carbon mass in the Hudson Bay Lowlands, Riley, et al. (2003) Flora of the Hudson Bay Lowland and its Postglacial Origins.</li> <li>Riley JL (2011) Wetlands of the Hudson Bay Lowland: an Ontario Overview.</li> <li>Su, et al. (2021) Baseline air monitoring of fine particulate matter and trace elements in Ontario's Far North, Canada.</li> <li>Bayne, et al. (2022) A Before-After Dose-Response (BADR) Terrestrial Biological Monitoring Framework for the Oil Sands.</li> </ul>
		Biomonitoring	Jeziorski, et al. (2015) Differences among modern-day and historical cladoceran communities from the 'Ring of Fire' lake region of no McDonough, et al. (2022) Establishing trace element concentrations for lichens and bryophytes in the Ring of Fire region of the Hudsor Packalen, et al. (2016) Climate and peat type in relation to spatial variation of the peatland carbon mass in the Hudson Bay Lowlands Riley, et al. (2003) Flora of the Hudson Bay Lowland and its Postglacial Origins. Riley JL (2011) Wetlands of the Hudson Bay Lowland: an Ontario Overview. Su, et al. (2021) Baseline air monitoring of fine particulate matter and trace elements in Ontario's Far North, Canada. Bayne, et al. (2022) A Before-After Dose-Response (BADR) Terrestrial Biological Monitoring Framework for the Oil Sands.
		Biomonitoring	<ul> <li>McDonough, et al. (2022) Establishing trace element concentrations for lichens and bryophytes in the Ring of Fire region of the Hudson Packalen, et al. (2016) Climate and peat type in relation to spatial variation of the peatland carbon mass in the Hudson Bay Lowlands Riley, et al. (2003) Flora of the Hudson Bay Lowland and its Postglacial Origins.</li> <li>Riley JL (2011) Wetlands of the Hudson Bay Lowland: an Ontario Overview.</li> <li>Su, et al. (2021) Baseline air monitoring of fine particulate matter and trace elements in Ontario's Far North, Canada.</li> <li>Bayne, et al. (2022) A Before-After Dose-Response (BADR) Terrestrial Biological Monitoring Framework for the Oil Sands.</li> </ul>
		Biomonitoring	<ul> <li>Packalen, et al. (2016) Climate and peat type in relation to spatial variation of the peatland carbon mass in the Hudson Bay Lowlands</li> <li>Riley, et al. (2003) Flora of the Hudson Bay Lowland and its Postglacial Origins.</li> <li>Riley JL (2011) Wetlands of the Hudson Bay Lowland: an Ontario Overview.</li> <li>Su, et al. (2021) Baseline air monitoring of fine particulate matter and trace elements in Ontario's Far North, Canada.</li> <li>Bayne, et al. (2022) A Before-After Dose-Response (BADR) Terrestrial Biological Monitoring Framework for the Oil Sands.</li> </ul>
		Biomonitoring	Riley, et al. (2003) Flora of the Hudson Bay Lowland and its Postglacial Origins. Riley JL (2011) Wetlands of the Hudson Bay Lowland: an Ontario Overview. Su, et al. (2021) Baseline air monitoring of fine particulate matter and trace elements in Ontario's Far North, Canada. Bayne, et al. (2022) A Before-After Dose-Response (BADR) Terrestrial Biological Monitoring Framework for the Oil Sands.
		Biomonitoring	Riley JL (2011) Wetlands of the Hudson Bay Lowland: an Ontario Overview. Su, et al. (2021) Baseline air monitoring of fine particulate matter and trace elements in Ontario's Far North, Canada. Bayne, et al. (2022) A Before-After Dose-Response (BADR) Terrestrial Biological Monitoring Framework for the Oil Sands.
		Biomonitoring	Su, et al. (2021) Baseline air monitoring of fine particulate matter and trace elements in Ontario's Far North, Canada. Bayne, et al. (2022) A Before-After Dose-Response (BADR) Terrestrial Biological Monitoring Framework for the Oil Sands.
		Biomonitoring	Bayne, et al. (2022) A Before-After Dose-Response (BADR) Terrestrial Biological Monitoring Framework for the Oil Sands.
		Biomonitoring	
			Ficken, et al. (2022) Drivers, pressures, and state responses to inform long-term of sands welland monitoring program objectives.
			Mahoney, et al. (2023) Oil sands wetland ecosystem monitoring program indicators in Alberta, Canada: transitioning from pilot to long
			Rooney & Bayley (2011) Setting reclamation targets and evaluating progress: submersed aquatic vegetation in natural and post-oil sa
			Rooney, et al. (2012) Development and testing of an index of biotic integrity based on submersed and floating vegetation and its appli-
	47	0	sands area, Canada.
Hydrological	47	General	Eaton & Charette (2016) Drivers, stressors, and indicators of wetland change in Alberta's Oil Sands Region – potential for use in wetla
alteration			Mahoney, et al. (2023) Oil sands wetland ecosystem monitoring program indicators in Alberta, Canada: transitioning from pilot to lon
		Remote sensing	Ball, et al. (2023) Assessing the potential of using Sentinel-1 and 2 or high-resolution aerial imagery data with machine learning and d
			progress - a northern Scotland case study.
			Banskota, et al. (2017) Continuous wavelet analysis for spectroscopic determination of subsurface moisture and water-table height i
			Bradley, et al. (2022) Identification of typical ecohydrological behaviours using InSAR allows landscape-scale mapping of peatland co
			Evans, et al. (2021) A novel low-cost, high-resolution camera system for measuring peat subsidence and water table dynamics.
			Haghighi, et al. (2018) Use of remote sensing to analyse peatland changes after drainage for peat extraction.
			Isoaho, et al. (2024) Monitoring changes in boreal peatland vegetation after restoration with optical satellite imagery.
			Jussila, et al. (2024) Quantifying wetness variability in aapa mires with Sentinel-2: towards improved monitoring of an EU priority habit
			Lees, et al. (2021) Using remote sensing to assess peatland resilience by estimating soil surface moisture and drought recovery.
			Lovitt, et al. (2018) UAV remote sensing can reveal the effects of low-impact seismic lines on surface morphology, hydrology, and me
			Meingast, et al. (2014) Spectral detection of near-surface moisture content and water-table position in northern peatland ecosystems
			Millard, et al. (2022) Seasonally-decomposed Sentinel-1 backscatter time-series are useful indicators of peatland wildfire vulnerability of the second s
			Neta, et al. (2011) Development of new spectral reflectance indices for the detection of lichens and mosses moisture content in the H
			Olthof & Fraser (2024) Mapping surface water dynamics (1985-2021) in the Hudson Bay Lowlands, Canada using sub-pixel Landsat a
			Rahman, et al. (2017) A new method to map groundwater table in peatlands using unmanned aerial vehicles.
		Well monitoring	Gutierrez-Pacheco, et al. (2021) Estimation of daily water table level with bimonthly measurements in restored ombrotrophic peatlan
			McCarter & Price (2013) The hydrology of the Bois-des-Bel bog peatland restoration: 10 years post-restoration.
			Whittington & Price (2013) Effect of mine dewatering on the peatlands of the James Bay Lowland; the role of marine sediments on mit
		Peat cores	Davies, et al. (2021) Ecohydrological controls on apparent rates of peat carbon accumulation in a boreal bog record from the Hudson
			Hargan, et al. (2020) Post-glacial lake development and paleoclimate in the central Hudson Bay Lowlands inferred from sediment rec
			Holmquist, et al. (2016) Boreal peatland water table depth and carbon accumulation during the Holocene thermal maximum, Roman
			Jeziorski, et al. (2015) Differences among modern-day and historical cladoceran communities from the 'Ring of Fire' lake region of no
		Other	Tanneberger, et al. (2024) Quantifying ecosystem services of rewetted peatlands – the MoorFutures methodologies.

## APPENDIX C: Best monitoring approaches by ecosystem stressor (Total n = 1006 documents).

on Bay Lowlands, northern Ontario, Canada.

ecords.

northern Ontario: Identifying responses to climate warming. Ison Bay Lowlands, Ontario, Canada. ds, Canada.

ong-term monitoring. sands mining wetlands in Alberta, Canada. plication to assess reclamation wetlands in Alberta's oil

tland monitoring. ong-term monitoring.

d data science techniques to model peatland restoration

It in northern peatland ecosystems. condition.

bitat.

nethane (CH4) release in a boreal treed bog.

ms.

oility.

e Hudson Bay Lowlands, Canada.

t analysis.

and.

nitigating peatland drainage.

on Bay Lowlands, northern Ontario, Canada.

ecords.

an Warm Period, and Medieval Climate Anomaly.

northern Ontario: Identifying responses to climate warming.

Appendix C
------------

(cont.)			
Stressor	Number of documents	Component	Key documents
Fertility change	57	General	Environment Canada (2009) Environmental Code of Practice for Metal Mines.
/contamination	•		Environment Canada (2012) Metal Mining Technical Guidance for Environmental Effects Monitoring.
/ containing to in			ECCC (2015) Third National Assessment of Environmental Effects Monitoring Information from Metal Mines Subject to the Metal Minir
			OMECP (2018) Mining Sites - Industry Standard.
		Acid mine	INAP (2018) Global Acid Rock Drainage Guide.
		drainage	O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2007) Macro-Scale Cover Design and Performance Monitoring Manual.
			O'Kane Consultants Inc. (2004) Design, Construction and Performance Monitoring of Cover Systems for Waste Rock and Tailings Volu
			Performance of Cover Systems.
		Fugitive dust	Cleaver, et al. (2022) Field comparison of fugitive tailings dust sampling and monitoring methods.
			Opekunova, et al. (2020) Comparative analysis of methods for air pollution assessing in the Arctic mining area.
			Shotyk, et al. (2023) Trace elements in peat bog porewaters: indicators of dissolution of atmospheric dusts and aerosols from anthrop
			Chen, et al. (2024) Estimating the bioaccessibility of atmospheric trace elements within the Athabasca bituminous sands region using
		Biomonitoring	Anicic, et al. (2009) Monitoring of trace element atmospheric deposition using dry and wet moss bags: accumulation capacity versus
		trace metal	Ares, et al. (2015) Do moss bags containing devitalized Sphagnum denticulatum reflect heavy metal concentrations in bulk deposition
		with mosses	Boquete, et al. (2020) Matching times: trying to improve the correlation between heavy metal levels in mosses and bulk deposition.
		lichens	Gacnik, et al. (2024) Comparison of active measurements, lichen biomonitoring, and passive sampling for atmospheric mercury mon
			Kempter, et al. (2017) Validating modelled data on major and trace element deposition in southern Germany using Sphagnum moss.
			Landis, et al. (2019) Use of an epiphytic lichen and a novel geostatistical approach to evaluate spatial and temporal changes in atmos
			Alberta, Canada.
			McDonough, et al. (2022) Establishing trace element concentrations for lichens and bryophytes in the Ring of Fire region of the Hudso
			Mullan-Boudreau, et al. (2017) Sphagnum moss as an indicator of contemporary rates of atmospheric dust deposition in the Athabas
			Salo, et al. (2016) Seasonal comparison of moss bag technique against vertical snow samples for monitoring atmospheric pollution.
			Stefanut, et al. (2019) National environmental quality assessment and monitoring of atmospheric heavy metal pollution - A moss bag
			Szczepaniak, et al. (2007) Comparison of dry and living Sphagnum palustre moss samples in determining their biocumulative capabil
		Peat cores	Mullan-Boudreau, et al. (2017) Reconstructing past rates of atmospheric dust deposition in the Athabasca Bituminous Sands Region
			Shotyk, et al. (2017) Peat bogs document decades of declining atmospheric contamination by trace metals in the Athabasca bituming
			Shotyk & Noernberg (2020) Sampling, handling, and preparation of peat cores from bogs: review of recent progress and perspectives
		Trace metal	Glooschenko & Capoblanco (1982) Trace element content of northern Ontario peat.
		reference	Su, et al. (2021) Baseline air monitoring of fine particulate matter and trace elements in Ontario's Far North, Canada.
		conditions	
Vegetation and	64	Remote sensing	Beyer, et al. (2019) Multisensor data to derive peatland vegetation communities using a fixed-wing unmanned aerial vehicle.
substrate			Bourgeau-Chavez, et al. (2017) Mapping boreal peatland ecosystem types from multitemporal radar and optical satellite imagery.
disturbance			Carless, et al. (2019) Mapping landscape-scale peatland degradation using airborne lidar and multispectral data.
			Chasmer, et al. (2021) Shrub changes with proximity to anthropogenic disturbance in boreal wetlands determined using bi-temporal a
			Finnegan, et al. (2019) Predicting patterns of vegetation recovery on seismic lines: Informing restoration based on understory species
			Ghazaryan, et al. (2024) Enhancing peatland monitoring through multisource remote sensing: optical and radar data applications.
			Haghighi, et al. (2018) Use of remote sensing to analyse peatland changes after drainage for peat extraction.
			Harris, et al. (2015) Hyperspectral remote sensing of peatland floristic gradients.
			Isoaho, et al. (2024) Monitoring changes in boreal peatland vegetation after restoration with optical satellite imagery.
			Jones, et al. (2022) Use of mobile laser scanning (MLS) to monitor vegetation recovery on linear disturbances.

# Aining Effluent Regulations.

## Volume 4 – Field Performance Monitoring and Sustainable

hropogenic and natural sources.
using the acid soluble ash fraction of Sphagnum moss.
sus exposure time.
ition?
ז.
nonitoring.
SS.
mospheric deposition in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region,
idson Bay Lowlands, Ontario, Canada.
basca Bituminous Sands Region.
on.
bag approach.
bability as biomonitoring tools.
ion using peat cores from bogs.
ninous sands region.
ves for trace element research.

ral airborne lidar in the Oil Sands Region, Alberta Canada. cies composition and growth.

Appendix C	
------------	--

1	~~	ni	÷١	
	со	114	. 1	

(cont.)			
Stressor	Number of	Component	Key documents
	documents		
Vegetation and		Remote sensing	Kolari, et al. (2022) Ongoing fen-bog transition in a boreal aapa mire inferred from repeated field sampling, aerial images, and Lands
substrate		(continued)	Middleton, et al. (2012) Ordination and hyperspectral remote sensing approach to classify peatland biotopes along soil moisture and
disturbance			Millard, et al. (2022) Seasonally-decomposed Sentinel-1 backscatter time-series are useful indicators of peatland wildfire vulnerabil
(continued)			Minasny, et al. (2024) Mapping and monitoring peatland conditions from global to field scale.
			Mohammad Mirmazloumi, et al. (2021) Status and trends of wetland studies in Canada using remote sensing technology with a focus
			Pang, et al. (2023) Upscaling field-measured seasonal ground vegetation patterns with Sentinel-2 images in boreal ecosystems.
			Pironkova (2017) Mapping palsa and peat plateau changes in the Hudson Bay Lowlands, Canada, using historical aerial photography
			Räsänen, (2019) Comparing ultra-high spatial resolution remote-sensing methods in mapping peatland vegetation.
			Räsänen, et al. (2020) Detecting northern peatland vegetation patterns at ultra-high spatial resolution.
			Salko, et al. 2023) Intra- and interspecific variation in spectral properties of dominant <i>Sphagnum</i> moss species in boreal peatlands.
			Steenvoorden, et al. (2024) Towards standardised large-scale monitoring of peatland habitats through fine-scale drone-derived vege
			Stuart, et al. (2022) Peatland plant spectral response as a proxy for peat health, analysis using low-cost hyperspectral imaging technic
		Vegetation	Rochefort, et al. M (2013) Comparing survey methods for monitoring vegetation change through time in a restored peatland.
		sampling	
		Reference	Bérubé, et al. (2017) Fen restoration: defining a reference ecosystem using paleoecological stratigraphy and present-day inventories
		conditions	González & Rochefort (2019) Declaring success in Sphagnum peatland restoration: identifying outcomes from readily measurable ve
Landscape	21	General	Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks (2017) Reclamation Criteria for Wellsites and Associated Facilities for Peatlands.
conversion & fragmentation			Alberta Ministry of Environment and Parks (2020) Reclamation Practices and Criteria for Powerlines.
		Camera traps	Feldman, et al. (2024) Using camera traps to estimate habitat preferences and occupancy patterns of vertebrates in boreal wetlands
			Sun, et al. (2021) Simultaneous monitoring of vegetation dynamics and wildlife activity with camera traps to assess habitat change.
Mercury/	12	Total mercury	Bargagli (2016) Moss and lichen biomonitoring of atmospheric mercury: a review.
Methylmercury			Brazeau M (2012) Historical deposition and microbial redox cycling of mercury in lake sediments from the Hudson Bay Lowlands, On
			Gacnik, et al. (2024) Comparison of active measurements, lichen biomonitoring, and passive sampling for atmospheric mercury mor
			Shotyk & Cuss (2019) Atmospheric Hg accumulation rates determined using <i>Sphagnum</i> moss from ombrotrophic (rain-fed) bogs in the Alberta, Canada.
		Methylmercury	CPAWS Wildlands League (2015) Nothing to See Here - Failures of Self-monitoring and Reporting at De Beers Victor Diamond Mine in
			De Beers Canada Inc. Victor Mine (2024) Mercury Performance Monitoring 2023 Annual Report Per Environmental Compliance Appro
Overgrazing	4		Barnas, et al. (2019) A comparison of drone imagery and ground-based methods for estimating the extent of habitat destruction by le
			La Perouse Bay.
			Gadallah (2002) Historical vegetation reconstruction of a degraded sub-arctic coastal marsh using Landsat imagery and ancillary dat
			Jano, et al. (1998) The detection of vegetational change by multitemporal analysis of LANDSAT data: the effects of goose foraging.
Invasive species	3		Small, et al. (2018) Optimizing Weed Control for Progressive Reclamation: Literature Review.
			Bayne, et al. (2022) A Before-After Dose-Response (BADR) Terrestrial Biological Monitoring Framework for the Oil Sands.
Other stressors	4		Shonfield & Bayne (2017) Autonomous recording units in avian ecological research: current use and future applications.

dsat data.
nd fertility gradients.
oility.

cus on wetland classification: a bibliographic analysis.

bhy and high-resolution satellite imagery.

s. getation mapping. hniques.

ies.

e vegetation descriptors.

ds.

Ontario, Canada. nonitoring. n the Athabasca Bituminous Sands region of northern

e in Canada. proval #3960-7Q4K2G Conditions 7(5) And 7(6).

y lesser snow geese (Anser caerulescens caerulescens) in

data.